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PART |
Item 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892, having its principal executive agf8dn Clayton, MO. We are a manufacturer
concentrated in two business segments: Chlor Ak@aducts and Winchester. Chlor Alkali Productnmfactures and sells chlorine and caustic
soda, sodium hydrosulfite, hydrochloric acid, hygino, bleach products and potassium hydroxide, wigpresent 65% of 2010 sales. Winchester
products, which represent 35% of 2010 sales, ircimbrting ammunition, reloading components, soaiber military ammunition and componet
and industrial cartridges. See our discussiorunosegment disclosures contained in ltem 7—“Manageis Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”

GOVERNANCE

We maintain an Internet website_at www.olin.cor®ur reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and Forif, &s well as amendments to those
reports, are available free of charge on our wepai soon as reasonably practicable after wehBleeports with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Additionally, a copy of our SHltigs can be obtained at the SEC at their Of6i€énvestor Education and Advocacy at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or by callimagt office of the SEC at 1-800-SHI330. Also, a copy of our electronically filed maals can b
obtained at www.sec.gavOur Principles of Corporate Governance, Commi@baarters and Code of Conduct are available omwebsite at
www.olin.comin the Governance Section under Governance Docunagitk Committees.

In May 2010, our Chief Executive Officer executbd tinnual Section 303A.12(a) CEO Certification negliby the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), certifying that he was not awdrany violation of the NYSE’s corporate governatisgng standards by us. Additionally, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officexecuted the required Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 28@24) Sections 302 and 906 certifications
relating to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, whante filed with the SEC as exhibits to this AnnuabBrt on Form 10-K.




PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND STRATEGIES
Chlor Alkali Products
Products and Services

We have been involved in the U.S. chlor alkali istalyi for more than 100 years and are a major ppatit in the North American chlor alkali
market. Chlorine, caustic soda and hydrogen afgraduced commercially by the electrolysis of sdlhese co-products are produced
simultaneously, and in a fixed ratio of 1.0 torcbforine to 1.1 tons of caustic soda. The indusgfgrs to this as an Electrochemical Unit or
ECU. With a demonstrated capacity as of the erD@D of 1.98 million ECUs per year, including 5@%the production from our partnership with
PolyOne Corporation (PolyOne), which we refer t@asBelt, we are the third largest chlor alkaliarcer, measured by production volume of
chlorine and caustic soda, in North America, acoytb data from Chemical Market Associates, I@MAI). CMAI is a global petrochemical,
plastics and fibers consulting firm established979. Approximately 55% of our caustic soda prdiduncis high purity membrane and rayon grade,
which, according to CMAI data, normally commandsr@mium selling price in the market. Accordinglta from CMAI, we are the largest North
American producer of industrial bleach, which ismafactured using both chlorine and caustic soda.

Our manufacturing facilities in Augusta, GA; Mclstg AL; Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA; HendersbiV,; Becancour, Quebec; and a
portion of our facility in Niagara Falls, NY are@89002 certified. In addition, Augusta, GA; Mclalg AL; Charleston, TN; and Niagara Falls, NY
are 1SO 14001 certified. 1SO 9000 (which inclut®® 9001 and ISO 9002) and ISO 14000 (which incu@® 14001) are sets of related
international standards on quality assurance anticgmmental management developed by the Internatidmganization for Standardization to help
companies effectively document the quality and emrental management system elements to be imptechémmaintain effective quality and
environmental management systems. Our facilitiesugusta, GA; Mcintosh, AL; Charleston, TN; Niagdfalls, NY; and St. Gabriel, LA have also
achieved Star status in the Voluntary ProtectimgRam (VPP) of the Occupational Safety and Heallmistration (OSHA). OSHA’s VPP is a
program in which companies voluntarily participtitat recognizes facilities for their exemplary $afend health programs. Our Augusta, GA;
Mclintosh, AL; Charleston, TN; and Niagara Falls, &Mor alkali manufacturing sites and the divislf@adquarters are accredited under the RC
14001 Responsible Caf§RC 14001) standard. Supported by the chemicaisimgd and recognized by government and regulatgepeies, RC
14001 establishes requirements for the managenfieafety, health, environmental, security, trantgn, product stewardship, and stakeholder
engagement activities for the business.

Chlorine is used as a raw material in the prodaatibthousands of products for end-uses includingls, chlorinated intermediates,
isocyanates, and water treatment. A significamtigo of U.S. chlorine production is consumed ia thanufacture of ethylene dichloride, or EDC, a
precursor for polyvinyl chloride, or PVC. PVC ipkastic used in applications such as vinyl sidplgmbing and automotive parts. We estimate that
approximately 12% of our chlorine produced, inchgdthe production from our share of SunBelt, isstomed in the manufacture of EDC. While
much of the chlorine produced in the U.S. is corstiloy the producing company to make downstreamugtsdwe sell most of the chlorine we
produce to third parties in the merchant market.

Caustic soda has a wide variety of end-use apitstthe largest of which in North America islretpulp and paper industry used in the
delignification and bleaching portion of the pulpiprocess. Caustic soda is also used in the ptioduaf detergents and soaps, alumina and a ve
of other inorganic and organic chemicals.

The chlor alkali industry is cyclical, both as aukt of changes in demand for each of the co-prisdared as a result of the large increments in
which new capacity is added and removed. Becduseiree and caustic soda are produced in a fixéid, rdne supply of one product can be
constrained both by the physical capacity of thagpction facilities and/or by the ability to sedktco-product. Prices for both products respond
rapidly to changes in supply and demand. Our EEWbacks (defined as gross selling price less fteig discounts) averaged approximately $475,
$520 and $635 per ECU in 2010, 2009 and 2008, ctispdy.




During the first three quarters of 2008, North Aicen demand for caustic soda was strong. Howeeastic soda supply continued to be
constrained by the weakness in chlorine demand;iwdaused operating rates to be reduced. Thiftedsn a significant supply and demand
imbalance for caustic soda in North America. Tiibalance, combined with increased freight and g@neosts, resulted in our achieving record
levels of caustic soda pricing. During the fougtharter of 2008, North American caustic soda denvesskened but less than the decline in chlorine
demand. This caused the caustic soda supply andrakimbalance to continue, which continued to stipecord levels of caustic soda prices. The
result was a record ECU netback, in our systertherfirst quarter of 2009.

Our 2009 ECU netbacks of $520 were 18% lower thar2008 netbacks of $635, reflecting the changéseipricing dynamics in North
America. Beginning late in the fourth quarter 608 and continuing through 2009, demand for cassiita weakened significantly, and fell below
the demand for chlorine. This created excess guppllorth America, which caused caustic soda gricefall. The over supply of caustic soda
caused industry operating rates to be constraimbith resulted in chlorine price increase annourer@siof $300 per ton during the second quart
2009. Caustic soda prices declined precipitousthé second quarter of 2009 and these declindgaed into the third quarter of 2009. During the
third quarter of 2009, chlorine and caustic sodaaled became more balanced eliminating the overgumaustic soda. We began realizing
increases in chlorine prices in the third quarfe2@®9 with most of the improvement in the fourtiagter of 2009. ECU netbacks, in our system,
bottomed out in the third quarter of 2009. Durihg fourth quarter of 2009, as caustic soda derimaptbved, chlorine production declined due to
seasonally weaker demand. This resulted in a g demand imbalance for caustic soda in Nortledea. As a result of this imbalance, in
December 2009, a $75 per ton caustic soda pricease was announced. We began realizing the bepéthis price increase in caustic soda in the
first half of 2010.

Our 2010 ECU netbacks of $475 were 9% lowan tihe 2009 netbacks of $520; however, the pritiggd has been positive throughout
2010 as ECU netbacks increased sequentially frenfotls level of $375 in the third quarter of 200Bhe fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was
$515. As business conditions improved through®d02 our quarterly chlor alkali operating rates ioyjed year-over-year by at least 10%, peaking
in the third quarter of 2010 with a 91% operatiaterduring the summer demand season. A signifjpamion of the North American chlor alkali
demand improvement came from exports of productdenfi]mm chlorine, driven by the energy advantagetNamerica enjoys by using natural gas
as compared to crude oil. With demand for botleighé and caustic soda improving, price increase®\announced throughout the year. During
February 2010, an $80 per ton caustic soda priease was announced. We began realizing a patitris price increase in caustic soda in the
second quarter of 2010. Caustic soda demand cmtito improve, and as a result, during the thirartgr of 2010, three additional caustic soda
price increases were announced totaling $135 per\fde believe that a portion of the $135 per tanstic soda price increases announced during the
third quarter of 2010 will be realized. We antatip some additional benefits from these price amee and from contracts that re-set on an annual
basis to be realized in the first half of 2011. didnally, we announced a $40 per ton caustic gt increase in January 2011. While the success
of this $40 per ton caustic soda price increas®igyet known, some portion of the benefits of firise increase, if realized, would impact our eyt
beginning in the second quarter of 2011.

Electricity and salt are the major purchased rawenls for our Chlor Alkali Products segment. Raaterials represent approximately 49%
of the total cost of producing an ECU. Electridgythe single largest raw material component éngroduction of chlor alkali products. We are
supplied by utilities that primarily utilize coddydroelectric, natural gas, and nuclear power. ddmamodity nature of this industry places an
emphasis on cost management and we believe thAdaveemanaged our manufacturing costs in a manaentakes us one of the low cost producers
in the industry. During the fourth quarter of 20@& completed a conversion and expansion profemiraSt. Gabriel, LA facility and initiated
production. This project increased capacity & kbhcation from 197,000 ECUs to 246,000 ECUs agdiicantly reduced the site’s manufacturing
costs. In addition, as market demand requiredyelieve the design of the SunBelt plant, as wethasnew design of the St. Gabriel, LA facility,
would allow us to expand capacity cost-effectivayfhese locations. In December 2010, we annouag@an to convert our Charleston, TN facility
to 200,000 tons of membrane capacity capable afymiog both potassium hydroxide and caustic sddee conversion of the Charleston, TN plant
to membrane technology will reduce the electriagpge per ECU produced by approximately 25% anddhg&guration of the new plant will result
in an increase in our capacity to produce potassiydnoxide. In addition, we announced our intemtio reconfigure our Augusta, GA facility to
manufacture bleach and distribute caustic soddewdigcontinuing chlor alkali manufacturing at teise. When complete, this plan will reduce our
overall chlor alkali production capacity by 160,d8CGU’s or 8% of our demonstrated capacity.




We also manufacture and sell other chlor alkabtesl products. These products include chemicatiggssed salt, hydrochloric acid, sodium
hypochlorite (bleach), hydrogen, sodium hydroselfgnd potassium hydroxide. We have recently bedeis capacity and product upgrades in
bleach and hydrochloric acid. In the fourth quaote2009, we initiated bleach manufacturing anighsimg by railroad expansion projects at three of
our chlor alkali facilities. During 2010, we irated a $17 million to $20 million capital projeotdonstruct a low salt, high strength bleach fgcili
located at our MclIntosh, AL chlor alkali site. $How salt, high strength bleach facility will ddatithe concentration of the bleach we manufacture,
which should significantly reduce transportatiostso

The following table lists products of our Chlor AlkProducts business, with principal productstmnhasis of annual sales highlighted in bold

face.

Products & Service:

Major End Uses

Plants & Facilities

Major Raw Materials &
Components for
Products/Services

Chlorine/caustic soda

Sodium hypochloritt
(bleach)

Hydrochloric acid

Potassium hydroxide

Hydrogen

Sodium hydrosuilfite

Pulp & paper processing, chemical manufacturing,
water purification, manufacture of vinyl chloride,
bleach, swimming pool chemicals & urethane
chemicals

Household cleaners, laundry bleaching, swimmind
sanitizers, semiconductors, water treatment, esxtil
pulp & paper and food processing

Steel, oil & gas, plasticsganic chemical synthesis,
water and wastewater treatment, brine treatment,
artificial sweeteners, pharmaceuticals, food prsices
and ore
and mineral processing

Fertilizer manufacturingapsy detergents and
cleaners, battery manufacturing, food processing
chemicals and deice

Fuel source, hydrogen peroxide and hydrochlorid

Paper, textile & clay bleachir

Augusta, GA
Becancour, Quebec
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mcintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA

Augusta, GA
Becancour, Quebec
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY

Santa Fe Springs, CA

Tacoma, WA
Tracy, CA

Augusta, GA
Becancour, Quebec
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mcintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY

Charleston, TN

Augusta, GA
Becancour, Quebec
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mcintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA

Charleston, TN

salt, electricity

chlorine, caustic soc

chlorine, hydrogen

potassium chloride, electricity

salt, electricity

caustic soda, sulfur dioxic




Strategies

Continued Role as a Preferred Supplier to Merchidatket Customers. Based on our market research, we believe owrGikali Products
business is viewed as a preferred supplier by @rchant market customers. We will continue to oon providing quality customer service sup
and developing relationships with our valued custiam

Pursue Incremental Expansion OpportunitiedVe have invested in capacity and product upggad our chemically processed salt,
hydrochloric acid, bleach, potassium hydroxide Bydrogen businesses. These expansions increaseive use of chlorine while increasing the
sales of these co-products. These niche businps®ésge opportunities to upgrade chlorine and tag®da to higher value-added applications. We
also have the opportunity, when business condifi@mmit, to pursue incremental chlorine and causiita expansions through our SunBelt and St.
Gabiriel, LA facilities.

Winchester
Products and Services

In 2010, Winchester was in its 1#4/ear of operation and its 80year as part of Olin. Winchester is a premier tie and manufacturer of
small caliber ammunition for sale to domestic amtérinational retailers (commercial customers), éafiorcement agencies and domestic and
international militaries. We believe we are a lagdJ.S. producer of ammunition for recreationaaters, hunters, law enforcement agencies ar
U.S. Armed Forces. As an example of our law ermdiorent business, the Federal Bureau of InvestigéiBh) awarded Winchester a five-year
contract in 2007 for bonded pistol ammunition and009, we received a Department of Homeland $§c{I’HS) contract for pistol
ammunition. Additionally, during 2010 we were adexd fiveyear contracts from both the U.S. Secret Servigdpammunition and shotshells) &
the FBI (rifle ammunition.) Our legendary Wincherst product line includes all major gauges and calilbéishotgun shells, rimfire and centerfire
ammunition for pistols and rifles, reloading compots and industrial cartridges. We believe wetlaedeading U.S. supplier of small caliber
commercial ammunition. In support of our continsdmprovement initiatives, our manufacturing fawh in East Alton, IL, achieved ISO
recertification to the 1ISO 9001:2008 standard irc&eber 2009. Additionally our facility in Australivas upgraded to the ISO 9001:2008 standz
February 2009 and our manufacturing facility in @xf, MS achieved 1SO 9001:2008 recertificationanuary 2010.

Winchester has strong relationships throughous#tes and distribution chain and strong ties tditicmal dealers and distributors. Winche
has also built its business with key high volumesnaerchants and specialty sporting goods retaildtes have consistently developed industry-
leading ammunition. In 2009, Winchester was nafegdmunition Manufacturer of the Year” for the secbconsecutive year by the National
Association of Sporting Goods Wholesalers and Wéstér wholesaler, Big Rock Sports, recognized Wastdr as its 2009 “Hunting/Shooting
Vendor of the Year.” In addition, the carton foindhester's 2008 Theodore Roosevelt CommemoratimenAnition was honored with a “2009
Excellence Award” from the Paperboard Packagingr€ibuthe International Hunter Education Associat{tHEA) presented Winchester with the
“Gladney Davidson Memorial Award,” its most pregtigs honor, and Winchester’s new web-based balistalculator received the 2009 SHOT
Show “Editor's Choice” award frorBhooting Sports Retailenagazine. In 2010, the Wincheste8upreme Elite™ Bonded PDX1™ product line
received the National Rifle Association’s “GoldenlBeye Award” in the ammunition category from$Booting lllustratednagazine while
Winchester’s Ballistic Silvertif¥ Lead-Free varmint loads received both a 2010 “Bé#ie Best” award in the ammunition category freiald &
Streammagazine and a 2010 “Best New Load for 2010” avilameh Outdoor Lifemagazine. Outdoor Lifeadditionally named WinchestsrSuprem
Elite™ Dual Bond™ .44 Magnum big-bore handgun huntiartridge a “Best New Load for 2010.” Winchestas also honored with the “Cabela
Lifetime Business Achievement Award” from the USportsmen’s Alliance (USSA) during 2010.

Winchester purchases raw materials such as cogsedtstrip and ammunition cartridge case cupseadiffom vendors based on a
conversion charge or premium. These conversiorgeleor premiums are in addition to the marketgsrifor metal as posted on exchanges such as
the Commodity Exchange, or COMEX, and London MeEadshange, or LME. Winchester’s other main raweriat is propellant, which is
purchased predominantly from one of the UnitedeStdargest propellant suppliers.




The following table lists products and serviceswof Winchester business, with principal productsh® basis of annual sales highlighte
bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Products & Service: Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Winchester ® sporting Hunters & recreational shooters, law enforcer East Alton, IL brass, lead, steel, plast
ammunition (shot-shells, small agencies Oxford, MS propellant, explosives
caliber centerfire & rimfire Geelong, Australia
ammunition)

Small caliber military ammunitio  Infantry and mounted weapons East Alton, IL brass, lead, propellant,
Oxford, MS explosives
Industrial products (8 gauge loads Maintenance applications in power & East Alton, IL brass, lead, plastic, propellant,
& powder-actuated tool loads) concrete industries, powder-actuated tools in ~ Oxford, MS explosives
construction industr Geelong, Australii

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thaddecision to relocate Winchester centerfire amitimn operations from East Alton,
IL to Oxford, MS. This relocation, when completéiforecast to reduce Winchester's annual opegatosts by approximately $30 million. We
currently expect to complete this relocation byehe of 2015. Once completed, Winchester expedtsate the most modern centerfire ammunition
production facility in North America.

Strategies

Leverage Existing StrengthsWinchester plans to seek new opportunitiesverkge the legendary Winchester brand name andevitinue
to offer a full line of ammunition products to thrarkets we serve, with specific focus on investmémit lower our costs and that make Winchester
ammunition the retail brand of choice.

Focus on Product Line Growth.With a long record of pioneering new produceeifigs, Winchester has built a strong reputatioaras
industry innovator. This includes the introductmfireduced-lead and non-lead products, which eseigg in popularity for use in indoor shooting
ranges and for outdoor hunting.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

Our subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC, formerly PCI Cheaté Canada Company/Société PCI Chimie Canadaatgsesne chlor alkali facility in
Becancour, Quebec, which sells chlor alkali-relagemtiucts within Canada and to the United Sta@sr subsidiary, Winchester Australia Limited,
loads and packs sporting and industrial ammunitiohustralia. See the Note “Segment Informatiofithe notes to consolidated financial staterr
in Item 8, for geographic segment data. We arerpuarating our segment information from that Net®ithis section of our Form 10-K.

CUSTOMERS AND DISTRIBUTION

During 2010, no single customer accounted for ntloa@ 8% of sales. Sales to all U.S. governmem@ge and sales under U.S. government
contracting activities in total accounted for apgneately 5% of sales in 2010. Products we selhttustrial or commercial users or distributors for
use in the production of other products constituteajor part of our total sales. We sell someuwsfpsoducts, such as caustic soda and sporting
ammunition, to a large number of users or distatajtwhile we sell others, such as chlorine, inssaftial quantities to a relatively small number of
industrial users. We discuss the customers fan efour two businesses in more detail above utflerducts and Services.”

We market most of our products and services prigntiriough our sales force and sell directly toimas industrial customers, mass merchi
retailers, wholesalers, other distributors, andut®. Government and its prime contractors.




Because we engage in some government contractiivifias and make sales to the U.S. Governmentargesubject to extensive and complex
U.S. Government procurement laws and regulatidinese laws and regulations provide for ongoing gowent audits and reviews of contract
procurement, performance and administration. Failo comply, even inadvertently, with these lawd eegulations and with laws governing the
export of munitions and other controlled productd aommodities could subject us or one or moreuofwisinesses to civil and criminal penalties,
and under certain circumstances, suspension aratrdeht from future government contracts and th@eig of products for a specified period of
time.

BACKLOG

The total amount of contracted backlog was appratehg $178.1 million and $231.2 million as of Jaryudl, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The backlog orders are in our Wistérebusiness. Backlog is comprised of all opestaruer orders not yet shipped. Approximately
66% of contracted backlog as of January 31, 20&Xpected to be filled during 2011.

COMPETITION

We are in active competition with businesses produthe same or similar products, as well as, meastances, with businesses producing
different products designed for the same uses.

Chlor alkali manufacturers in North America, withproximately 15 million tons of chlorine and 16 lioih tons of caustic soda capacity,
account for approximately 18% of worldwide chldkadl production capacity. According to CMAI, the Chemical Company (Dow), and the
Occidental Chemical Corporation (OxyChem), aretitee largest chlor alkali producers in North Amerio&pproximately 75% of the total North
American capacity is located in the U.S. Gulf Caagion.

Many of our competitors are integrated producershidrine, using some, or all, of their chlorin@guction in the manufacture of other
downstream products. In contrast, we are primaritlgerchant producer of chlorine and sell the nitgjof our chlorine to merchant customers. As a
result, we supply a greater share of the merchaatine market than our share of overall industpacity. We do utilize chlorine to manufacture
industrial bleach and hydrochloric acid. Thera isorldwide market for caustic soda, which attraeigorts and allows exports depending on market
conditions. All of our competitors sell causticdadnto the North American merchant market.

The chlor alkali industry in North America is higldompetitive, and many of our competitors, inchgdlDow and OxyChem, are substantially
larger and have greater financial resources thadaveé/hile the technologies to manufacture andspart chlorine and caustic soda are widely
available, the production facilities require laggpital investments, and are subject to significagtilatory and permitting requirements.

We are among the largest manufacturers in the diSitates of commercial small caliber ammunitiorebaen independent market research
sponsored by the Sporting Arms and Ammunition Maoturers’ Institute (SAAMI) and the National ShogfiSports Foundation. Founded in 1926,
SAAMI is an association of the nation’s leading mi@cturers of sporting firearms, ammunition and porrents. According to SAAMI, our
Winchester business, Alliant Techsystems Inc. (ABKY Remington Arms Company, Inc. (Remington) heetliree largest commercial ammunition
manufacturers in the United States. The ammunitidostry is highly competitive with us, ATK, Rengiton, numerous smaller domestic
manufacturers and foreign producers competingdtassto the commercial ammunition customers. Mantors influence our ability to compete
successfully, including price, delivery, servicerfprmance, product innovation and product recagmiand quality, depending on the product
involved.




EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately 3gf@ployees, with 3,500 working in the United Stated 200 working in foreign
countries, primarily Canada. Various labor uniogresent a majority of our hourly-paid employemscbllective bargaining purposes.

The following labor contracts are scheduled to expi 2011 or early 2012:

Location Number of Employee Expiration Date
East Alton (Winchestel 1,470 December 201
Mclintosh (Chlor Alkali) 210 April 2012
Becancour (Chlor Alkali 128 April 2012

While we believe our relations with our employerd their various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we can
conclude these labor contracts or any other labmreanents without work stoppages and cannot afisarany work stoppages will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmcadition, or results of operations.

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES; PATENTS

Our research activities are conducted on a prograutp basis at a number of facilities. Companyaspoed research expenditures were $2.1
million in 2010, $2.2 million in 2009 and $2.0 nvih in 2008.

We own or license a number of patents, patent egijdins, and trade secrets covering our productpeocesses. We believe that, in the
aggregate, the rights under our patents and lisesrgeimportant to our operations, but we do nositter any individual patent or license or group of
patents and licenses related to a specific pramegsoduct to be of material importance to ourltbtesiness.

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY

We purchase the major portion of our raw mategglirements. The principal basic raw materialofarproduction of chlor alkali products
are salt, electricity, potassium chloride, sulfioxide, and hydrogen. A portion of the salt usedur Chlor Alkali Products segment is produced
from internal resources. Lead, brass, and prapediee the principal raw materials used in the Wester business. We typically purchase our
electricity, salt, potassium chloride, sulfur did&j ammunition cartridge case cups and copper-tsgpdand propellants pursuant to multi-year
contracts. We provide additional information widspect to specific raw materials in the tablesat under “Products and Services.”

Electricity is the predominant energy source farmanufacturing facilities. Most of our facilitiese served by utilities which generate
electricity principally from coal, hydroelectric @muclear power except at St. Gabriel, LA and Hesale NV which predominantly use natural gas.




ENVIRONMENTAL AND TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROLS

In the United States, the establishment and impheatien of federal, state and local standards galege air, water and land quality affect
substantially all of our manufacturing locatiorfsederal legislation providing for regulation of tmanufacture, transportation, use and disposal of
hazardous and toxic substances, and remediatioontdminated sites has imposed additional regylagzuirements on industry, particularly the
chemicals industry. In addition, implementatiorea¥ironmental laws, such as the Resource Congemeand Recovery Act and the Clean Air Act,
has required and will continue to require new @kpenditures and will increase operating coStar Canadian facility is governed by federal
environmental laws administered by Environment @arend by provincial environmental laws enforcedbsninistrative agencies. Many of these
laws are comparable to the U.S. laws describedeab@ve employ waste minimization and pollution gmeon programs at our manufacturing sites
and we are a party to various governmental andgignvironmental actions associated with formestevelisposal sites and past manufacturing
facilities. Charges or credits to income for irtigegtory and remedial efforts were material to agieg results in the past three years and may be
material to operating results in future years.

See our discussion of our environmental matteleim 3, “Legal Proceedings” below, the Note “Envineental” of the notes to consolidated
financial statements contained in Item 8, and IferftManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of FinahCondition and Results of Operations.”

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this Forf-K, the following factors should be considere@waluating Olin and our business. All of
our forward-looking statements should be considardigiht of these factors. Additional risks anglcertainties that we are unaware of or that we
currently deem immaterial also may become impoffizstors that affect us.

Sensitivity to Global Economic Conditions and Cychality —Our operating results could be negatively affechedng economic downturn

The business of most of our customers, particulautyvinyl, urethanes, and pulp and paper custoarersto varying degrees, cyclical and
have historically experienced periodic downturfitiese economic and industry downturns have beemactegized by diminished product demand,
excess manufacturing capacity and, in some casgsr hverage selling prices. Therefore, any siganit downturn in our customers’ businesses or
in global economic conditions could result in auetibn in demand for our products and could advemsiect our results of operations or financial
condition.

Although we do not generally sell a large perceataigour products directly to customers abroadsgd part of our financial performance is
dependent upon a healthy economy beyond North Amei®ur customers sell their products abroada Pesult, our business is affected by general
economic conditions and other factors in Westenmop®, South America and most of East Asia, paditylChina and Japan, including fluctuations
in interest rates, customer demand, labor and greargts, currency changes, and other factors begondontrol. The demand for our customers’
products, and therefore, our products, is diregffgcted by such fluctuations. In addition, ousteuners could decide to move some or all of their
production to lower cost, offshore locations, amd tould reduce demand in North America for owdpicts. We cannot assure you that events
having an adverse effect on the industries in whietoperate will not occur or continue, such aswrtturn in the Western European, South
American, Asian or world economies, increases terest rates, or unfavorable currency fluctuatiodBsonomic conditions in other regions of the
world, predominantly Asia and Europe, can incrahseamount of caustic soda produced and availablexport to North America. The increased
caustic soda supply can put downward pressure ppaustic soda prices, negatively impacting oufitadoility.
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Cyclical Pricing Pressure—Our profitability could be reduced by declines ireege selling prices of our products, particuladyglines in th
ECU netback for chlorine and caustic soda.

Our historical operating results reflect the cyaliand sometimes volatile nature of the chemicdlammunition industries. We experience
cycles of fluctuating supply and demand in eacbuwfbusiness segments, particularly in Chlor AllRalbducts, which result in changes in selling
prices. Periods of high demand, tight supply amdeasing operating margins tend to result in imees in capacity and production until supply
exceeds demand, generally followed by periods efsypply and declining prices. There have beeadigpadditions of approximately 1,950,000
tons announced by Formosa Plastics Corporatiomt&ti, Inc., Westlake Chemical Corporation, a DoitsM & Co. Ltd. joint venture, and K2 Pt
Solutions. These announced capacity expansiorsreast by CMAI to come on line ratably over trext four years. In 2010, we announced p
to convert our Charleston, TN facility to 200,000$ of membrane capacity and our intention to riégore our Augusta, GA facility to discontinue
chlor alkali manufacturing. These actions willued overall chlor alkali production capacity by 18I ECU’s. Another factor influencing demand
and pricing for chlorine and caustic soda is theepof natural gas. Higher natural gas pricesdiase our customers’ and competitors’ manufacturing
costs, and depending on the ratio of crude oiktmiral gas prices, could make them less competitiveorld markets. Continued expansion offsh
particularly in Asia, will continue to have an ingpan the ECU values as imported caustic sodaceplsome capacity in North America.

Price in the chlor alkali industry is the major pligr selection criterion. We have little or ndldp to influence prices in this large commodity
market. Decreases in the average selling pricesioproducts could have a material adverse effieaur profitability. For example, assuming all
other costs remain constant and internal consumpéimains approximately the same, a $10 per EQugelrice change equates to an approximate
$17 million annual change in our revenues and gpnetafit when we are operating at full capacity.hi we strive to maintain or increase our
profitability by reducing costs through improvingopuction efficiency, emphasizing higher margindgarcts, and by controlling transportation,
selling, and administration expenses, we cannatrag®u that these efforts will be sufficient tdset fully the effect of decreases in pricing on
operating results.

Because of the cyclical nature of our businesseszamnot assure you that pricing or profitabilitythie future will be comparable to any
particular historical period, including the mosteat period shown in our operating results. Wenoaassure you that the chlor alkali industry will
not experience adverse trends in the future, drahiaoperating results and/or financial conditwiii not be adversely affected by them.

Our Winchester segment is also subject to chamgepeérating results as a result of cyclical priqgimgssures, but to a lesser extent than the
Chlor Alkali Products segment. Selling prices wfmaunition are affected by changes in raw matenatsand availability and customer demand,
declines in average selling prices of our Winchreségment could adversely affect our profitability.

Imbalance in Demand for Our Chlor Alkali Products —A loss of a substantial customer for our chlomne&austic soda could cause an
imbalance in demand for these products, which cbaice an adverse effect on our results of opertion

Chlorine and caustic soda are produced simultameans in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine tdltons of caustic soda. The loss of a
substantial chlorine or caustic soda customer coalse an imbalance in demand for our chlorinecandtic soda products. An imbalance in
demand may require us to reduce production of blolibrine and caustic soda or take other stepsrnecithe imbalance. Since we cannot store
guantities of chlorine, we may not be able to respm an imbalance in demand for these productmiagly or efficiently as some of our
competitors. If a substantial imbalance occurveslwould need to reduce prices or take other agftilbat could have a negative impact on our results
of operations and financial condition.
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Environmental Costs—We have ongoing environmental costs, which coaldeha material adverse effect on our financialtmsor results
of operations.

The nature of our operations and products, inciyidie raw materials we handle, exposes us to sheofiliabilities or claims with respect to
environmental matters. In addition, we are pastydrious governmental and private environmentabas associated with past manufacturing
facilities and former waste disposal sites. Weehiacurred, and expect to incur, significant caestd capital expenditures in complying with
environmental laws and regulations.

The ultimate costs and timing of environmentaliliibs are difficult to predict. Liabilities undenvironmental laws relating to contaminated
sites can be imposed retroactively and on a joidtseveral basis. One liable party could be hetgansible for all costs at a site, regardlessuat,f
percentage of contribution to the site or the liggalf the original disposal. We could incur sificént costs, including cleanup costs, natural uese
damages, civil or criminal fines and sanctions #nidl-party lawsuits claiming, for example, perslingury and/or property damage, as a result of
past or future violations of, or liabilities undenvironmental or other laws.

In addition, future events, such as changes toaremgorous enforcement of environmental laws|d¢oequire us to make additional
expenditures, modify or curtail our operations andtistall pollution control equipment.

Accordingly, it is possible that some of the mattierwhich we are involved or may become involveayrhe resolved unfavorably to us, wk
could materially adversely affect our financial o or results of operations. See “Managemebt&ussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations-Environmental Matters.”

Litigation and Claims — We are subject to litigation and other claims, hiould cause us to incur significant expenses.

We are a defendant in a number of pending legalgadings relating to our present and former oparati These include proceedings alleging
injurious exposure of plaintiffs to various chenécand other substances (including proceedingsdhasalleged exposures to asbestos). Frequently
such proceedings involve claims made by numeraaistjifs against many defendants. However, becafifige inherent uncertainties of litigation,
we are unable to predict the outcome of these prdings and therefore cannot determine whetheiinbedial impact, if any, will be material to our
financial position or results of operations.

Security and Chemicals Transportation —New regulations on the transportation of hazarddwsnicals and/or the security of chemical
manufacturing facilities and public policy changekated to transportation safety could result gnsicantly higher operating costs.

The chemical industry, including the chlor alkalilustry, has proactively responded to the issuateckto national security and environmel
concerns by starting new initiatives relating te grecurity of chemicals industry facilities and tresportation of hazardous chemicals in the Wnite
States. Government at the local, state, and fedels could implement new regulations that wonighact the security of chemical plant locations
and the transportation of hazardous chemicals. Gblor Alkali business could be adversely impadigdhe cost of complying with any new
regulations. Our business also could be adveeddgted if an incident were to occur at one of fagilities or while transporting product. The
extent of the impact would depend on the requirgmehfuture regulations and the nature of an iestdwhich are unknown at this time.
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Labor Matters — We cannot assure you that we can conclude futbi@ leontracts or any other labor agreements withauwk stoppages.

Various labor unions represent a majority of ounthepaid employees for collective bargaining puses. The following labor contracts are
scheduled to expire in 2011 or early 2012:

Location Number of Employee Expiration Date
East Alton (Winchestel 1,470 December 201
Mclintosh (Chlor Alkali) 210 April 2012
Becancour (Chlor Alkali 128 April 2012

While we believe our relations with our employerd their various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we can
conclude these labor contracts or any other labareanents without work stoppages and cannot atisatrany work stoppages will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, finamcadition, or results of operations.

Effects of Regulation—Changes in legislation or government regulationgadicies, including tax policies, could have a enl adverse
effect on our financial position or results of cgé@ns.

Legislation that may be passed by Congress or &¢gesiative bodies or new regulations that mayskaed by federal and other administra
agencies could significantly affect the sales, £asid profitability of our business. The chemarad ammunition industries are subject to legiséativ
and regulatory actions, which could have a matedakrse effect on our financial position or resoltoperations.

Production Hazards—Our facilities are subject to operating hazardsictv may disrupt our business.

We are dependent upon the continued safe opem@tioar production facilities. Our production fatiéds are subject to hazards associated
the manufacture, handling, storage and transpontati chemical materials and products and ammumiticcluding leaks and ruptures, explosions,
fires, inclement weather and natural disastersypeeted utility disruptions or outages, unscheddedntime and environmental hazards. From
to time in the past, we have had incidents thaehamporarily shut down or otherwise disruptedraanufacturing, causing production delays and
resulting in liability for workplace injuries andtglities. Some of our products involve the maauifiee and/or handling of a variety of explosive and
flammable materials. Use of these products bycaatomers could also result in liability if an eaxgibn, fire, spill or other accident were to
occur. We cannot assure you that we will not elgpee these types of incidents in the future or tiiase incidents will not result in production
delays or otherwise have a material adverse effeciur business, financial condition or resultepérations.

Cost Control —Our profitability could be reduced if we continweexperience increasing raw material, utility, sportation or logistics cos
or if we fail to achieve our targeted cost redutsio

Our operating results and profitability are deperidgon our continued ability to control, and imocases further reduce, our costs. If we
are unable to do so, or if costs outside of outrobrparticularly our costs of raw materials, ititds, transportation and similar costs, increasgohbd
anticipated levels, our profitability will decline.

Credit Facilities— Weak industry conditions could affect our abilioydomply with the financial maintenance covenantsur senior
revolving credit facility and certain tax-exemptigs.

Our senior revolving credit facility includes certaindncial maintenance covenants requiring us teeroted a maximum leverage ratio an
maintain a minimum coverage ratio. During the fowquarter of 2010, $153.0 million of Gulf OpporityniZone Act of 2005 (Go Zone) and
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Rery Zone) taxexempt bonds sponsored by Alabama, MississippiTamhessee were issL
with final maturities of between 2024 and 2035.eTinancial covenants in the credit agreementscétsal with the Go Zone and Recovery Zone
bonds mirror those in our senior revolving creditifity.
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Depending on the magnitude and duration of chkalatyclical downturns, including deteriorationpnices and volumes, there can be no
assurance that we will continue to be in complianith these ratios. If we failed to comply withtesr of these covenants in a future period and were
not able to obtain waivers from the lenders thedeunwe would need to refinance our current ser@eolving credit facility and the Go Zone and
Recovery Zone bonds. However, there can be noas=sithat such refinancing would be availablestomiterms that would be acceptable to us or
at all.

Pension Plans—The impact of declines in global equity and fixxadome markets on asset values and any declinateirest rates used to
value the liabilities in our pension plan may résuhigher pension costs and the need to fungbéimsion plan in future years in material amounts.

Under Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 71%®tapensation—Retirement Benefits” (ASC 715), form&tatement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158, “Employerstdunting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Risement Plans,” (SFAS No. 158), we
recorded an after-tax charge of $26.0 million (844illion pretax) to shareholders’ equity as of Beaber 31, 2010 for our pension and other
postretirement plans. This charge reflected aakbshpoint decrease in the plans’ discount rateigig offset by the favorable performance on plan
assets during 2010. In 2009, we recorded an &ftecharge of $27.3 million ($41.7 million pretar)shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2009
for our pension and other postretirement plansis Tharge reflected a 50-basis point decreaseeipldns’ discount rate, partially offset by the
favorable performance on plan assets during 2092008, we recorded an after-tax charge of $99ldom ($162.7 million pretax) to shareholders’
equity as of December 31, 2008 for our pensionathdr postretirement plans. This charge refletitedunfavorable performance on plan assets
during 2008. The non-cash charges to shareholdgqtsty do not affect our ability to borrow undemraenior revolving credit facility.

The determinations of pension expense and pensiatirfg are based on a variety of rules and reguiati Changes in these rules and
regulations could impact the calculation of pengitam liabilities and the valuation of pension ptsets. They may also result in higher pension
costs, additional financial statement disclosunegl, accelerate the need to fully fund the pensian.pDuring the third quarter of 2006, the “Pension
Protection Act of 2006” became law, amended by “Wearker, Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act,” dgrihe fourth quarter of 2008. Among the
stated objectives of the laws were the protectidooth pension beneficiaries and the financial tieaf the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation
(PBGC). To accomplish these objectives, the nevs leequired sponsors to fund defined benefit penglans earlier than previous requirements and
to pay increased PBGC premiums. The laws reqeéfieeld benefit pension plans to be fully fundedZ6d1. Based on our plan assumptions and
estimates, we will not be required to make any casttributions to the domestic defined benefit pemgplan at least through 2011. We do have a
small Canadian defined benefit pension plan to whie made $9.8 million and $4.5 million of cashttifautions in 2010 and 2009, respectively,
we anticipate less than $5 million of cash contiins in 2011. At December 31, 2010, the mark&ievaf assets in our defined benefit pension
plans of $1,800.4 million exceeded the projectawfieobligation by $16.3 million.

In addition, the impact of declines in global egund fixed income markets on asset values maytreshigher pension costs and may
increase and accelerate the need to fund the peplsio in future years. For example, holding #lleo assumptions constant, a 100-basis point
decrease or increase in the assumed rate of r@tuypian assets would have decreased or increasguiatively, the 2010 defined benefit pension
plan income by approximately $15.8 million.

Holding all other assumptions constant, a 50-lyawiist decrease in the discount rate used to caépknsion income for 2010 and the
projected benefit obligation as of December 31,02@buld have decreased pension income by $0.6omilind increased the projected benefit
obligation by $86.0 million. A 50-basis point iease in the discount rate used to calculate peisiome for 2010 and the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2010 would have meed pension income by $2.2 million and decredsegrjected benefit obligation by $94.0
million.
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Indebtedness—Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdremndition and limit our ability to grow and costp, which could preve
us from fulfilling our obligations under our indefiness.

As of December 31, 2010, we had $496.0 milliomaliebtedness outstanding, including $5.3 millioresenting the fair value related to
$132.7 million of interest rate swaps and $2.8iomlrepresenting the unrecognized gain related&®0million of interest rate swaps at December
31, 2010. This outstanding indebtedness excludegwarantee of $42.7 million of indebtedness afBlt. This also does not include our $240.0
million senior revolving credit facility of which evhad $231.4 million available on that date becaweséad issued $8.6 million of letters of credit or
the $36.0 million not drawn from the Go Zone borsdsied in 2010. As of December 31, 2010, our itetbiess represented 37.4% of our total
capitalization. At December 31, 2010, $77.8 millwf our indebtedness was due within one year.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdremndition and limit our ability to fund workingapital, capital expenditures and other
general corporate purposes, to accommodate groptbducing funds otherwise available for other cogpe purposes, and to compete, which in
could prevent us from fulfilling our obligations der our indebtedness. In addition, our indebtesloesld make us more vulnerable to any
continuing downturn in general economic conditiang reduce our ability to respond to changing lessirand economic conditions. Despite our
level of indebtedness, the terms of our seniorlkévg credit facility and our existing indenturesrmit us to borrow additional money. If we borrow
more money, the risks related to our indebtedneskléncrease.

Debt Service—We may not be able to generate sufficient cagetvice our debt, which may require us to refinamaoeindebtedness or
default on our scheduled debt payments.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow fromerations to make scheduled payments on our dglende on a range of economic,
competitive and business factors, many of whichoatside our control. We cannot assure you thebasiness will generate sufficient cash flow
from operations. If we are unable to meet our ezpe and debt obligations, we may need to refinathoe a portion of our indebtedness on or
before maturity, sell assets or raise equity. \afenot assure you that we would be able to refinangeof our indebtedness, sell assets or raisdy
on commercially reasonable terms or at all, whizhld cause us to default on our obligations andaimpur liquidity. Our inability to generate
sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligatioor to refinance our obligations on commerciadigsonable terms, would have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results adragions, as well as on our ability to satisfy dabt obligations. See “ManagemenbDiscussion an
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytems.” See Item 7A—"Quantitative and Qualitatisclosures about Market Risk” and
“Liquidity and Other Financing Arrangements.”

Credit and Capital Market Conditions —Adverse conditions in the credit and capital m&rkeay limit or prevent our ability to borrow or
raise capital.

While we believe we have facilities in place tHadsld allow us to borrow funds as needed, adveraditions in the credit and financial
markets could prevent us from obtaining financihthe need arises. Our ability to invest in ousimesses and refinance maturing debt obligations
could require access to the credit and capital etar&nd sufficient bank credit lines to supporha@gjuirements. If we are unable to access ttdit
and capital markets, we could experience a matadiatrse effect on our financial position or resolt operations.
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ltem 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ltem 2. PROPERTIES

We have manufacturing sites at 13 separate loatioten states, Canada and Australia. Most matwifag sites are owned although a
number of small sites are leased. We listed tbations at or from which our products and servamesmanufactured, distributed, or marketed in the
tables set forth under the caption “Products ansliGss.”

We lease warehouses, terminals and distributidnesffand space for executive and branch saleesféind service departments.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Saltville

We have completed all work in connection with reratdn of mercury contamination at the site of tarmer mercury cell chlor alkali plant
Saltville, VA required to date. In mid-2003, theu$tees for natural resources in the North Forlstdol River, the Main Stem Holston River, and
associated floodplains, located in Smyth and WagbimCounties in Virginia and in Sullivan and Han&kiCounties in Tennessee notified us of, and
invited our participation in, an assessment ofgatedamages to natural resources resulting frometbase of mercury. The Trustees also notified us
that they have made a preliminary determinatiohwheaare potentially liable for natural resourcendges in said rivers and floodplains. We agreed
to participate in the assessment. We and the 8eadtave agreed to enter into discussions congeari@solution of this matter. In light of the
ongoing discussions and inherent uncertaintieb@fissessment, we cannot at this time determintharhihe financial impact, if any, of this matter
will be material to our financial position or retsubf operations. See “Environmental Matters” eamed in Iltem 7—“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytiems.”
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Other

As part of the continuing environmental investigatby federal, state, and local governments of evdisiposal sites, we have entered into a
number of settlement agreements requiring us tiicfjzate in the investigation and cleanup of a nandf sites. Under the terms of such settlements
and related agreements, we may be required to reasrguerform one or more elements of a site cleapu manage the entire remediation activity
for a number of parties, and subsequently seekegg@f some or all of such costs from other PasdigtResponsible Parties (PRPs). In many c:
we do not know the ultimate costs of our settlenwdrtigations at the time of entering into particudattlement agreements, and our liability accruals
for our obligations under those agreements are aftject to significant management judgment oorggoing basis. Those cost accruals are
provided for in accordance with generally acceptecbunting principles and our accounting policiesferth in the environmental matters section in
Item 7—"Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdficial Condition and Results of Operations.”

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vaother legal actions (including proceedings basedlleged exposures to asbestos) incide
to our past and current business activities. Atddeber 31, 2010 and 2009, our consolidated balsimeets included liabilities for these legal actions
of $18.1 million and $15.8 million, respectivelfhese liabilities do not include costs associatetl legal representation. Based on our analysid
considering the inherent uncertainties associafddlitigation, we do not believe that it is reasbiy possible that these legal actions will matigria
adversely affect our financial statements or resofitoperations in the near term.
ltem 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We did not submit any matter to a vote of securdiders during the three months ended Decembez@®1).

Executive Officers of the Registrant as of Februar23, 2011

Name and Age Office Served as an Olin Officer Sinc
Joseph D. Rupp (6( Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off 1996
Stephen C. Curley (5¢ Vice President and Treasul 2005
Dolores J. Ennico (5¢ Vice President, Human Resour« 2009
John E. Fischer (5! Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi 2004
G. Bruce Greer, Jr. (5 Vice President, Strategic Planning and Informafieshnology 2005
Richard M. Hammett (64 Vice President and President, Winchester Divi: 2005
John L. MclIntosh (56 Senior Vice President, Operatic 1999
George H. Pain (6( Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr 2002
Todd A. Slater (47 Vice President, Finance and Contro 2005

No family relationship exists between any of thexabnamed executive officers or between any of thathany of our directors. Such offic
were elected to serve, subject to the By-laws] their respective successors are chosen.

All executive officers except Dolores J. Ennico éaerved as executive officers for more than fieary. Richard M. Hammett will retire frc
the Company on February 28, 2011.

Dolores J. Ennico was elected Vice President, HuResources effective May 1, 2009. Prior to thattand since October 2005, she served

as Corporate Vice President, Human Resources. Ktaroh 2004 to September 2005, she served as Vasdent, Administration for Olin's
Winchester Division and former Metals group.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

As of January 31, 2011, we had 4,584 record holafeosir common stock.
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stoc&Haxge.

The high and low sales prices of our common staging each quarterly period in 2010 and 2009 atedi below. A dividend of $0.20 per
common share was paid during each of the four gusaim 2010 and 2009.

First Second Third Fourth
2010 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic
High $ 1994 $ 223¢ $ 209¢ $ 2157
Low 15.3( 14.3¢ 17.2¢ 17.9(
2009
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic
High $ 197¢ $ 16.7C $ 184C $ 18.0¢°
Low 8.97 10.64 10.97 15.0C
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Total Number of Share: Maximum Number of
(or Units) Purchased as Shares (or Units) that
Average Price Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Share: Paid Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period (or Units) Purchased per Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October -31, 201C — N/A —
November -30, 201C — N/A —
December -31, 201C — N/A —
Total 154,07¢1)

(1) On April 30, 1998, we announced a share rd@age program approved by our board of directorgi®ipurchase of up to 5 million shares of
common stock. Through December 31, 2010, 4,845%824es had been repurchased, and 154,076 shawas @evailable for purchase under
that program, which has no termination d:
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

@) (b) (©)
Number of securities Number of securitiet
to Weightecaverage remaining
be issued upon exercise available for future
exercise of price of outstanding issuance under equity
outstanding options, options, warrants compensation plans
warrants and excluding securities
Plan Category and rights®) rights reflected in column (aj)
Equity compensation plans approved by security drs(2) 4,736,000 $ 17.3<®) 3,595,90.
Equity compensation plans not approved by sec
holders® N/A@4) N/A@ N/A®)
Total 4,736,001 $ 17.3¢(3.4) 3,595,90.

(1) Number of shares is subject to adjustment for ceaiiy capitalization for stock splits and stockidinds and similar event

(2) Consists of the 2000 Long Term Incentive Ptha,2003 Long Term Incentive Plan, the 2006 LoegTIncentive Plan, the 2009 Long Term
Incentive Plan and the 1997 Stock Plan for Momployee Directors. Does not include informatibowt the equity compensation plan listet
the table below, which has expired. No additiawérds may be granted under this expired plan.fAeoember 31, 201(

Number of
Securities Weighted
Issuable Under Average
Outstanding Exercise Weighted Averag:
Plan Name Expiration Date Options Price Remaining Term
1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olirrizwation
and Subsidiarie 1/25/06 180,753 $ 20.67 1.8 years

(3) Includes:

e 3,664,398 shares issuable upon exercisetafrspwith a weighted average exercise price of38,7and a weighted average remaining
term of 6.6 years

» 357,305 shares issuable under restricted stoclgtanits, with a weighted average remaining terrh.®fyears

e 425,250 shares issuable in connection with outétgnaerformance share awards, with a weighted geeterm of 1.1 years remaining
the performance measurement period,

e 289,047 shares under the 1997 Stock Plan fo-employee Directors which represent stock grantsdtainers, other board a
committee fees, and dividends on deferred stoclewutia: plan

(4) Does not include information about equity compédnsgblans assumed in connection with the acquisidbChase Industries Inc. (Chase
September 2002 by merger. No additional awardseayranted under those assumed plans. As of Deredid, 2010, options for a total of
4,260 shares, with a weighted average exercise pfi§7.83 per share, and a weighted average rergaerm of 0.7 years, were outstanding
under the various plans assumed in connectiontdéthacquisition
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Performance Graph

This graph compares the total shareholder returouorrommon stock with the total return on theStindard and Poor’s 1000 Index (the
“S&P 1000”) and (ii) the Peer Group. Our Peer (Gr@icomprised of Georgia Gulf Corporation, OccidéPRetroleum Corporation, Alliant
Techsystems, PPG Industries, Inc., The Dow Cherfloaipany and Westlake Chemical Corporation.

Comperizon of Fiwe Year Curmuletive Tolal Retum
Among Dlin Corporation, the 58P 1000 Index and 3 Peer Group
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Data is for the five-year period from December 3105 through December 31, 2010. The cumulativgmencludes reinvestment of
dividends. The Peer Group is weighted in accordavith market capitalization (closing stock pricaltiplied by the number of shares outstanding)
as of the beginning of each of the five years oedday the performance graph. We calculated thghted return for each year by multiplying (a)
percentage that each corporation’s market capitiadiz represented of the total market capitalizefar all corporations in the Peer Group for such
year by (b) the total shareholder return for treporation for such yea
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

TEN-YEAR SUMMARY

($ and shares in millions,

except per share data) 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Operations

Sales $ 158 $ 153: $ 1,768 $ 1277 $ 104C $ 955 $ 76€ $ 70 $ 604 $ 658
Cost of goods sol 1,35( 1,22¢ 1,377 1,03t 792 682 63¢ 58¢ 551 55¢&
Selling and administratio 134 13t 137 12¢ 12¢ 12¢ a0 78 70 74
Loss on restructuring of

businesse (39 — — — — — (20 — — (10)
Other operating incom 2 9 1 2 7 9 6 — — —
Earnings (loss) of non-

consolidated affiliate 30 38 39 46 45 37 9 6 (8) 9
Interest expens 25 12 13 22 20 20 20 20 26 17
Interest and other income

(expense) 2 1 (20) 12 12 20 5 3 4 22
Income (loss) before tax

from continuing operatior 77 21C 25¢ 151 162 191 27 26 (47) 7
Income tax provision

(benefit) 12 74 10C 50 39 74 8 8 (4) 2
Income (loss) from

continuing operation 65 13¢€ 15¢ 101 124 117 19 18 (43) 5
Discontinued operations, n — — — (110 26 21 36 (20) 12 (14)
Cumulative effect of

accounting changes, net — — — — — (5) — (22) — —
Net income (loss $ 65 $ 13 $ 15¢ $ (99 $ 15¢ $ 13 3 5 $ (29 $ (@31 % (9)
Financial position

Cash and cash equivalents

short-term investments and

restricted cas $ 561 $ 45¢ $ 247 $ 332 $ 27€¢ $ 304 $ 147 $ 19C $ 13€ $ 20z
Working capital, excluding

cash and cash equivalents

shor-term investment 33 91 24 (X)) 22% 191 232 16¢ 238 67
Property, plant an

equipment, ne 67E 69t 63C 504 251 227 20E 20z 214 252
Total asset 2,04¢ 1,93 1,72( 1,731 1,642 1,80z 1,621 1,44¢ 1,42¢ 1,221
Capitalization:

Shor-term debt 78 — — 10 2 1 52 27 2 102
Long-term debt 41¢€ 39¢ 252 24¢ 252 257 261 314 34¢€ 33C
Shareholde’ equity 83C 822 70E 664 543 427 35€ 17¢€ 231 271
Total capitalization $ 132¢ $ 1220 $ 957 $ 92 $ 797 $ 68 $ 66¢ $ 517 $ 57¢ $ 702
Per share data

Basic:

Continuing operation $ 08 $ 174 $ 2068 $ 13¢ $ 1.7¢ $ 168 $ 027 $ 03C $ (087) $ 0.1C
Discontinued operations, n — — — (1.4¢) 0.3€ 0.3C 0.5z (0.39) 0.24 (0.32)
Accounting changes, net — — — — — (0.08) — (0.3¢) — —
Net income (loss $ 08 $ 174 $ 208 $ (0172 $ 206 $ 187 $ 08 $ (042 $ (0.6% $ (0.29
Diluted:

Continuing operation $ 081 $ 17 $ 207 $ 13¢ $ 17¢ $ 16t $ 027 $ 03C $ (087) $ 0.1C
Discontinued operations, n — — — (1.4¢) 0.3€ 0.2¢ 0.52 (0.39) 0.2 (0.32)
Accounting changes, net — — — — — (0.08) — (0.38) — —
Net income (loss $ 081 $ 17 $ 207 $ (0172 $ 206 $ 18 $ 08 $ (042 $ (0.6% $ (0.29
Common Cash Dividenc 0.8 0.8C 0.8C 0.8 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8(C 0.8C
Market price of common

stock:

High 22.3¢ 19.7¢ 30.3¢ 24.5¢ 22.6¢ 25.3¢ 22.9¢ 20.5: 22.6( 22.7¢
Low 14.3¢ 8.97 12.52 15.9i 14.22 16.6¢ 15.2( 14.9i 13.8¢ 12.0¢t
Year enc 20.52 17.52 18.0¢ 19.3¢ 16.52 19.6¢ 22.0z 20.0¢ 15.5¢ 16.1¢
Other

Capital expenditure $ 85 $ 13t $ 18C $ 7€ $ 62 $ 63 $ 38 % 33 % 24 $ 29
Depreciatior 85 70 68 47 38 36 33 40 51 55
Common dividends pai 63 63 61 59 58 57 56 47 39 35
Purchases of common sto — — — — — — — — 3 14
Current ratic 23 2.8 1.7 1.8 2.2 23 21 21 24 1.8

Total debt to tota



capitalization 37.4%
Effective tax rate 15.7%
Average common shares

outstanding- diluted 79.€
Shareholder 4,60(
Employees®) 3,70C

Our Selected Financial Data reflects the followlnginesses as discontinued operations: Metalsdasin 2007 and Olin Aegis in
2004. Since August 31, 2007, our Selected Finhbata reflects the Pioneer acquisition.

32.%
35.&%

78.%
4,90(
3,70(

26.%%
38.£%

76.1
5,10(
3,60(

28.1%
33.1%

74.:
5,30(
3,60(

31.&%
24.2%

72.€
5,70(C
3,10

37. ™%
38.4%

71.€
6,10(
2,90(

46.£%
29.6%

68.4
6,40(
2,80(

1) Employee data exclude employees who workemeernment-owned/contractor-operated facilities.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Our manufacturing operations are concentrated imkusiness segments: Chlor Alkali Products andcWéster. Both are capital intensive
manufacturing businesses with operating rates lgloss to the general economy. Each segment ltasranodity element to it, and therefore, our
ability to influence pricing is quite limited onetportion of the segment’s business that is sgridimmodity. Our Chlor Alkali Products businessiis
commodity business where all supplier productssanglar and price is the major supplier selectidtecion. We have little or no ability to influeec
prices in this large, global commodity market. [@al price swings, driven by changes in supply/ded) can be abrupt and significant and, given
capacity in our Chlor Alkali Products business, t=ad to very significant changes in our overatifiability. Winchester also has a commodity
element to its business, but a majority of Winclleammunition is sold as a branded consumer pradioete there are opportunities to differentiate
certain offerings through innovative new productelepment and enhanced product performance. \Wbilgpetitive pricing versus other branded
ammunition products is important, it is not theyofalctor in product selection.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS
2010 Year

In 2010, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income 447.2 million, a decrease of 7% compared withptfier year. Chlor Alkali Products’
began to experience improved chlorine and caustia slemand during 2010 and experienced a recoetldébleach sales. Volumes for chlorine
caustic soda improved 15% compared to 2009, wiolermes for bleach improved 18%. Operating rateShtor Alkali Products for 2010 and 2009
were 82% and 70%, respectively.

Our 2010 ECU netbacks of $475 were 9% lowan tihe 2009 netbacks of $520; however, the pritiggd has been positive throughout
2010 as ECU netbacks increased sequentially frenfotln level of $375 in the third quarter of 200Bhe fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was
$515. As business conditions improved through@102 our quarterly chlor alkali operating rates ioyed year-ovegear by at least 10% peaking
the third quarter of 2010 with a 91% operating dhiieng the summer demand season. A significartquoof the North American chlor alkali
demand improvement came from exports of productdenfimm chlorine, driven by the energy advantagetiNamerica enjoys by using natural gas
as compared to crude oil. With demand for botlerghé and caustic soda improving, price increase®\announced throughout the year. During
February 2010, an $80 per ton caustic soda priease was announced. We began realizing a patitris price increase in caustic soda in the
second quarter of 2010. Caustic soda demand cmtito improve, and as a result, during the thirartgr of 2010, three additional caustic soda
price increases were announced totaling $135 per\fée believe that a portion of the $135 per tanstic soda price increases announced during the
third quarter of 2010 will be realized. We antatip some additional benefits from these price amee and from contracts that re-set on an annual
basis to be realized in the first half of 2011. didnally, we announced a $40 per ton caustic gt increase in January 2011. While the success
of this $40 per ton caustic soda price increas®igyet known, some portion of the benefits of firise increase, if realized, would impact our syt
beginning in the second quarter of 2011.
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Winchester segment income of $63.0 millio2@10, which represented the second highest levegrhent income in at least the last two
decades, declined 8% compared to the prior yeansegincome of $68.6 million. The higher than nattevels of commercial demand that began
in the fourth quarter of 2008 continued throughgbeond quarter of 2010. Beginning with the tlgjuérter of 2010, Winchester began to experience
a decline in commercial demand from the 2009 levelewever, the second half of 2010 commercial detramained stronger than 2007
levels. Commercial volumes, excluding rimfire, #8010 decreased approximately 12% from prior yeeels.

On December 9, 2010, our board of directo@yped a plan to convert the 260,000 tons of mgrcall capacity at our Charleston, TN
facility to 200,000 tons of membrane capacity cépalb producing both potassium hydroxide and causida. The project has an estimated capital
cost of approximately $160 million. The board okdtors also approved a plan to reconfigure ougusta, GA facility to manufacture bleach and
distribute caustic soda, while discontinuing chdtkali manufacturing at this site. This action wéduce our chlor alkali manufacturing capacity by
100,000 tons. We based our decision on sever@rfacFirst, over the past eighteen months we eaperienced a steady increase in the number of
customers unwilling to accept our products manufaect using mercury cell technology. Second, tiefederal legislation that was passed in 2008
governing the treatment of mercury that signifibahimits our recycling options after December 2012. We concluded that exiting mercury cell
technology production after 2012 represented acaepable future cost risk. Further, the conversibthe Charleston, TN plant to membrane
technology will reduce the electricity usage petF@oduced by approximately 25% and the configoratf the new plant will result in an increase
in our capacity to produce potassium hydroxidee @acision to reconfigure the Augusta, GA facildymanufacture bleach and distribute caustic
soda removes the highest cost production capaoity bur system. We currently expect to comple¢sehconversions by the end of 2012.

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thaddecision to relocate Winchester centerfire amitimn operations from East Alton,
IL to Oxford, MS. This relocation, when completéiforecast to reduce Winchester's annual opegatosts by approximately $30
million. Consistent with this relocation decisise have initiated an estimated $110 million fivexyproject, which includes approximately $80
million of capital spending. The State of Misggsiand local governments have provided incentivieieh should offset approximately 40 percen
the capital spending. Once completed, Winchesigees to have the most modern centerfire ammumgioduction facility in North America.

Our total restructuring charge for 2010 redatethese actions was $34.2 million. The restnirety charge included write-off of equipment
and facility costs of $17.5 million, acceleratidhasset retirement obligations of $6.7 million, éayee severance and related benefit costs of $6.0
million, a non-cash pension and other postretird@rbenefits curtailment charge of $3.0 million, dedse and other contract termination costs of $1.0
million. We expect to incur additional chargestetl to the implementation of plans to exit the efsmercury cell technology in the chlor alkali
manufacturing process and the transfer of the Wisidh centerfire ammunition operations over the sexeral years; however, at this time, we are
not able to estimate the extent of any additiorpkases that may be incurred in connection witkdteetions.

Income before taxes for 2010 included $7.2 millidmecoveries from third parties for environmerttasts incurred and expensed in prior
periods. For 2009, income before taxes also irduB2.1 million of recoveries from third parties €nvironmental costs incurred and expensed in
prior periods.

Income tax expense for 2010 included $13.5 milbbfavorable adjustments associated with the etipitaf statutes of limitation in domes
and foreign jurisdictions and a reduction in exgeredated to the release of a valuation allowarcended against the foreign tax credit carryforward
deferred tax asset generated by our Canadian apesatincome tax expense for 2009 included $6l0amiof favorable adjustments associated with
the expiration of statutes of limitation in domesthd foreign jurisdictions and reductions in exggeassociated with the finalization of the 2008
income tax returns.
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In September 2010, we redeemed industrial develapara environmental improvement tax-exempt bomattuétrial revenue bonds) totaling
$18.9 million, with maturity dates of February 20dr6d March 2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 miliothe bond holders, which was included in
interest expense. We also recognized a $0.3 mitleferred gain in interest expense related tintieeest rate swaps, which were terminated in April
2010, on these industrial revenue bonds. In Oct®020, we redeemed additional industrial reverarab totaling $1.8 million, with a maturity date
of October 2014,

In October 2010, we completed a financing ofZ&ne and Recovery Zone tax-exempt bonds tot&litg0 million due 2024. We have the
option to borrow up to the entire $70.0 millionarseries of draw downs through December 31, 2@iking 2010, we drew $34.0 million of these
bonds. The proceeds from these bonds are requoiteel used to fund capital project spending atvdeintosh, AL facility. In December 2010, we
completed a financing of Recovery Zone tax exengpidls totaling $83.0 million due in 2033 and 208furing 2010, we drew the entire $83.0
million of the bonds. The proceeds from the boadsrequired to be used to fund the CharlestonfaENity mercury cell conversion and our Oxfa
MS Winchester relocation. Of the $117.0 millioman from the Go Zone and Recovery Zone bonds, $1®2lion of the associated cash was
classified as a noncurrent asset on our consolidaitance sheet as restricted cash, until suchaswee request reimbursement of qualifying amc
used to fund the capital projects in Alabama, Misipipi and Tennessee.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Healthcarewas signed into law on March 23, 2010 and theltHeare and Education Reconciliation
Act of 2010 was signed into law on March 31, 20ddlléctively the Healthcare Acts). The impactiwd Healthcare Acts did not have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements.

2009 Year

In 2009, Chlor Alkali Productssegment income was $125.4 million, a decline of @#apared with 2008. Chlor Alkali Products conéduic
experience the weak product demand that begareifotirth quarter of 2008. Volumes for chlorine aadstic soda decreased 22% compared to
2008. Volumes for bleach, which accounted for apipnately 12% of Chlor Alkali Products’ sales, isased 17% compared to 2008. Operating
rates in Chlor Alkali Products for 2009 and 2008&vé0% and 82%, respectively. These operating msume that 100% of our demonstrated
capacity was available for use. The capacity ofSiuGabriel, LA facility had been shutdown sita& November 2008 and the facility was not
available for use until the conversion and expanpimject was completed in the fourth quarter d@®0In addition, in response to low levels of
customer demand for chlorine and caustic sodadditianal 5% of our chlorine and caustic soda capaeas idled by us in 2009. After taking these
capacity reduction actions into consideration, eftective operating rate for 2009 was 78%.

Our 2009 ECU netbacks of $520 were 18% lower thar?D08 netbacks of $635, reflecting the changéseipricing dynamics in North
America. During 2008, North American demand fausta&c soda was strong, while supply continued tedrestrained by the weakness in chlorine
demand. This resulted in a significant supply dechand imbalance for caustic soda in North Ameridach resulted in record caustic soda
pricing. The result was a record ECU netbackunsystem, in the first quarter of 2009 of approaiety $765. Beginning late in the fourth quarter
of 2008 and continuing through 2009, demand fostiaisoda weakened significantly, and fell below demand for chlorine. This created excess
supply in North America, which caused caustic smdees to fall. The over supply of caustic sodaseal industry operating rates to be constrained,
which resulted in chlorine price increase annourergsof $300 per ton during the second quartef082 Caustic soda prices declined precipito
in the second quarter of 2009 and these declinetinc®d into the third quarter of 2009. During thied quarter of 2009, chlorine and caustic soda
demand became more balanced eliminating the ovelssopcaustic soda. We began realizing increaseslorine prices in the third quarter of 2(
with most of the improvement in the fourth quaé2009. ECU netbacks, in our system, bottomedrotite third quarter of 2009. During the
fourth quarter of 2009, as caustic soda demanddwgat, chlorine production declined due to seaspmedlaker demand. This resulted in a supply
and demand imbalance for caustic soda in North AgaerAs a result of this imbalance, in Decembd®@& $75 per ton caustic soda price increase
was announced. We began realizing the benefifsi®price increase in caustic soda in the fir$t bia2010.
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Winchester segment income of $68.6 million in 200Bich represented the highest level of segmemintecin at least the last two decades,
improved 110% compared to 2008 segment income 264Billion. Winchester continued to experience éfbove normal levels of demand during
2009 that began around the November 2008 presadetgiction. The increase in demand was across\#jerity of Winchester’'s product offerings,
including rifle, pistol and rimfire ammunition. Gnvolume basis, Winchester’s unit shipments irggda 4% in 2009 compared to 2008, which was
driven by the higher level of commercial sales.n@tiiester’s results reflected the impact of incréasdumes and higher selling prices, and lower
commodity and other material costs.

Income from continuing operations before taxe<2f09 included $82.1 million of recoveries from thipparties for environmental costs
incurred and expensed in prior periods.

On August 19, 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 8.8/Senior Notes (2019 Notes) with a maturity datAadust 15, 2019. The 2019 Notes
were issued at 99.19% of par value, providing &ytie maturity to investors of 9.0%. Interest &gsemi-annually in arrears on each February 15
and August 15. Proceeds of $145.5 million, afigremses of $3.3 million, from the 2019 Notes wesedito further strengthen our long-term
liquidity.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we completedaversion and expansion project at our St. Galdrielfacility and initiated
production. This project increased capacity & kbhcation from 197,000 ECUs to 246,000 ECUs agdiicantly reduced the site’s manufacturing
costs. Our capital spending included $69.6 milko $87.2 million for the St. Gabriel, LA faciligonversion and expansion project in 2009 and
2008, respectively.

During the second and third quarters of 2009, bikkse introduced in the United States House of &amtatives and the Senate, respectively,
which, if enacted, would ban the production of clalikali products using mercury cell technology tyears from the date it is enacted into law. On
October 21, 2009, the House of Representatives Geenon Energy and Commerce passed a bill thatdwegjuire chlor alkali producers using
mercury cell technology to make a decision by BMe2012 as to whether to shutdown or convert tfeskties. If the decision was to convert, the
mercury cell plants would have been required tadreverted by June 30, 2015. If the decision wasaoonvert, the plants would have been
required to be shutdown by June 30, 2013. Forilito become law it would have had to be padsethe full House of Representatives and the
Senate. The proposed legislation expired withoatement at the end of 2010 and we are uncertaim\abether or not similar legislation may be
proposed in the future. We currently operate taalities which utilize mercury cell technology &tihg approximately 360,000 ECUs of capacity
(approximately 18% of our capacity). We operateroarcury cell facilities in full compliance withl@nvironmental rules and regulations. On
December 9, 2010, our board of directors approvgldm@to convert the 260,000 tons of mercury caflacity at our Charleston, TN facility to
200,000 tons of membrane capacity capable of pindumth potassium hydroxide and caustic soda. bidaed of directors also approved a plan to
reconfigure our Augusta, GA facility to manufactiteach and distribute caustic soda, while disomiinig chlor alkali manufacturing at this site.
currently expect to complete these conversionhibyend of 2012.

2008 Year

In 2008, Chlor Alkali Products had record segmanbme of $328.3 million, an improvement of 38% canagl with 2007. This improvement
reflects the combination of the full year contribas from the Pioneer acquisition of $72.7 milliam;luding synergies, and improved pricing of
$108.4 million. These were partially offset by #féect from lower chlorine and caustic soda volara&$46.7 million. Operating rates in our Chlor
Alkali Products business were 82% for 2008, whigrennegatively impacted during the fourth quarfe2G®8 by lower levels of demand from all
major customer groups, and by hurricane-relatedgag at our St. Gabriel, LA facility and our SurniBeiht venture during the third quarter of
2008. In response to the low level of demand dypittire fourth quarter of 2008, we announced thaBth&abriel, LA facility, which was shutdown
for scheduled maintenance in late November 2008)dvaot resume operations until the conversionexmhnsion project was completed. The
project was completed in the fourth quarter of 2008e St. Gabriel, LA facility represents approately 10% of our chlorine and caustic soda
capacity.
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During the first three quarters of 2008, North Aican demand for caustic soda was strong. In agiditaustic soda supply was constrained
by the weakness in chlorine demand, which causedatipg rates to be reduced. This created an anbalbetween caustic soda supply and
demand. This imbalance, combined with increaseidlit and energy costs, resulted in our achiewéegnd levels of caustic soda pricing. During
fourth quarter of 2008, North American caustic sddmand weakened but less than the decline ininkldemand. This caused the caustic soda
supply and demand imbalance to continue, whichicoetl to support record levels of caustic sodaegric

On March 12, 2008, we announced that, in conneetitimour plans to streamline Chlor Alkali Produntanufacturing operations in Canada
in order to serve our customer base in a moregftesttive manner, we would close the acquired Dadiey New Brunswick, Canada chlorine, cau
soda, sodium chlorate, and bleach operations. Wstantially completed the closure of the Dalhotsidity by June 30, 2008. We expect to incur
cash expenditures of $2.5 million associated withghutdown, which were previously included in entdiabilities on the Pioneer acquisition
balance sheet. We have paid $2.2 million of cast®ciated with this shutdown as of December 31020 his action generated $8 million to $10
million of annual pretax savings.

Winchester segment income was $32.6 million in 20@8ch represented the highest level of segmemnie in at least the last two decade
that time for the Winchester business, an incred28% compared with 2007. Winchester’s result2fa08 reflected the combination of improved
pricing and increased law enforcement volumes whiohe than offset higher commodity, material anchafiacturing costs.

In 2008, other income (expense) included an impaitneharge of the full value of a $26.6 million @stment in corporate debt securities. On
October 1, 2008, the issuer of these debt secuati@ounced it would cease trading and appointevwer as a result of financial market turmoil. €
decline in the market value of the assets supmpttiase debt securities negatively impacted thedity of the issuer. During the third quarter of
2008, we determined that these debt securitiesbddir market value due to the actions taken leyissuer, turmoil in the financial markets, theklac
of liquidity of the issuer, and the lack of tradiimgthese debt securities. We are currently unebidilize the capital loss resulting from the
impairment of these corporate debt securitiesgefioege, no tax benefit has been recognized forrtipairment loss.

In 2008, the domestic defined benefit pension glamyestment portfolio declined by approximately.1%he decline reflected the weakness in
the domestic and international equity markets anceases in interest rate spreads, which redueedhibe of certain corporate fixed income
investments. The 2008 pension plan’s investmeribpeance reflects the actions taken in 2007 taicedhe defined benefit pension peeXxposurt
to equity investments and increase its exposufiged income investments. During the same peiiltyest rates on corporate bonds, used to
determine the defined benefit pension plan’s ligbdiscount rate, fluctuated dramatically durihg tyear but ended comparable with the levels at
December 31, 2007, which resulted in no changkddaliscount rate for 2008. We recorded an aftecitarge of $99.4 million ($162.7 million
pretax) to shareholders’ equity as of Decembe2808 for our pension and other postretirement plahgch reduced the over funded position in our
pension plan that existed at December 31, 2007s cfarge reflected the unfavorable performancpession plan assets and the unchanged dis
rate during 2008.

26




CHLOR ALKALI PRODUCTS PRICING

In accordance with industry practice, we calcu@dor Alkali Products’ prices on an ECU netbackipaeporting and analyzing prices net of
the cost of transporting the products to custorteeedlow for a comparable means of price compasdmatween periods and with respect to our
competitors. For purposes of determining our E@thack, we use prices that we realize as a refsétles of chlorine and caustic soda to our
customers, and we do not include the value of aidaaind caustic soda that is incorporated in ghheducts that we manufacture and sell.

Quarterly and annual average ECU netbacks, exgusiimBelt, for 2010, 2009, and 2008 were as follows

2010 2009 2008
First quarte! $ 44C % 765 % 58C
Second quarte 47C 58t 59C
Third quartel 46E 37t 66C
Fourth quarte 51t 42¢ 74C
Annual averag! 47% 52C 63¢

During the first three quarters of 2008, North Aican demand for caustic soda was strong. Howeeistic soda supply continued to be
constrained by the weakness in chlorine demand;iwtaused operating rates to be reduced. Thiftedsn a significant supply and demand
imbalance for caustic soda in North America. Tiibalance, combined with increased freight and g@neosts, resulted in our achieving record
levels of caustic soda pricing. During the fougtharter of 2008, North American caustic soda denveemkened but less than the decline in chlorine
demand. This caused the caustic soda supply andrikimbalance to continue, which continued to etpgcord levels of caustic soda prices. The
result was a record ECU netback, in our systertherfirst quarter of 2009.

Our 2009 ECU netbacks of $520 were 18% lower thar?D08 netbacks of $635, reflecting the changéseipricing dynamics in North
America. Beginning late in the fourth quarter 608 and continuing through 2009, demand for cassitita weakened significantly, and fell below
the demand for chlorine. This created excess guppllorth America, which caused caustic soda pricefall. The over supply of caustic soda
caused industry operating rates to be constraimeith resulted in chlorine price increase annourargsiof $300 per ton during the second quar
2009. Caustic soda prices declined precipitousthé second quarter of 2009 and these declingsoed into the third quarter of 2009. During the
third quarter of 2009, chlorine and caustic sodaaled became more balanced eliminating the overgufmaustic soda. We began realizing
increases in chlorine prices in the third quarfe2@®9 with most of the improvement in the fourtiagter of 2009. ECU netbacks, in our system,
bottomed out in the third quarter of 2009. Durihg fourth quarter of 2009, as caustic soda dermaptbved, chlorine production declined due to
seasonally weaker demand. This resulted in a g demand imbalance for caustic soda in Nortledea. As a result of this imbalance, in
December 2009, a $75 per ton caustic soda pricease was announced. We began realizing the benéfhis price increase in caustic soda in the
first half of 2010.
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Our 2010 ECU netbacks of $475 were 9% lowen tthe 2009 netbacks of $520; however, the prittiergd has been positive throughout
2010 as ECU netbacks increased sequentially frenfoth level of $375 in the third quarter of 200Bhe fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was
$515. As business conditions improved through®a02 our quarterly chlor alkali operating rates imfed year-oveyear by at least 10% peaking
the third quarter of 2010 with a 91% operating datgng the summer demand season. A significartiggoof the North American chlor alkali
demand improvement came from exports of productdenfieom chlorine, driven by the energy advantagetNamerica enjoys by using natural gas
as compared to crude oil. With demand for botleighé and caustic soda improving, price increase®\announced throughout the year. During
February 2010, an $80 per ton caustic soda prirease was announced. We began realizing a pattitis price increase in caustic soda in the
second quarter of 2010. Caustic soda demand cmtito improve, and as a result, during the thirargr of 2010, three additional caustic soda
price increases were announced totaling $135 per\fde believe that a portion of the $135 per tanstic soda price increases announced during the
third quarter of 2010 will be realized. We antatip some additional benefits from these price as®e and from contracts that re-set on an annual
basis to be realized in the first half of 2011. diinally, we announced a $40 per ton caustic gz increase in January 2011. While the success
of this $40 per ton caustic soda price increas®igyet known, some portion of the benefits of firise increase, if realized, would impact our eyt
beginning in the second quarter of 2011.

PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Under ASC 715, formerly SFAS No. 158, we recordedfer-tax charge of $26.0 million ($42.3 millipretax) to shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2010 for our pension and other pasne¢nt plans. This charge reflected a 45-basist gecrease in the plandiscount rate, partiall
offset by the favorable performance on plan ashatisg 2010. In 2009, we recorded an after-taxghdaf $27.3 million ($41.7 million pretax) to
shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2009 fopeusion and other postretirement plans. Thisgeheeflected a 50-basis point decrease in the
plans’ discount rate, partially offset by the faafole performance on plan assets during 2009. 08,20e recorded an after-tax charge of $99.4
million ($162.7 million pretax) to shareholders'ugly as of December 31, 2008 for our pension ahérmpostretirement plans. This charge reflected
the unfavorable performance on plan assets duf8g.2 The non-cash charges to shareholders’ edaityot affect our ability to borrow under our
senior revolving credit facility.

During the third quarter of 2006, the “Pension Betibn Act of 2006”, amended by “The Worker, Retirand Employer Recovery Act,”
during the fourth quarter of 2008, became law. Amthe stated objectives of the laws are the ptioteof both pension beneficiaries and the
financial health of the PBGC. To accomplish thelsgectives, the new laws require sponsors to fugfthdd benefit pension plans earlier than
previous requirements and to pay increased PBGRipnes. The laws require defined benefit pensiamglto be fully funded for 2011. Based on
our plan assumptions and estimates, we will natheired to make any cash contributions to the dbiméefined benefit pension plan at least
through 2011. We do have a small Canadian defaeeefit pension plan to which we made $9.8 milbor $4.5 million of cash contributions in
2010 and 2009, respectively, and we anticipatethems $5 million of cash contributions in 2011. Pécember 31, 2010, the market value of assi
our defined benefit pension plans of $1,800.4 prillexceeded the projected benefit obligation by $dllion.

Components of net periodic benefit (income) costgsaw
Years ended December 3!

2010 2009 2008
($ in millions)
Pension benefit $ 7.7 $ (16.7) $ (7.6)
Other postretirement benef 7.3 7.3 8.5
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In December 2010, we recorded a curtailment chizmgeension benefits of $3.2 million and a credit 6ther postretirement benefits of $0.2
million associated with the relocation of our Wiesker centerfire ammunition manufacturing operativom East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. These
amounts were included in the restructuring chaog®10. In 2008, we recorded curtailment chaafe®t.1 million associated with the transition of
a portion of our East Alton, IL Winchester hourlpskforce and our Mcintosh, AL Chlor Alkali hourlyoskforce from a defined benefit pension p
to a defined contribution pension plan.

In March 2010, we recorded a charge of $1.3 milisaociated with an agreement to withdraw our Hesoate NV chlor alkali hourly
workforce from a multi-employer defined benefit pem plan.

The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatechpogees of the operating segments are
allocated to the operating segments based onrésgective estimated census data.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December =

2010 2009 2008
(% in millions, except per share da

Sales $ 1585¢ $ 1531t % 1,764.
Cost of goods sol 1,349.¢ 1,222.7 1,377.:
Gross margir 236.( 308.¢ 387.3
Selling and administratio 134.¢ 135.: 137.:
Restructuring charg 34.2 — —
Other operating income 2.5 9.1 1.2

Operating incom: 69.¢ 182.€ 251.2
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate 29.¢ 37.7 39.4
Interest expens 25.4 11.€ 13.5
Interest incom: 1.C 11 6.2
Other income (expense) 1.5 0.1 (26.0)
Income before taxe 76.€ 209.¢ 257.k
Income tax provisiol 12.1 74.2 99.¢
Net income $ 64.6 $ 135.7 $ 157.7
Net income per common sha

Basic $ 08z $ 174 $ 2.0¢

Diluted $ 0.81 $ 178 $ 2.07

2010 Compared to 2009

Our total sales for 2010 were $1,585.9 million caneg to $1,531.5 million last year, an increas$5#.4 million, or 4%. Chlor Alkali
Products’ sales increased by $72.8 million, or g#ienarily due to increased shipment volumes pdytiaffset by lower ECU prices. Our ECU
netbacks, excluding SunBelt, decreased 9% comparedt year. Winchester sales decreased by $idllidn, or 3%, from 2009 primarily due to
the decline in shipments to commercial customeagtjglly offset by higher shipments to militaryténnational, industrial and law enforcement
customers.
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Gross margin decreased $72.8 million, or 24%, f&@09, primarily due to the impact of decreasedveres from third parties for
environmental costs incurred and expensed in peaods. Gross margin in 2010 was also impacteldwgr Winchester gross margin resulting
from decreased volumes and decreased Chlor Alkadisgmargin resulting from lower ECU netbacks, iplytoffset by higher volumes. Gross
margin as a percentage of sales decreased to 18@dthfrom 20% in 2009.

Selling and administration expenses in 2010 deerk&6.9 million, or 1%, from 2009, primarily dueltover bad debt costs of $6.7 million,
resulting from a deterioration in customer credi2D09, lower salary and benefit costs of $3.4iom|land decreased consulting charges of $1.4
million. These decreases were offset by higherinoame taxes of $4.7 million, primarily due toavérable resolution of a Canadian capital tax
matter in 2009, a higher level of legal and legdéted settlement expenses of $3.2 million, in@datock-based compensation expense of $1.9
million, primarily due to mark-to-market adjustmenand increased recruiting and relocation chasf&4.1 million. Selling and administration
expenses as a percentage of sales were 8% in 2d1®&in 2009.

Restructuring charge in 2010 of $34.2 millinaluded charges associated with the implementatigiians to exit the use of mercury cell
technology in the chlor alkali manufacturing pracéy the end of 2012 and the relocation of our \Wéster centerfire ammunition manufacturing
operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

Other operating income for 2010 decreased by $@l®@mfrom 2009. Other operating income for 204/0d 2009 included $1.1 million and
$1.6 million, respectively, of gains on the dispiasi of property, plant and equipment primarily @sated with the St. Gabriel, LA conversion and
expansion project. Other operating income for 2888 included a $3.7 million gain on the saleamid, a $1.2 million gain on the disposition of a
former manufacturing facility and a $0.8 millionigdor the sale of other assets.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates wer@.$2nillion for 2010, a decrease of $7.8 millioorfr 2009, primarily due to lower ECU
prices at SunBelt.

Interest expense increased by $13.8 million for®fdmarily due to a higher level of outstandindpdend a decrease of $8.8 million in
capitalized interest primarily associated with 8trGabriel, LA facility conversion and expansianjpct, which was completed in the fourth quarter
of 2009, partially offset by lower interest rates.

Interest income decreased by $0.1 million, or 9fppared to 2009, primarily due to lower short-témkerest rates, partially offset by higher
average cash balances.

Other income (expense) in 2010 included a $1.4anillecovery from an investment in corporate debusities that was written off in 2008.

The effective tax rate for 2010 included a $9.2iomlreduction in expense associated with the @tjoin of statutes of limitation in domestic
and foreign jurisdictions, and a $4.3 million retioi in expense related to the release of a vanatilowance recorded against the foreign tax tredi
carryforward deferred tax asset generated by ona@ian operations. After giving considerationhese two items of $13.5 million, the effective tax
rate for 2010 of 33.3% was lower than the 35% tfe8eral statutory rate primarily due to favoralale benefits of permanent tax deduction items,
including the domestic manufacturing deduction &Enddeductible dividends paid to the Contributingtoyee Ownership Plan (CEOP), which w
offset in part by state income taxes. During siof low earnings, our effective tax rate canigaiicantly impacted by permanent tax reduction
items, return to provision adjustments, changeaxrcontingencies and valuation allowances, anditedits. The effective tax rate for 2009 inclu
a $2.8 million reduction in expense primarily asated with the finalization of the 2008 income taturns, which resulted in lower state tax expe
and a $3.2 million reduction in expense primarégaeciated with the expiration of statutes of litida in domestic and foreign jurisdictions. After
giving consideration to these two items of $6.0ioml, the effective tax rate for 2009 of 38.2%, vidgher than the 35% U.S. federal statutory rate
primarily due to state income taxes, which werasetfin part by the utilization of certain state taedits.
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2009 Compared to 2008

Our total sales for 2009 were $1,531.5 million caneg to $1,764.5 million in 2008, a decrease of3%2&illion, or 13%. Chlor Alkali
Products’ sales decreased by $311.6 million, or 2#%marily due to decreased shipment volumes engl ECU prices. Our ECU netbacks,
excluding SunBelt, decreased 18% compared to 2W0i8chester sales increased by $78.6 million, & 18om 2008 primarily due to increased
volumes.

Gross margin decreased $78.5 million, or 20%, fA®8, due to decreased Chlor Alkali gross margsalting from lower volumes and
decreased ECU netbacks, partially offset by impdoénchester gross margin resulting from higheuwwds and lower commodity and other
material costs. The 2009 gross margin was poSitingoacted by recoveries from third parties fovieonmental costs incurred and expensed in |
periods of $82.1 million. Gross margin as a petaga of sales decreased to 20% in 2009 from 222008.

Selling and administration expenses in 2009 deere$8.0 million, or 1%, from 2008, primarily dueltaver non-income taxes of $5.3
million, primarily due to a favorable resolution @fCanadian capital tax matter, lower recruitind eglocation charges of $4.3 million, and decreased
management incentive compensation expense of $flidnnwhich included mark-to-market adjustmentssiock-based compensation, partially
offset by a higher level of legal and legal-relasettlement expenses of $3.6 million, which inctlidests for recovery actions for environmental
costs previously incurred and expensed, a higterigion for doubtful customer accounts receivalil§26 million related to a deterioration in
customer credit, increased consulting and professi@es of $2.3 million and higher salary and lfitcests of $1.6 million. Selling and
administration expenses as a percentage of salesdf@in 2009 and 8% in 2008.

Other operating income in 2009 increased by $7I18omifrom 2008. Other operating income for 2088luded gains of $6.5 million on the
disposition of property, plant, and equipment coragao a loss of $0.7 million for 2008. The 20@8ng were primarily associated with sales of real
estate and dispositions of assets associated vatBtt Gabriel, LA facility conversion and expamspyoject. Other operating income for 2009 also
included a gain of $0.8 million for the sale of etlassets.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates weré@.$3nillion for 2009, a decrease of $1.7 millioarfr 2008, primarily due to lower ECU
prices at SunBelt, partially offset by increasethewys at our bleach joint venture.

Interest expense decreased by $1.7 million, or I8%009 primarily due to an increase of $4.7 millin capitalized interest associated with
our St. Gabriel, LA facility conversion and expamsproject and a major maintenance capital pr@eour Mcintosh, AL facility, partially offset by
higher level of outstanding debt.

Interest income decreased by $5.1 million, or 8282009 primarily due to lower short-term interesties.
Other income (expense) in 2008 included an impaitrakarge for the full value of a $26.6 million @stment in corporate debt securities.

The effective tax rate for 2009 included a $2.8iorilreduction in expense primarily associated wiith finalization of the 2008 income tax
returns, which resulted in lower state tax expeasd,a $3.2 million reduction in expense primaaibgociated with the expiration of statutes of
limitation in domestic and foreign jurisdictiongfter giving consideration to these two items of@Gfillion, the effective tax rate for 2009 of 3%?2
was higher than the 35% U.S. federal statutorypéetearily due to state income taxes, which wefseifin part by the utilization of certain statg ta
credits. The effective tax rate for 2008 inclugegense of $10.4 million for a valuation allowamequired against the deferred tax benefit resulting
from the $26.6 million capital loss carryforwarchgeated from the impairment of corporate debt sgesr The effective tax rate for 2008 also
included a $2.1 million reduction in expense priflyaassociated with the finalization of the 200€ame tax returns, which resulted in an increased
benefit for the domestic manufacturing deductidviter giving consideration to these two items of38hillion, the effective tax rate for 2008 of
35.5% was higher than the 35% U.S. federal statutde primarily due to state income taxes, whienenoffset in part by the benefit of the domestic
manufacturing deduction and the utilization of agrtstate tax credits.
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SEGMENT RESULTS

We define segment results as income (loss) befbeeeist expense, interest income, other operatcanie, other income (expense), and
income taxes and include the results of non-codatdd affiliates. Consistent with the guidancA8C 280 “Segment Reporting” (ASC 280),
formerly SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segmeaitan Enterprise and Related Information,” (SFAS N8l), we have determined it is
appropriate to include the operating results of-consolidated affiliates in the relevant segmerdriiial results. Our management considers Sul
to be an integral component of the Chlor Alkali drots segment. They are engaged in the same basintvity as the segment, including joint or
overlapping marketing, management, and manufagtdunctions.

Years ended December :

2010 2009 2008
Sales: (% in millions)
Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,036 $ 963.f $ 1,275.
Wincheste! 549.: 567.i 489.1
Total sales $ 1585.¢ $ 1531 $ 1,764.
Income before taxe
Chlor Alkali Products® $ 1172 $ 125«  $ 328.:
Winchestel 63.C 68.€ 32.€
Corporate/Other
Pension incom® 24.¢ 228 14.¢
Environmental (expense) incor®) 9.1 58.C (27.7)
Other corporate and unallocated cc (64.2) (63.7) (58.6)
Restructuring charg® (34.2 — —
Other operating incom®) 2.5 9.1 1.2
Interest expens(®) (25.9 (11.¢ (13.9
Interest incomt 1.C 11 6.2
Other income (expensE) 1.t 0.1 (26.0
Income before taxe $ 76.¢ $ 209.¢ 3 257.t

(1) Earnings of no-consolidated affiliates are included in the Chidkali Products segment results consistent with rgarmeen’s monitoring of
the operating segment. The earnings from non-dilaged affiliates were $29.9 million, $37.7 millipand $39.4 million for the years ended
2010, 2009 and 2008, respective

(2) The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatdeeterhployees of the operating segmi
are allocated to the operating segments basedemréispective estimated census data. All otherpoments of pension costs are included in
corporate/other and include items such as the ¢éggeeturn on plan assets, interest cost and rézedjactuarial gains and losses. Pension
income for the year ended December 31, 2010 indladeharge of $1.3 million associated with an ages# to withdraw our Henderson, NV
chlor alkali hourly workforce from a multi-employdefined benefit pension plan. Pension incomehferyear ended December 31, 2008
included curtailment charges of $4.1 million asated with the transition of a portion of our EadtbA, IL Winchester hourly workforce and
our Mcintosh, AL Chlor Alkali Produc’ hourly workforce from a defined benefit pensionrpta a defined contribution pension pli
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(3) Environmental (expense) income for the yeaded 2010 and 2009 included $7.2 million and $82illion, respectively, of recoveries from
third parties for costs incurred and expensedior periods. Environmental (expense) income isiiged in cost of goods sold in the
consolidated statements of operatic

(4) Restructuring charge for the year ended Decemhe2@®ID of $34.2 million included charges associatéd the implementation of plans
exit the use of mercury cell technology in the claltixali manufacturing process by the end of 2042 the relocation of our Winchester
centerfire ammunition manufacturing operations fieast Alton, IL to Oxford, MS

(5) Other operating income for the years ended 201®aA8 included $1.1 million and $1.6 million of gaion the disposal of assets prima
associated with the St. Gabriel, LA conversion erpiansion project. Other operating income for 28188 included a $3.7 million gain on 1
sale of land, a $1.2 million gain on the dispositad a former manufacturing facility and $0.8 nai for the sale of other asse

(6) Interest expense was reduced by capitalizedest of $0.9 million, $9.7 million and $5.0 nilfi for the years ended 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively

(7)  Other income (expense) in 2010 included a $iildon recovery from a $26.6 million investmentcéorporate debt securities, whose full value
was written off in 2008. We are currently unaldaitilize the capital loss resulting from the impaent of these corporate debt securities;
therefore, no tax benefit has been recognizechimimpairment loss

Chlor Alkali Products
2010 Compared to 2009

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2010 were $1,036lion compared to $963.8 million for 2009, amiease of $72.8 million, or 8%. The
sales increase was primarily due to higher chlosimeé caustic soda volumes of 15%, partially offsetower ECU pricing, which decreased 9% from
2009. Volumes for potassium hydroxide increase¥ 5& 2010 primarily reflecting a raw material slypgisruption that impacted the first half of
2009 volumes. Bleach volumes and hydrochloric &oldmes also increased 18% and 10%, respectif@l2010. Sales for potassium hydroxide,
bleach, and hydrochloric acid represented appraeiin25% of Chlor Alkali Products’ sales in 2010ur ECU netbacks, excluding SunBelt, were
approximately $475 compared to approximately $52@009. Freight costs included in the ECU netldatreased 4% for 2010 compared to 2009,
and reflected the benefits of increased pipeliriprsénts associated with the full year operationswfSt. Gabriel, LA facility, which more than
offset higher railroad freight rates. Our opergtiate for 2010 was 82%, compared to our operatiteyof 70% for 2009. The higher operating rate
for 2010 resulted from higher chlorine, bleach hgdrochloric acid demand.

Chlor Alkali Products’ posted segment income of B21million for 2010 compared to $125.4 million 2009, a decrease of $8.2 million, or
7%. Chlor Alkali segment income was lower primadue to lower ECU netbacks ($109.2 million) andido earnings of non-consolidated affiliates
($7.8 million), primarily related to lower ECU nettks at SunBelt, partially offset by increased wus ($97.3 million) and decreased operating t
($11.5 million), primarily raw materials and elécity. The operating results from SunBelt includetérest expense of $3.5 million and $4.0 million
in 2010 and 2009, respectively, on the SunBelt blote
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2009 Compared to 2008

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2009 were $963.llion compared to $1,275.4 million for 2008, a derse of $311.6 million, or 24%. The
sales decrease was primarily due to lower chlaim caustic soda volumes of 22%, and lower ECUngrjavhich decreased 18% from
2008. Volumes for bleach, which accounted for apipnately 12% of Chlor Alkali Products’ sales, inased 17% compared to 2008. Our ECU
netbacks, excluding SunBelt, were approximately0$&@mpared to approximately $635 for 2008. Freggists included in the ECU netback
increased 9% for 2009 compared to 2008. Our opereate for 2009 was 70%, compared to our opeyatite of 82% for 2008. The lower
operating rate for 2009 was the result of lowerstiatsoda and chlorine demand.

Chlor Alkali Productsposted segment income of $125.4 million for 2008pared to $328.3 million for 2008, a decrease @232 million, o
62%. Chlor Alkali segment income was lower prirhyadue to lower ECU netbacks ($126.9 million), d=sed volumes ($69.1 million), higher
operating costs ($5.2 million), and lower earnin§aon-consolidated affiliates ($1.7 million). Tlmver earnings of non-consolidated affiliates
primarily resulted from lower ECU prices at SunBphirtially offset by increased earnings at ouablkejoint venture. The operating results from
SunBelt included interest expense of $4.0 milliod 4.4 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively tioa SunBelt Notes.

Winchester
2010 Compared to 2009

Winchester sales were $549.3 million for 2010 coragdo $567.7 million for 2009, a decrease of $18ilion, or 3%. Sales of ammunition
to domestic commercial customers decreased $38i8mmiBeginning with the third quarter of 2010,iWghester began to experience a decline in
commercial demand from the 2009 levels. HoweVer second half of 2010 commercial demand remaittedger than the 2007 levels. These
decreases in domestic commercial sales were aciget by higher shipments to military customef$7.9 million, higher shipments to
international customers of $5.4 million and inceshshipments to industrial customers, who primagilgply the construction sector, of $4.1
million. Shipments to law enforcement agencies alsreased $2.7 million.

Winchester reported segment income of $63.0 mifi@r2010 compared to $68.6 million for 2009, aréese of $5.6 million, or 8%. The
decrease was primarily due to the combination wklovolumes, a less favorable product mix and higiperating costs ($11.3 million), partially
offset by improved pricing, decreased commodity ather material costs, and lower bad debt costs ($lion).

2009 Compared to 2008

Winchester sales were $567.7 million for 2009 coragdo $489.1 million for 2008, an increase of $7&illion, or 16%. Sales of
ammunition to domestic and international commercigtomers increased $66.1 million. Winchestetinard to experience the above normal le
of demand in 2009 that began around the Novem@8 péesidential election. The increase in demaasl across the majority of Winchester’'s
product offerings, including rifle, pistol and riimd ammunition. Shipments to military customemoahcreased $20.3 million. These increases were
partially offset by lower shipments to industriakstomers, who primarily supply the constructiontee®f $7.8 million and decreased shipments to
law enforcement agencies of $3.3 million. On am@ basis, Winchester’'s overall unit shipmentsdased 14%, which was driven by the higher
level of commercial sales.

Winchester reported segment income of $68.6 mifiar2009 compared to $32.6 million for 2008, acr@ase of $36.0 million, or 110%. T

increase was primarily due to the impact of inceeagolumes and higher selling prices ($24.7 mi)liand decreased commodity and other material
costs partially offset by higher operating costs)($ million).
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Corporate/Other
2010 Compared to 2009

For 2010, pension income included in corporatefotras $24.6 million compared to $22.3 million f&0®. Pension income for 2010
included a charge of $1.3 million associated wittagreement to withdraw our Henderson, NV chloaklourly workforce from a multi-employer
defined benefit pension plan. On a total compaasid) defined benefit pension income for 2010 wias Bmillion compared to $16.7 million for
2009. Pension income on a total company basiaGh0 included a curtailment charge of $3.2 millemsociated with the relocation of our
Winchester centerfire ammunition manufacturing afiens from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS, which wialuded in the restructuring charge for
2010.

Charges to income for environmental investigatory eemedial activities were $9.1 million for 201dngpared to credits to income of $58.0
million for 2009, which included $7.2 million an®2.1 million, respectively, of recoveries from thparties for costs incurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges toniector environmental investigatory and remedialvit@s would have been $16.3 million for 2010
compared with $24.1 million for 2009. These charg#ate primarily to expected future investigatang remedial activities associated with past
manufacturing operations and former waste dispsites.

For 2010, other corporate and unallocated coste %@4.2 million compared with $63.1 million for 2)@n increase of $1.1 million, or
2%. The increase was primarily due to higher maroime taxes of $4.6 million, resulting from a faalole resolution of a Canadian capital tax matter
in 2009, increased management incentive compensatists of $2.3 million, which includes mark-to-ketradjustments on stock-based
compensation, and increased legal and legjated settlement expenses of $1.9 million, pytaifset by lower asset retirement obligation igjes of
$5.8 million, primarily related to decreases inraated costs for certain assets and lower spertiagexpected on projects completed in 2010, and
decreased salary and benefit costs of $1.9 million.

2009 Compared to 2008

For 2009, pension income included in corporatefotras $22.3 million compared to $14.8 million f&0B. Pension income for 2008
included a curtailment charge of $4.1 million asatal with the transition of a portion of our Eadton, IL Winchester hourly workforce and our
Mclintosh, AL Chlor Alkali hourly workforce from agfined benefit pension plan to a defined contridfoufbension plan. On a total company basis,
defined benefit pension income for 2009 was $16lifom compared to $7.6 million for 2008.

Credits to income for environmental investigatong aemedial activities were $58.0 million for 200&ich includes $82.1 million of
recoveries from third parties of costs incurred erpensed in prior periods. Without these recesein 2009, charges to income for environmental
investigatory and remedial activities would haverb&24.1 million for 2009 compared with $27.7 roiflifor 2008. These charges relate primarily to
expected future investigatory and remedial acésitissociated with past manufacturing operatiods@amer waste disposal sites.

For 2009, other corporate and unallocated coste %&8.1 million compared with $58.6 million in 2QG# increase of $4.5 million, or
8%. The increase was primarily due to higher astgement obligation charges of $4.4 million,rpairily related to increases in estimated costs for
certain assets, increased legal and legal-relattidrment expenses of $3.3 million, which includedts for recovery actions for environmental costs
previously incurred and expensed, increased cangudhd professional fees of $1.5 million and higbedary and benefit costs of $1.3 million,
partially offset by lower non-income taxes of $fillion, primarily due to a favorable resolution@fCanadian capital tax matter, and decreased
management incentive compensation costs of $1lbmilvhich includes mark-to-market adjustmentsstotk-based compensation.
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2011 OUTLOOK

Net income in the first quarter of 2011 is projekcte be in the $0.20 to $0.25 per diluted shargeartompared with $0.18 per diluted share in
the first quarter of 2010.

In Chlor Alkali Products, the first quarter of 204dgment earnings are expected to improve compauteath the fourth quarter of 2010
earnings of $36.5 million and the first quarte26f.0 earnings of $10.6 million. The improved seghearnings anticipate higher ECU netbacks and
chlorine and caustic soda shipment volumes. THerGtkali Products’ operating rate in the firstayter of 2011 is forecast to be in the 80% range,
which is comparable to the fourth quarter of 208\l of 80% and an improvement from the first qelaof 2010 level of 75%.

The fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was5$5Business conditions improved throughout 201h@, @lin’s quarterly chlor alkali
operating rates improved year-over-year by at 188%t peaking in the third quarter of 2010 with &®dperating rate during the summer demand
season. A significant portion of the North Ameniaczlor alkali demand improvement came from expoftsroducts made from chlorine, driven by
the energy advantage North America enjoys by usaigral gas as compared to crude oil. With denfantoth chlorine and caustic soda improv
price increases were announced throughout the y&aning the third quarter of 2010, three caustidasprice increases were announced totaling
per ton. We believe that a portion of the $135tparcaustic soda price increases announced diménthird quarter of 2010 will be realized. We
anticipate some additional benefits from theseepiricreases and from contracts that re-set on mmahbasis to be realized in the first half of
2011. Additionally, we announced a $40 per torstiaisoda price increase in January 2011. Whéesticcess of this $40 per ton caustic soda price
increase is not yet known, some portion of the fienef this price increase, if realized, would iagb our system beginning in the second quarter of
2011.

Bleach volumes in 2010 increased approximately &8#pared to 2009 levels as we began to see théitsesfeour initiatives to ship bleach
by rail. We have now experienced nine consecuuarters, on a year-over-year basis, of volume trémvbleach shipments at a rate in excess of
10%. We are currently forecasting an addition&oe16 20% growth in bleach shipments in 2011 congh#we2010. During 2010, approximately 9%
of our effective chlor alkali capacity was consumeaking bleach. The continuation of these initieti and the start-up of our first low salt, high
strength bleach facility in McIntosh, AL, whichegpected during the third quarter of 2011, wilve@rfuture growth.

Winchester first quarter 2011 segment earningegpected to be higher than the fourth quarter a02&Egment earnings of $3.6 million but
lower than the first quarter of 2010 segment egsiof $19.5 million. Higher commodity costs andiéw levels of commercial demand than the
year first quarter are expected to negatively infiest quarter of 2011 segment earnings. The éiighan normal levels of commercial demand
began in the fourth quarter of 2008 continued thotne second quarter of 2010. However, beginwiitlyg the third quarter of 2010, Winchester
began to experience a decline in commercial derfrand the 2009 levels.

Winchester’s fourth quarter 2010 acquired costllaf@nmodity metals increased compared to fourtartgr 2009 levels. The price of copper
increased 21%, the price of lead 7% and the pffieéno increased 18%. Winchester utilizes appratity three times as much lead as copper and
three times as much copper as zinc. As we lookdor into 2011, the price of copper will likely gent a significant challenge. During the second
half of 2010, there has been a steady rise intheage monthly price of copper from $2.94 per pomnilne to $4.17 per pound in December, with
daily spot prices in December approaching $4.5¢peand. During January, copper prices have coatirat the recent elevated levels and averaged
$4.35 per pound.
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On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thaddecision to relocate Winchester centerfire amitimn operations from East Alton,
IL to Oxford, MS. This relocation, when completéiforecast to reduce Winchester’'s annual opegatosts by approximately $30 million. We also
expect this relocation project to reduce Winchés@011 segment earnings before meaningful savangsealized beginning in 2013. The reduction
to Winchester 2011 segment income for this relocapiroject is estimated to be $4 million to $5 roiil

Without the recoveries of environmental costs inediand expensed in prior periods, we anticipaie2011 charges for environmental
investigatory and remedial activities will be iretfi25 million range, which is comparable with terage environmental cost for the last 5 years
higher than the 2010 level of $16.3 million. Weldieve that there are additional opportunitiesetmver environmental costs incurred and
expensed in prior periods, but the timing and thewant of any additional recoveries are uncertain.

We expect defined benefit pension plan income 120 be similar to the 2010 level. Based on tkeddnber 31, 2010 funding status, we
will not be required to make any cash contributitmeur domestic defined benefit pension plan ib220We do have a small Canadian defined
benefit pension plan to which we made $9.8 milkmr $4.5 million of cash contributions in 2010 2889, respectively, and we anticipate cash
contributions of less than $5 million in 2011.

We believe the 2011 effective tax rate will betie 86% to 37% range.

In 2011, we expect capital spending to be in tH&0%aillion to $250 million range, which includesesuling for the conversion of our
Charleston, TN facility from mercury cell technojop membrane technology and the relocation ofimchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations. The capital spendindgHerWinchester relocation will be partially finacby approximately $31 million of grants
provided by the State of Mississippi and local gameents. Also, we expect to continue capital spentbr the low salt, high strength bleach facility
located at our Mclintosh, AL site, which is expectedbe completed in 2011. We expect 2011 depieciaixpense to be approximately $90 million.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Years ended December =

2010 2009 2008
Cash outlays (receipts (% in millions)
Remedial and investigatory spending (charged terve$ $ 157 $ 19.C $ 23.7
Recoveries from third partie (7.2) (82.1) —
Capital spendin 1.3 2.9 5.2
Plant operations (charged to cost of goods sold) 24.1 24.4 22.E
Total cash outlays (receipt $ 33¢ $ (35.9 $ 51.7

Our liabilities for future environmental expendigrwere as follows:
December 31

2010 2009 2008
(% in millions)

Beginning balanc $ 166.1 $ 158.¢ $ 155.€
Charges to incom 16.2 24.1 27.7
Remedial and investigatory spend (15.7) (29.0 (23.7)
Pioneer acquired liabilitie — — 2.1
Currency translation adjustments 0.9 2.1 (2.9
Ending balanc: $ 167.¢ $ 166.1 $ 158.¢
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Total environmental-related cash outlays in 20@eased compared to 2009 due to the lower recevidm third parties of costs incurred
and expensed in prior periods. Remedial and ifgesiry spending was lower in 2010 than 2009 dustopleting a remedial action at a site in 2
and principally completing an investigation at enfer manufacturing site in 2009. Remedial and stigatory spending was lower in 2009 than 2
due to reduced spending at two former Pioneer aitdprincipally completing an investigation abanfier manufacturing site in 2009 partially offset
by spending in 2009 to complete remedial actioam site. Total environmental-related cash outlay2011 are estimated to be approximately $55
million, of which $28 million is expected to be sp@n investigatory and remedial efforts, $3 million capital projects and $24 million on normal
plant operations. Remedial and investigatory sipgnid anticipated to be higher in 2011 than 2046 t the implementation of remedial actions at
two former manufacturing sites and one former wediposal site. Historically, we have funded oavieonmental capital expenditures through cash
flow from operations and expect to do so in theifet

Cash outlays for remedial and investigatory agé@siissociated with former waste sites and pasatpes were not charged to income but
instead were charged to reserves established ¢braasts identified and expensed to income in ygars. Cash outlays for normal plant operations
for the disposal of waste and the operation andhi@aance of pollution control equipment and faei#itto ensure compliance with mandated and
voluntarily imposed environmental quality standandse charged to income.

In the United States, the establishment and impheatien of federal, state, and local standardegulate air, water and land quality affect
substantially all of our manufacturing locatiorfsederal legislation providing for regulation of timanufacture, transportation, use, and disposal of
hazardous and toxic substances, and remediatioontdminated sites, has imposed additional regylagmuirements on industry, particularly the
chemicals industry. In addition, implementatioreaironmental laws, such as the Resource Congemeand Recovery Act and the Clean Air Act,
has required and will continue to require new @@kpenditures and will increase plant operatiogf€ Our Canadian facility is governed by fec
environmental laws administered by Environment @arend by provincial environmental laws enforcedbsninistrative agencies. Many of these
laws are comparable to the U.S. laws describedeab@¥e employ waste minimization and pollution gneton programs at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufaacilities and former waste dispo
sites. Associated costs of investigatory and réahedtivities are provided for in accordance wgdnerally accepted accounting principles gover
probability and the ability to reasonably estimfaiteire costs. Our ability to estimate future calpends on whether our investigatory and remedial
activities are in preliminary or advanced stagésth respect to unasserted claims, we accrue ii@silfor costs that, in our experience, we mayinc
to protect our interests against those unasseld@ds Our accrued liabilities for unassertedroiamounted to $3.4 million at December 31,

2010. With respect to asserted claims, we acéabdities based on remedial investigation, fediibstudy, remedial action and operation,
maintenance and monitoring (OM&M) expenses thatunexperience, we may incur in connection with disserted claims. Required site OM&M
expenses are estimated and accrued in their griimetequired periods not exceeding 30 years, iwhéasonably approximates the typical duratic
long-term site OM&M. Charges or credits to incofoeinvestigatory and remedial efforts were matenaoperating results in 2010, 2009 and 2008
and may be material to operating results in fupaars.

Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, veeréollows:

Years ended December =

2010 2009 2008
($ in millions)
Charges to incom $ 16.2 $ 241 3 27.1
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exygensed in prior periods (7.2) (82.7) —
Total environmental expense (incon $ 9.1 $ (58.0 $ 27.1
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These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufacguoperations and former waste disposal
sites.

Our total estimated environmental liability at #red of 2010, was attributable to 68 sites, 17 dttiwere USEPA National Priority List
(NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 78% of owmirenmental liability and, of the remaining 58 sit@o one site accounted for more than 3% of our
environmental liability. At one of these ten sjtagemedial action plan is being implemented five of the ten sites, part of the site is subjec
remedial investigation and another part is in tregtterm OM&M stage. At one of these ten sitegraedial investigation is being performed. At
one site, part of the site is subject to a remealitibn plan and part of the site to long-term OM&NMhe two remaining sites are in long-term
OM&M. All ten sites are either associated with tpasnufacturing operations or former waste dispsies. None of the ten largest sites represents
more than 20% of the liabilities reserved on ourswidated balance sheet at December 31, 201@tioref environmental expenditures.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liatsliioe future environmental expenditures to investigand remediate known sites amounting
to $167.6 million at December 31, 2010, and $16illion at December 31, 2009, of which $139.6 roifliand $131.1 million, respectively, were
classified as other noncurrent liabilities. Ouviesnmental liability amounts did not take into acot any discounting of future expenditures or any
consideration of insurance recoveries or advantéschnology. These liabilities are reassesseddieally to determine if environmental
circumstances have changed and/or remediationg#iod our estimate of related costs have changed result of these reassessments, future
charges to income may be made for additional lizsl Of the $167.6 million included on our colidated balance sheet at December 31, 2010 for
future environmental expenditures, we currentlyestpo utilize $99.5 million of the reserve fordu environmental expenditures over the next 5
years, $20.8 million for expenditures 6 to 10 yearhe future, and $47.3 million for expenditubeyond 10 years in the future. These estimate
subject to a number of risks and uncertaintieslessribed in Item 1A “Risk Factors—Environmentak@d’

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation, capital projectsl aarmal plant operations are expected to
range between $50 million to $70 million over tlexinseveral years, $20 million to $40 million ofielnis for investigatory and remedial efforts,
which are expected to be charged against reseegesded on our balance sheet. While we do notipate a material increase in the projected
annual level of our environmental-related cashayst| there is always the possibility that suchrengase may occur in the future in view of the
uncertainties associated with environmental exgssuEnvironmental exposures are difficult to as$esnumerous reasons, including the
identification of new sites, developments at sitesilting from investigatory studies, advanceohhology, changes in environmental laws and
regulations and their application, changes in r&guy authorities, the scarcity of reliable datagiaing to identified sites, the difficulty in asssing
the involvement and financial capability of othd&MBs, and our ability to obtain contributions frother parties and the lengthy time periods over
which site remediation occurs. It is possible #@he of these matters (the outcomes of whichwjest to various uncertainties) may be resolved
unfavorably to us, which could materially adversafect our financial position or results of op@ats. At December 31, 2010, we estimate it is
reasonably possible that we may have additionairgent environmental liabilities of $50 million addition to the amounts for which we have
already recorded as a reserve.

LEGAL MATTERS AND CONTINGENCIES

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vatemad actions (including proceedings based omatleexposures to asbestos) incidental to
our past and current business activities. We desesome of these matters in “ltem 3—Legal Proaegsdi At December 31, 2010 and 2009, our
consolidated balance sheets included liabilitiegtHese legal actions of $18.1 million and $15.8iam, respectively. These liabilities do not inde
costs associated with legal representation. Basexlr analysis, and considering the inherent daiteies associated with litigation, we do not
believe that it is reasonably possible that thegallactions will materially adversely affect ounaicial statements or results of operations imier
term.
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During the ordinary course of our business, comtitoges arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances involving
an uncertainty as to the realization of a posgihie contingency. In certain instances such ag@mwental projects, we are responsible for
managing the cleanup and remediation of an enviemah site. There exists the possibility of recovwg a portion of these costs from other
parties. We account for gain contingencies in etaace with the provisions of ASC 450 “ContingestigASC 450), formerly SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies,” (SFAS No. 5), ametefore do not record gain contingencies and m@zegncome until it is earned and realizable.

LIQUIDITY, INVESTMENT ACTIVITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

Cash Flow Data
Years ended December :

2010 2009 2008

Provided by (used for ($ in millions)

Net operating activitie $ 115%  $ 2002 $ 115.€
Capital expenditure (85.9) (137.9 (180.9)
Increase in restricted cash, | (202.0) — —
Net investing activitie: (159.%) (87.7) (156.0
Long-term debt borrowings (repayments), 96.2 150.: (11.9)
Net financing activitie: 44.: 99.t (19.7)

Operating Activities

For 2010, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $84.7 million from 2009 primarily duddeer earnings partially offset by a
smaller increase in working capital. In 2010, wogkcapital increased $9.7 million compared withirmerease of $22.6 million in 2009. Our days
sales outstanding decreased by approximately twe clampared to prior year. Accounts payable aediad liabilities increased from December
2009 by $14.1 million. Inventories increased froecember 31, 2009 by $31.8 million, primarily doéhtgher commodity costs and a return to a
more normal level of inventory at Winchester. 4.0 cash from operations was also affected by7a0$8illion decrease in cash tax payments. In
2010, we made cash contributions to our foreigmeefbenefit pension plan of $9.8 million.

For 2009, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $84.6 million from 2008 primarily dueatsmaller increase in working capital tl
the prior year. In 2009, working capital increa$2@.6 million compared with an increase of $97ifion in 2008. Receivables decreased from
December 31, 2008 by $29.7 million, primarily doddwer sales. Our days sales outstanding wadstenswith 2008. Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities decreased from December 318280$43.5 million, primarily as a result of thening of payments and a $20.6 million payment
for the final settlement of working capital on thede of the Metals business, which was consistéhtthe estimated working capital adjustment we
anticipated from the transaction. The 2009 casimfoperations was also affected by a $57.9 milliearease in cash tax payments. In 2009, we
made cash contributions to our foreign defined biepension plan of $4.5 million.

Capital Expenditures

Capital spending was $85.3 million, $137.9 milliand $180.3 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respelst The decreased capital spending
in 2010 was primarily due to the St. Gabriel, LAgersion and expansion project, which was compligtéde fourth quarter of 2009. Capital
spending in 2010 included bleach manufacturingldedch shipping by railroad expansion projectfigd of our Chlor Alkali facilities. We
initiated construction of a low salt, high strengthach facility that will double the concentratiofhthe bleach we manufacture and should reduce
transportation costs. Capital spending for thagemt, which is expected to be in the $17 millior$520 million range, began in 2010 and is expected
to be completed in 2011. Capital spending in Z0BRided $69.6 million for the St. Gabriel, LA féii conversion and expansion project and also
increased investments in our bleach operation® iftrease in 2008 was primarily due to spendin§8adt2 million for the St. Gabriel, LA facility
conversion and expansion project and increasedgggfor a major maintenance capital project atMamtosh, AL facility. Capital spending was
100%, 196%, and 265% of depreciation in 2010, 20092008, respectively.
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In 2011, we expect our capital spending to be ®R30 million to $250 million range, which inclwdgpending for the conversion of our
Charleston, TN facility from mercury cell technojop membrane technology and the relocation ofimchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations. The capital spendingHerWinchester relocation will be partially finaacby approximately $31 million of grants
provided by the State of Mississippi and local gaweents.

Investing Activities

In 2010, we drew $117.0 million of Go Zone d&etovery Zone bonds and $102.0 million of the eissed cash was classified as a
noncurrent asset on our consolidated balance sbeestricted cash. The restricted cash is redjtirée used to fund capital projects in Alabama,
Mississippi and Tennessee.

The 2010, 2009 and 2008 distributions from affdthtompanies primarily reflected the cash impactunfshare of SunBelt's earnings.
Financing Activities

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Rego¥one bonds totaling $83.0 million due 2033 2685. During December 2010, we
drew the entire $83.0 million of the bonds. Theqgeeds remain with the trustee and are classifiedreoncurrent asset on our consolidated balance
sheet as restricted cash, until such time as weestgeimbursement of qualifying amounts usedterGharleston, TN facility mercury cell
conversion and our Oxford, MS Winchester relocation

In October 2010, we completed a financing of Go&Zand Recovery Zone bonds totaling $70.0 millioa 8024. During 2010, we drew
$34.0 million of the bonds. As of December 31,20#19.0 million of the proceeds remain with thestee and are classified as a noncurrent asset o
our consolidated balance sheet as restricted gashsuch time as we request reimbursement ofifyirad amounts used for capital project spending
at our Mclintosh, AL facility.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revennddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March 2016. We
paid a premium of $0.4 million to the bond holdevkjch was included in interest expense. We asognized a $0.3 million deferred gain in
interest expense related to the interest rate swapsh were terminated in April 2010, on theseuisttial revenue bonds. In October 2010, we
redeemed additional industrial revenue bonds taje$il.8 million, with a maturity date of October120

In August 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 2019 Noweith a maturity date of August 15, 2019. The20ibtes were issued at 99.19% of par
value, providing a yield to maturity to investofs9d0%. Interest is paid semi-annually in arreavrach February 15 and August 15. Proceeds of
$145.5 million, after expenses of $3.3 million,rfrehe 2019 Notes were used to further strengthetoog-term liquidity.

In February 2009, we reissued $1.5 million of Vialéarate Mississippi industrial revenue bonds, Wwhiere redeemed by us at par value in
October 2008. These were originally issued in 280&njunction with our relocation of a portiona@ir Winchester operations to Oxford, MS.

In March 2008, we repaid industrial development eandronmental improvement tax-exempt bonds, wiielured totaling $7.7 million that

were issued through the parish of Calcasieu, LAthedown of Mcintosh, AL. In January 2008, weaigpthe remaining $2.1 million of the 2.75%
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2027 y€xible Notes) acquired from Pioneer.
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During 2010, 2009 and 2008, we issued 172,968857 &nd 1,757,276 shares with a total value of §8lllon, $0.2 million and $37.4
million, respectively, representing stock optiorsreised. In addition, during 2010, 2009 and 20@8jssued 548,553; 1,260,693; and 947,643
shares of common stock, respectively, with a teahle of $10.2 million, $16.9 million and $18.1 hah, respectively, to the Olin CEOP. These
shares were issued to satisfy the investment irt@ommon stock resulting from employee contributjang matching contributions, retirement
contributions and re-invested dividends.

The percent of total debt to total capitalizatinoreased to 37.4% at December 31, 2010, from 32t6¢éar-end 2009 and 26.4% at year-end
2008. The 2010 increase from 2009 was due priyngrithe higher level of long-term debt at Decentier2010 resulting from the issuance of Go
Zone and Recovery Zone bonds, partially offsetighér shareholders’ equity resulting from the mebime for the year ended December 31,
2010. The 2009 increase from 2008 was due priyngrithe higher level of long-term debt at Decenier2009 resulting from the issuance of the
2019 Notes in August 2009, partially offset by l@gshareholders’ equity resulting from the net medor the year ended December 31, 2009.

Dividends per common share were $0.80 in 2010, 20@92008. Total dividends paid on common stockuarted to $63.3 million, $62.5
million and $60.6 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008spectively.

The payment of cash dividends is subject to therelion of our board of directors and will be detéred in light of then-current conditions,
including our earnings, our operations, our finahcondition, our capital requirements and othetdes deemed relevant by our board of
directors. In the future, our board of directorgynchange our dividend policy, including the fregeyeor amount of any dividend, in light of then-
existing conditions.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our principal sources of liquidity are from castldash equivalents, restricted cash, cash flow fsperations, and short-term borrowings
under our senior revolving credit facility. Additially, we believe that we have access to the alethequity markets.

Cash flow from operations is variable as a resulttoth the seasonal and the cyclical nature ofoparating results, which have been affected
by seasonal and economic cycles in many of thesinigis we serve, such as the vinyls, urethaneachJemmunition and pulp and paper. The
seasonality of the ammunition business, whichggcslly driven by the fall hunting season, and skasonality of the vinyls and bleach businesses,
which are stronger in periods of warmer weathguiclly cause working capital to fluctuate betw&® million to $100 million over the course of
the year. Cash flow from operations is affecteahgnges in ECU selling prices caused by the clsimgie supply/demand balance of chlorine and
caustic soda, resulting in the chlor alkali bussnleaving significant leverage on our earnings axghdlow. For example, assuming all other costs
remain constant and internal consumption remaipsoagmately the same, a $10 per ECU selling pritenge equates to an approximate $17 million
annual change in our revenues and pretax profinkeare operating at full capacity.

For 2010, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $84.7 million from 2009 primarily duddeer earnings partially offset by a
smaller increase in working capital. In 2010, wiagkcapital increased $9.7 million compared withirarease of $22.6 million in 2009. Our days
sales outstanding decreased by approximately twe clampared to prior year. Accounts payable aediad liabilities increased from December
2009 by $14.1 million. Inventories increased froecember 31, 2009 by $31.8 million, primarily doéhtgher commodity costs and a return to a
more normal level of inventory at Winchester. P40 cash from operations was also affected by7e0$Rillion decrease in cash tax payments. In
2010, we made cash contributions to our foreigmeefbenefit pension plan of $9.8 million.
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Capital spending was $85.3 million, $137.9 milliand $180.3 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, redpelst The decreased capital spending
in 2010 was primarily due to the St. Gabriel, LAwgersion and expansion project, which was compliteéde fourth quarter of 2009. Capital
spending in 2010 included bleach manufacturingldedch shipping by railroad expansion projecthiagd of our Chlor Alkali facilities. We
initiated construction of a low salt, high strengthach facility that will double the concentratiohthe bleach we manufacture and should reduce
transportation costs. Capital spending for thaggmt, which is expected to be in the $17 millior520 million range, began in 2010 and is expected
to be completed in 2011. Capital spending in 28@fuded $69.6 million for the St. Gabriel, LA féitsi conversion and expansion project and also
increased investments in our bleach operation® iftrease in 2008 was primarily due to spendirgg8at.2 million for the St. Gabriel, LA facility
conversion and expansion project and increaseddgpmgfor a major maintenance capital project atMaomtosh, AL facility. Capital spending was
100%, 196%, and 265% of depreciation in 2010, 20692008, respectively.

The unrestricted cash balance for 2010 was appairipnthe same as 2009. Based on our Decemb@020,cash balance of $458.6 million,
the restricted cash balance of $102.0 million,atailability of approximately $231.4 million of liddity from our senior revolving credit facilitynd
the $36.0 million not drawn from the Go Zone bois$sied in 2010, we believe we have sufficient biétyito meet our short-term and long-term
needs. Additionally, we believe that we have asteshe debt and equity markets.

Since 2006, we held corporate debt securities avjtlar value of $26.6 million. On October 1, 2008&, issuer of these debt securities
announced it would cease trading and appoint avecas a result of financial market turmoil. Tdecline in the market value of the assets
supporting these debt securities negatively imphttte liquidity of the issuer. We determined tthetse debt securities had no fair market value due
to the actions taken by the issuer, turmoil infthancial markets, the lack of liquidity of the iss, and the lack of trading in these debt
securities. Because of the unlikelihood that thiedet securities would recover in value, we recdrale after-tax impairment loss of $26.6 million in
other income (expense) in the third quarter of 200& are currently unable to utilize the capiteld resulting from the impairment of these corg
debt securities; therefore, no tax benefit has lbeeognized for the impairment loss. In Octobet@@ve recovered $1.4 million from the investn
in these corporate debt securities, which was dexbas a gain in other income (expense).

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $41.0 millior @35. The bonds were issued by
the Industrial Development Board of the County cddBey and the City of Cleveland, TN (TN Authorifyrsuant to a trust indenture between the
TN Authority and U. S. Bank National Associatios,teustee. The bonds were sold to PNC Bank, Naltidssociation (PNC Bank), as
administrative agent for itself and a syndicatpaticipating banks, in a private placement und€redit and Funding Agreement dated December
27, 2010, between us and PNC Bank. Proceeds tiothes will be loaned by the TN Authority to us end loan agreement, whereby we are
obligated to make loan payments to the TN Authasitfficient to pay all debt service and expensksed to the bonds. Our obligations under the
loan agreement and related note bear interedflattaating rate based on London InterBank OfféRede (LIBOR). The financial covenants in the
credit agreement mirror those in our senior revg\iredit facility. The bonds may be tenderedsgwithout premium) periodically beginning
November 1, 2015. During December 2010, we drew@#hillion of the bonds. The proceeds from thadmare required to be used to fund ca
project spending for our Charleston, TN facilitynoway cell conversion. The proceeds remain withttlistee and are classified as a noncurrent asse
on our consolidated balance sheet as restrictdd oasl such time as we request reimbursementiafifying amounts used for the Charleston, TN
facility mercury cell conversion.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $42.0 milliore @33. The bonds were issued by
the Mississippi Business Finance Corporation (M@&FRce) pursuant to a trust indenture between M&nemand U. S. Bank National Association,
as trustee. The bonds were sold to PNC Bank agadrative agent for itself and a syndicate oftjggvating banks, in a private placement under a
Credit and Funding Agreement dated December 1,,288tveen us and PNC Bank. Proceeds of the boitidseWwoaned by MS Finance to us under
a loan agreement, whereby we are obligated to negkepayments to MS Finance sufficient to pay abtdservice and expenses related to the
bonds. Our obligations under the loan agreemeatealated note bear interest at a fluctuating bateed on LIBOR. The financial covenants in the
credit agreement mirror those in our senior revg\iredit facility. The bonds may be tenderedsgwithout premium) periodically beginning
November 1, 2015. During December 2010, we drev@#hillion of the bonds. The proceeds from thadmare required to be used to fund ca
project spending on our relocation of the Wincheséaterfire ammunition manufacturing operatiomsrfrEast Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. The
proceeds remain with the trustee and are classiieal noncurrent asset on our consolidated batdrezt as restricted cash, until such time as we
request reimbursement of qualifying amounts usethi® Oxford, MS Winchester relocation.
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In October 2010, we completed a financing of tagragt bonds totaling $70.0 million due 2024. Thadminclude $50.0 million of Go Zone
and $20.0 million of Recovery Zone. The bonds vissaed by the Industrial Development Authorityéshington County, AL (AL Authority)
pursuant to a trust indenture between the AL Auth@nd U. S. Bank National Association, as trust&ae bonds were sold to PNC Bank as
administrative agent for itself and a syndicatpaticipating banks, in a private placement und€redit and Funding Agreement dated October 14,
2010, between us and PNC Bank. Proceeds of thashaiti be loaned by the AL Authority to us unddoan agreement, whereby we are obligated
to make loan payments to the AL Authority suffidiém pay all debt service and expenses relateletdonds. Our obligations under the loan
agreement and related note bear interest at aiflting rate based on LIBOR. The financial covesamthe credit agreement mirror those in our
senior revolving credit facility. The bonds maytbadered to us (without premium) periodically medging November 1, 2015. We have the optic
borrow up to the entire $70.0 million in a seriésiaw downs through December 31, 2011. Duringd2@e drew $34.0 million of the bonds. The
proceeds from the bonds are required to be uskohtbcapital project spending at our Mcintosh, Alcifity. As of December 31, 2010, $19.0
million of the proceeds remain with the trustee arelclassified as a noncurrent asset on our ddasedl balance sheet as restricted cash, until such
time as we request reimbursement of qualifying am®used for capital project spending at our MdhtAL facility.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revenndtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March 2016. We
paid a premium of $0.4 million to the bond holdevkjch was included in interest expense. We asognized a $0.3 million deferred gain in
interest expense related to the interest rate swapsh were terminated in April 2010, on theseuisttial revenue bonds. In October 2010, we
redeemed additional industrial revenue bonds tajehil.8 million, with a maturity date of October120

In August 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 2019 Noweith a maturity date of August 15, 2019. The20ibtes were issued at 99.19% of par
value, providing a yield to maturity to investofs9d0%. Interest is paid semi-annually in arrearach February 15 and August 15. Proceeds of
$145.5 million, after expenses of $3.3 million,rfrethe 2019 Notes were used to further strengthefoog-term liquidity.

At December 31, 2010, we had $231.4 million avaddamder our $240 million senior revolving creditility, because we had issued $8.6
million of letters of credit under a $110 millionlfacility. The senior revolving credit facilityilvexpire in October 2012. We have the option to
expand the $240 million senior revolving creditiliic by an additional $60 million through addingr@aximum of two additional lending institutions
each year. Under the senior revolving credit fgcilve may select various floating rate borrowopions. The actual interest rate paid on
borrowings under the senior revolving credit fagils based on a pricing grid which is dependeminuiiie leverage ratio as calculated under the 1
of the facility at the end of the prior fiscal qtear The facility includes various customary riesive covenants, including restrictions relatedhe
ratio of debt to earnings before interest expetese&s, depreciation and amortization (leverageyaiid the ratio of earnings before interest expens
taxes, depreciation and amortization to interepeaze (coverage ratio). Compliance with thesertavis is determined quarterly based on the
operating cash flows for the last four quarterse Wére in compliance with all covenants and retsris under all our outstanding credit agreements
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and no evergfatii had occurred that would permit the lenderden our outstanding credit agreements to
accelerate the debt if not cured. In the futuce,ability to generate sufficient operating cagiwi, among other factors, will determine the amsunt
available to be borrowed under these facilities. oADecember 31, 2010, there were no covenargther restrictions that limited our ability to
borrow.

At December 31, 2010, we had total letters of ¢refi$34.8 million outstanding, of which $8.6 milii were issued under our $240 million

senior revolving credit facility. In addition tansenior revolving credit facility, we have a $2dlion letter of credit facility, which we reducdtbm
$35 million during 2010. The letters of credit wersed to support certain long-term debt and cewarkers compensation insurance policies.
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We had a $75 million, 364-day accounts receivabistization facility (Accounts Receivable Fagi)itrenewable annually for five years,
which would have expired in July 2012. During geeond quarter of 2010, we terminated the AccoRatsivable Facility. Based on the liquidity
from cash and cash equivalents, cash flow fromatjmers, and borrowings under our senior revolviregit facility, the Accounts Receivable Facil
was no longer necessary. There had been no baigswinder the Accounts Receivable Facility sind@720The Accounts Receivable Facility
provided for the sale of our eligible trade recbkiea to a third party conduit through a wholly-ownbankruptcy-remote, special purpose entity that
was consolidated for financial statement purpo3ése Accounts Receivable Facility contained spedéivenants relating to the ability of the lender
to obtain or maintain a first priority lien on theceivables. In addition, the Accounts Receiv#aleility incorporated the leverage and coverage
covenants that are contained in the senior revgleiedit facility.

Our current debt structure is used to fund ourrmss operations. As of December 31, 2010, wedragiterm borrowings, including the
current installment, of $496.0 million of which $L2 million was at variable rates. Annual matestdf long-term debt are $77.8 million in 2011,
zero in 2012, $11.4 million in 2013, zero in 2012015 and a total of $406.8 million thereafter December 2011, we have $77.8 million,
including $2.8 million of unrecognized gains rethte interest rate swaps, of bonds that were isgu2d01 that will mature. It is currently our
intention to redeem these bonds using our casmn@oments from banks under our senior revolvinglitriacility and the additional $36.0 million
not drawn from the Go Zone bonds issued in 201@dd#ional sources of liquidity.

We have entered into interest rate swaps 8@.$million of our underlying fixed-rate debt ajditions, whereby we agreed to pay variable
rates to a counterparty who, in turn, pays us foegds. In April 2010, Citibank, N.A. terminate@i8s9 million of interest rate swaps on our indwastri
revenue bonds due in 2016. The result was a d&f.4 million, which would have been recognizerbtigh 2016. In September 2010, the indus
revenue bonds were redeemed by us, and as a thsulgmaining $0.3 million gain was recognizeihberest expense during 2010. In March 2010,
we entered into $125.0 million of interest rate pa/an the 6.75% senior notes due 2016 (2016 Nofds).counterparty to the $132.7 million
agreements is Citibank, N.A., a major financiatim§on. We have designated the swap agreemearfairavalue hedges of the risk of changes in the
value of fixed rate debt due to changes in intewrgsts for a portion of our fixed rate borrowingsccordingly, the swap agreements have been
recorded at their fair market value of $5.3 millemd are included in other assets on the accompgueginsolidated balance sheet, with a
corresponding increase in the carrying amount efétated debt. No gain or loss has been recasléide contracts met the criteria to qualify for
hedge accounting treatment with no ineffectiveness.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate delligations, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, pay/§ixed rates. The counterparty to these agratmig Citibank, N.A., a major financial
institution. In January 2009, we entered into & &llion fixed interest rate swap with equal arpposite terms as the $75 million variable interest
rate swaps on the 9.125% senior notes due in 2ZMM1(Notes). We have agreed to pay a fixed ragectmunterparty who, in turn, pays us variable
rates. The counterparty to this agreement is Béidkmerica, a major financial institution. The uétsvas a gain of $7.9 million on the $75 million
variable interest rate swaps, which will be recagdithrough 2011. As of December 31, 2010, $2l8omiof this gain was included in current
installments of long-term debt. In January 2008,dedesignated our $75 million interest rate swapsthatpreviously been designated as fair \
hedges. The $75 million variable interest ratepsaend the $75 million fixed interest rate swamdbmeet the criteria for hedge accounting. All
changes in the fair value of these interest ratgsvare recorded currently in earnings.

We have registered an undetermined amount of siesuwith the SEC, so that, from timeioie, we may issue debt securities, preferred !
and/or common stock and associated warrants ipubkc market under that registration statement.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &iroad cars but also include distribution, wareding and office space and data processing
and office equipment. Virtually none of our leaggeements contain escalation clauses or steprevisions. Assets under capital leases are not
significant.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dlethh quarter of 2009, we entered into a
twentyyear brine and pipeline supply agreement with Registics Olefins, LLC (PetroLogistics). PetroLstics installed, owns and operates, a
own expense, a pipeline supplying brine to thesabriel, LA facility. Beginning November 2009, \aee obligated to make a fixed annual payment
over the life of the contract of $2.0 million foseiof the pipeline, regardless of the amount afebpurchased. We also have a minimum usage
requirement for brine of $8.4 million over the fifsve-year period of the contract. After the fifive-year period, the contract contains a buy out
provision exercisable by us for $12.0 million.

On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teutfur dioxide supply agreement with Alliance Spdtyi Chemicals, Inc. (Alliance),
formerly known as RFC SO2, Inc. Alliance has thégation to deliver annually 36,000 tons of sulflioxide. Alliance owns the sulfur dioxide
plant, which is located at our Charleston, TN faciénd is operated by us. The price for the sulfoxide is fixed over the life of the contracttan
under the terms of the contract, we are obligataddke a monthly payment of $0.2 million regardiesthe amount of sulfur dioxide
purchased. Commitments related to this agreenrer#za4 million in 2011 and $0.6 million in 201Zhis supply agreement expires in 2012.

We and our partner, PolyOne, own equally SunB®lty Vinyls is required to purchase 250 thousand tirchlorine based on a formula
related to its market price. Prior to July 200@ly®ne had an ownership interest in Oxy Vinyls. kvarket the excess chlorine and all of the caustic
soda produced. The construction of this plantemdpment was financed by the issuance of $195lbmof Guaranteed Senior Secured Notes due
2017. SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaranteedi@e8ecured Notes due 2017, Series O, and $97llmdf Guaranteed Senior Secured Notes
2017, Series G. We refer to these notes as thBehuNotes. The SunBelt Notes bear interest at@aaf 7.23% per annum payable semiannually in
arrears on each June 22 and December 22.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Poly@&nguaranteed the Series G Notes, in both casssamii to customary guaranty
agreements. Our guarantee and PolyOne’s guarargeseveral, rather than joint. Therefore, wenaterequired to make any payments to satisfy the
Series G Notes guaranteed by PolyOne. An insoljvenbankruptcy of PolyOne will not automaticaliigger acceleration of the SunBelt Notes or
cause us to be required to make payments undeyuamantee, even if PolyOne is required to make gaysnunder its guarantee. However, if Sun
does not make timely payments on the SunBelt Nothsther as a result of a failure to pay on a gutamor otherwise, the holders of the SunBelt
Notes may proceed against the assets of SunBekpayment. If we were to make debt service paysnemder our guarantee, we would have a
to recover such payments from SunBelt.

Beginning on December 22, 2002 and each year thr@0g7, SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 millaérthe SunBelt Notes, of which $6.1
million is attributable to the Series O Notes. gkfthe payment of $6.1 million on the Series O NateDecember 2010, our guarantee of these notes
was $42.7 million. In the event SunBelt cannot enaky of these payments, we would be requiredrtd fhe payment on the Series O Notes. In
certain other circumstances, we may also be redjtireepay the SunBelt Notes prior to their mayuritVe and PolyOne have agreed that, if we or
PolyOne intend to transfer our respective interes&unBelt and the transferring party is unablelitain consent from holders of 80% of the
aggregate principal amount of the indebtednestela the guarantee being transferred after gaibkd iegotiations, then we and PolyOne will be
required to repay our respective portions of theE&lt Notes. In such event, any make whole orlainienalties or costs will be paid by the
transferring party.
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Excluding our guarantee of the SunBelt Notes deedrabove, our long-term contractual commitmentduding the on and off-balance sheet
arrangements, consisted of the following:

Payments Due by Peric

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(% in millions)
Debt obligations $ 496.C $ 776 $ 114 $ — $ 406.¢
Interest payments under debt obligations and isteete
swap agreemen(@) 189.( 24.7 40.¢ 40.C 83.t
Contingent tax liability (FIN 48 40.7 8.4 5.7 2.8 23.¢
Qualified pension plan contributioi® 3.1 3.1 — — —
Non-qualified pension plan paymer 61.5 4.3 16.€ 6.3 34.C
Postretirement benefit paymel 73.¢ 6.€ 11.2 10.4 45.F
Off-Balance Sheet Commitmen
Noncancelable operating leas 221.c 40.C 66.¢ 47.¢ 66.5
Purchasing commitment
Raw materialt 97.2 72.C 9.C 16.2 —
Utilities 2.C 1.3 0.4 0.3 —
Total $ 1,184.¢ $ 2382 $ 162.¢ $ 123¢ $ 660.1

(@) For the purposes of this table, we have assumedllfperiods presented that there are no changé®iprincipal amount of any variable r.
debt from the amounts outstanding on December @) 2nd that there are no changes in the ratestfrose in effect at December 31, 2010
which ranged from 0.34% to 9.125

(b)  These amounts are only estimated paymentsnasguan annual expected rate of return on pendemgssets of 8.5%, and a discount rate on
pension plan obligations of 5.3%. These estimptgnents are subject to significant variation draactual payments may be more than the
amounts estimated. Given the inherent uncertaistyp actual minimum funding requirements for dieidefined benefit pension plans, no
amounts are included in this table for any periegdnd one year. Based on the current funding reménts, we will not be required to make
any cash contributions to the domestic defined filgmension plan at least through 2011. We do hasgeall Canadian defined benefit
pension plan to which we made $9.8 million and $dillion of cash contributions in 2010 and 200%pectively, and we anticipate less than
$5 million of cash contributions in 2011. See dision on “Pension Protection Act of 2006” amenigdThe Worker, Retiree, and Emplo
Recovery Ac” in “Pension Plar” in the notes to the consolidated financial statem

Non-cancelable operating leases and purchasing ¢aments are utilized in our normal course of busifor our projected needs. For losses
that we believe are probable and which are estienaklhave accrued for such amounts in our congetidzalance sheets. In addition to the table
above, we have various commitments and contingsmreuding: defined benefit and postretirementtheare plans (as described below),
environmental matters (see “Environmental Mattémsfuded in Item 7—*‘ManagemeistDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esult:
of Operations”), and litigation claims (see Item ‘3-egal Proceedings”).

We have several defined benefit and defined canttoh pension plans, as described in the “PensiansP note in the notes to consolidated
financial statements. We fund the defined bemefitsion plans based on the minimum amounts reghiréaw plus such amounts we deem
appropriate. We have postretirement healthcamesglzat provide health and life insurance bengditsertain retired employees and their
beneficiaries, as described in the "PostretirerBemtefits” note in the notes to consolidated finahsiatements. These other postretirement plans ar
not pre-funded and expenses are paid by us agécur

We also have standby letters of credit of $34.8ionilof which $8.6 million have been issued throwgin senior revolving credit facility. At
December 31, 2010, we had $231.4 million availaiiéer our senior revolving credit facility.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based upon msatiolated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the United Stafdse preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments tfeat diie reported amounts of assets, liabilitiafesand expenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Significantreates in our consolidated financial statementiige goodwill recoverability, environmental,
restructuring and other unusual items, litigatimeome tax reserves including deferred tax asdegtian allowances, pension, postretirement and
other benefits and allowance for doubtful accoum& base our estimates on prior experience, éaw<ircumstances and other
assumptions. Actual results may differ from thesémates.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect the more significant judgments and edémased in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed annuatiythe fourth quarter and/or when circumstancestioer events indicate that impairment
may have occurred. Circumstances that could triggempairment test include but are not limited #osignificant adverse change in the business
climate; a significant adverse legal judgment; aseeash flow trends; an adverse action or asses&iy@ government agency; unanticipated
competition; decline in our stock price; and a Bigant restructuring charge within a reportingtunrhe annual impairment test involves the
comparison of the estimated fair value of a repgrtinit to its carrying amount. We define repagtimits at the business segment level or one level
below the business segment, which for our ChloiIRroducts segment are the U.S. operations anddi@an operations. For purposes of testing
goodwill for impairment, goodwill has been alloghte these reporting units to the extent it rel&esach reporting unit.

We use a discounted cash flow approach to devampdtimated fair value of a reporting unit. Maragnt judgment is required in
developing the assumptions for the discounted fltashmodel. We also corroborate our discountedhdblmv analysis by evaluating a market-based
approach that considers earnings before integestst depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) muéiipfrom a representative sample of compat
public companies in the chemical industry. An immp&nt would be recorded if the carrying amounte=ded the estimated fair value. No
impairment charges were recorded for 2010, 200308.

The discount rate, profitability assumptions, terahigrowth rate and cyclical nature of our chidadilbusiness are the material assumptions
utilized in the discounted cash flow model useddtimate the fair value of each reporting unite Tiscount rate reflects a weighted-average cost of
capital, which is calculated based on observabliketaata. Some of these data (such as the gskdir treasury rate and the pretax cost of debét) ar
based on the market data at a point in time. QGth&x (such as the equity risk premium) are baped market data over time for a peer group of
companies in the chemical manufacturing industh\@imarket capitalization premium added, as apblé&

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estispatgsumptions and judgments about future evéhts.analysis uses our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmlysis uses the assumptions in our long-rategegbout terminal growth rates, forecasted
capital expenditures, and changes in future workaqgtal requirements to determine the implied ¥alue of each reporting unit. The long-range
plan reflects management judgment, supplementedd@pendent chemical industry analyses which peowditiyear chlor alkali industry operatil
and pricing forecasts.
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We believe the assumptions used in our discourasld flow analysis are appropriate and result isarable estimates of the implied fair
value of each reporting unit. However, given thermmic environment and the uncertainties regartiegmpact on our business, there can be no
assurance that our estimates and assumptions, forguigrposes of our goodwill impairment testingidgrthe fourth quarter of 2010, will prove to
an accurate prediction of the future. In ordegvaluate the sensitivity of the fair value calcigias on the goodwill impairment test, we applied a
hypothetical 10% decrease to the fair value of eapbrting unit. In all cases, the estimated Vaiue of the reporting units exceeded the carrying
value of the reporting units by a substantial anboWde also applied a hypothetical decrease ofldd@¥is points in our terminal growth rate or an
increase of 100-basis points in our weighted-ave@ggt of capital to test the fair value calculatidhe estimated fair value of the reporting units
derived in these calculations also exceeded ouk kalue by a substantial amount for each of ouorépg units. If our assumptions regarding
forecasted sales or gross margins are not achiexethay be required to record goodwill impairmemrges in future periods. It is not possible at
this time to determine if any such future impairmnemarge would result or, if it does, whether sablrge would be material.

Environmental

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratére recorded when it is probable that a ligifilas been incurred and the amount of the
liability can be reasonably estimated, based uporent law and existing technologies. These anmuvitich are not discounted and are exclusiv
claims against third parties, are adjusted peralji@s assessments and remediation efforts pregresdditional technical or legal information
becomes available. Environmental costs are cigathlf the costs increase the value of the prgpeant/or mitigate or prevent contamination from
future operations. Environmental costs and redeseare included in costs of goods sold.

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessitomerous reasons, including the identification®iv sites, developments at sites resulting
from investigatory studies, advances in technolefgnges in environmental laws and regulationstlagid application, changes in regulatory
authorities, the scarcity of reliable data pertagnio identified sites, the difficulty in assessthg involvement and financial capability of otfRPs
and our ability to obtain contributions from othgarties and the lengthy time periods over which tnediation occurs. It is possible that some of
these matters (the outcomes of which are subjearious uncertainties) may be resolved unfavoraéblys, which could materially adversely affect
our financial position or results of operations.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plardsr@om-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgaaial models required by ASC 715,
formerly SFAS No. 87 “Employers’ Accounting fori&ons” (SFAS No. 87) and SFAS No. 106, “Employétstounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other than Pension” (SFAS No. 106), retpely. These models use an attribution approhehdenerally spreads the financial impact of
changes to the plan and actuarial assumptionstbgeaverage remaining service lives of the empleye¢he plan. Changes in liability due to
changes in actuarial assumptions such as discatejtrate of compensation increases and mortabtyell as annual deviations between what was
assumed and what was experienced by the planeatedras gains or losses. The principle underlyiagequired attribution approach is that
employees render service over their average rengagervice lives on a relatively smooth basis @mekefore, the accounting for benefits earned
under the pension or non-pension postretiremergfiismplans should follow the same relatively snhgoattern. Substantially all defined benefit
pension plan participants are inactive; therefaotyarial gains and losses are amortized basedtbpaemaining life expectancy of the inactive plan
participants. For the years ended December 31) aad 2009, the average remaining life expectahtlyeoinactive participants in the defined
benefit pension plan was 19 years.
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One of the key assumptions for the net periodicsipencalculation is the expected lotegm rate of return on plan assets, used to deterthi
“market-related value of assets.” (The “marketted value of assets” recognizes differences betweeplan’s actual return and expected return
over a five year period). The required use ofxgeeted long-term rate of return on the marketteelaalue of plan assets may result in recognized
pension income that is greater or less than theahmtturns of those plan assets in any given y@aer time, however, the expected Iadegn return
are designed to approximate the actual long-tetomns and, therefore, result in a pattern of incame expense recognition that more closely
matches the pattern of the services provided betiigloyees. As differences between actual andotegeeturns are recognized over five years,
they subsequently generate gains and losses thatibject to amortization over the average remgilifi@ expectancy of the inactive plan
participants, as described in the preceding papagra

We use long-term historical actual return inforroatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns and inflation by reference tiemal sources to develop the expected returnam ggsets as of December 31.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepension postretirement benefit plan accountifigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemlfeoBeach year. The rate of compensation incrisdsased upon our long-term plans for such
increases. For retiree medical plan accounting:ewview external data and our own historical trefaddealthcare costs to determine the healthcare
cost trend rates.

Changes in pension costs may occur in the futuegt@ehanges in these assumptions resulting framagoic events. For example, holding
other assumptions constant, a 100-basis point dserer increase in the assumed rate of returnasngasets would have decreased or increased,
respectively, the 2010 defined benefit pension planme by approximately $15.8 million. Holdind ether assumptions constant, a 50-basis point
decrease in the discount rate used to calculatgiggeincome for 2010 and the projected benefitgattion as of December 31, 2010 would have
decreased pension income by $0.6 million and irser@dhe projected benefit obligation by $86.0 willi A 50-basis point increase in the discount
rate used to calculate pension income for 2010tamgrojected benefit obligation as of December2B1,0 would have increased pension income by
$2.2 million and decreased the projected benefigation by $94.0 million. For additional informiat on long-term rates of return, discount rates
and projected healthcare costs projections, seesi®e Plans” and “Postretirement Benefits” in tiéess to the consolidated financial statements.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statsddipdate (ASU) 2010-06 “Improving Disclosures AbBair Value
Measurements” (ASU 2010-06), which amends ASC &20r“Value Measurements and Disclosures” (ASC 820)is update adds new fair value
disclosure requirements about transfers into ana@fluevel 1 and 2 and separate disclosures ahaghpses, sales, issuances, and settlements |
to Level 3 measurements. This update expandodis@s on valuation techniques and inputs usecktsare fair value. This update is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2009epixfor the requirement to provide the Level 3\amtiof purchases, sales, issuances, and
settlements, which will be effective for fiscal yedeginning after December 15, 2010. We adoptegbtovisions of ASU 2010-06 on January 1,
2010, except for the requirement to provide thatamdl Level 3 activity, which will be adopted 2#011. As of December 31, 2010, we had no a
or liabilities recorded at fair value using Levain&asurements. The adoption of this update didhaned a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, “Actiagrfor Transfers of Financial Assets” (SFAS N66}, which was incorporated into
ASC 860 “Transfers and Servicing” (ASC 860) and SH¥o. 167, “Amendments to FASB Interpretation N&(R)” (SFAS No. 167), which was
incorporated into ASC 810 “Consolidation” (ASC 810)hese statements changed the way entities acfansecuritizations and special-purpose
entities. The new standards eliminate existingeptions, strengthen the standards relating to geations and specigiurpose entities, and enhat
disclosure requirements. These statements bed&setive for us on January 1, 2010. The adoptibthese statements did not have a material €
on our consolidated financial statements.
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In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, “SubsatiEvents” (SFAS No. 165), which was incorporated ASC 855 “Subsequent
Events” (ASC 855). ASC 855 provides guidance onagament’s assessment of subsequent events. afment is not expected to significantly
change practice because its guidance is simildratioin American Institute of Certified Public Aeadtants Professional Standards U.S. Auditing
Standards Section 560, “Subsequent Evemtili some modifications. This statement becamecéiffe for us on June 15, 2009. The adoptionisi
statement did not have a material effect on ousaclighated financial statements. In February 20®FASB issued ASU 2010-09 “Subsequent
Events — Amendments to Certain Recognition andl@ssce Requirements,” which removed the requiresgnASC 855 for an SEC filer to
disclose the date through which subsequent events leen evaluated for both issued and reviseddiabstatements. This update became effective
upon issuance for us and the adoption of this @pdiak not have a material effect on our consoldiditgancial statements.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC 815), fortgeBFAS No. 133, required an entity to recognizelafivatives as either assets or
liabilities in the statement of financial positiand measure those instruments at fair value. Wéadge accounting treatment for substantiallgfall
our business transactions whose risks are covesiad derivative instruments. The accounting treatiof changes in fair value is dependent upon
whether or not a derivative instrument is desighat® a hedge and, if so, the type of hedge. Foradiwes designated as a fair value hedge, the
changes in the fair value of both the derivative tre hedged item are recognized in earnings.d€dvatives designated as a cash flow hedge, the
change in fair value of the derivative is recogdie other comprehensive loss until the hedged iseracognized in earnings. Ineffective portions
are recognized currently in earnings. Unrealizaiigand losses on derivatives not qualifying fedde accounting are recognized currently in
earnings. All derivatives recognized in earningpact the expense line item on our consolidatadrsnt of operations that is consistent with the
nature of the underlying hedged item.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttacteanage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominated in
foreign currencies (principally Canadian dollar &wo). All of the currency derivatives expire kit one year and are for United States dollar
equivalents. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, wefdraehrd contracts to sell foreign currencies vathotional value of zero and $0.3 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, vekfbward contracts to buy foreign currencies vethotional value of $0.3 million and $1.7
million, respectively.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, el#girémd natural gas to provide a measul
stability in managing our exposure to price flutiois associated with forecasted purchases of ratenmals and energy costs used in our
manufacturing process. For derivative instrumémds are designated and qualify as a cash flowdgtig change in fair value of the derivative is
recognized as a component of other comprehenssgeuiotil the hedged item is recognized into eamin@ains and losses on the derivatives
representing hedge ineffectiveness are recognizedrtly in earnings. Gains on settled futurestizans were $8.8 million ($5.4 million, net of
taxes) in 2010, which were included in cost of gosdld. Losses on settled futures contracts w2deddnillion, ($12.5 million, net of taxes) and
$8.1 million ($5.0 million, net of taxes) in 2008ck2008, respectively, which were included in afsjoods sold. At December 31, 2010, we had
open positions in futures contracts through 2018litay $53.4 million (2009—%$61.4 million). If aipen futures contracts had been settled on
December 31, 2010, we would have recognized axpgetian of $18.8 million.
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At December 31, 2010, accumulated other comprebhetsss included a gain, net of taxes, in fair gadm commodity forward contracts of
$11.6 million. If commodity prices were to remainthe levels they were at December 31, 2010, appedely $8.5 million of deferred gains, net of
tax, would be reclassified into earnings duringrib&t twelve months. The actual effect on earnimigjdoe dependent on commodity prices when
forecasted transactions occur. At December 319 28€cumulated other comprehensive loss includgalrg net of taxes, in fair value on commodity
forward contracts of $11.6 million.

We use interest rate swaps as a means of manag@mgst expense and floating interest rate expdeurptimal levels. The accounting for
gains and losses associated with changes in fluie vd the derivative and the effect on the comkstéd financial statements will depend on the h
designation and whether the hedge is effectivdfgetiing changes in fair value of cash flows df #sset or liability being hedged. For derivative
instruments that are designated and qualify ag adhue hedge, the gain or loss on the derivadivevell as the offsetting loss or gain on the hddge
item attributable to the hedged risk are recognimezlirrent earnings. We include the gain or lmsshe hedged items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the
same line item, interest expense, as the offsetisgor gain on the related interest rate swassof December 31, 2010 and 2009, the total notiona
amount of our interest rate swaps designated agdhie hedges were $132.7 million and $26.6 mmilliespectively.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswea $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate delligations, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, payfixed rates. In January 2009, we enteredar#@5 million fixed interest rate swap with equadi
opposite terms as the $75 million variable interatt swaps on the 2011 Notes. We have agreedlta fixed rate to a counterparty who, in turn,
pays us variable rates. The result was a gaif & &illion on the $75 million variable interesteawaps, which will be recognized through
2011. As of December 32, 2010, $2.8 million o6thain was included in current installments of lbegn debt. In January 2009, we de-designated
our $75 million interest rate swaps that had prasip been designated as fair value hedges. The#llién variable interest rate swaps and the $75
million fixed interest rate swap do not meet thigecia for hedge accounting. All changes in thealue of these interest rate swaps are recorded
currently in earnings.

The fair value of our derivative asset and liapibialances were:
December 31

2010 2009
(% in millions)
Other current asse $ 207 % 17.5
Other asset 5.3 7.4
Total derivative asset $ 26.C $ 24.¢
Current installments of loi-term debr $ 28 % —
Accrued liabilities 14 0.1
Other liabilities — 0.¢
Long-term debt 5.3 6.
Total derivative liability $ 95 $ 7.9

The ineffective portion of changes in fair valusuked in zero, $0.1 million and zero credited aonings for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Our foreign currency forward contracts, certain oowdity derivatives, and our $75 million fixed anariable interest rate swaps did not meet

the criteria to qualify for hedge accounting. Effect on operating results of items not qualifyfoghedge accounting was a charge of $0.8 million
for 2010, $2.7 million for 2009 and zero for 2008.
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ltem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafgeir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities, and our openadi that use foreign currencies. The risk of t@ssbe assessed from the perspective of adverse
changes in fair values, cash flows and future egsi We have established policies and procedunesrging our management of market risks and
the use of financial instruments to manage exposusech risks.

Energy costs including electricity used in our Chdkali Products segment, and certain raw materaid energy costs, namely copper, lead,
zinc, electricity, and natural gas used primanilyur Winchester segment are subject to price MibjatDepending on market conditions, we may
enter into futures contracts and put and call eptiontracts in order to reduce the impact of comitygatice fluctuations. As of December 31, 2010,
we maintained open positions on futures contradtding $53.4 million ($61.4 million at December, 2D09). Assuming a hypothetical 10%
increase in commodity prices, which are currenélgded, as of December 31, 2010, we would experi@i$&e3 million ($6.1 million at December
31, 2009) increase in our cost of inventory purebasvhich would be substantially offset by a cquoesling increase in the value of related hedging
instruments.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates phngeria result of our investing and financing dtigg. The effect of interest rates on
investing activity is not material to our consoliglé financial position, results of operations, astt flows. Our current debt structure is usedital f
business operations, and commitments from banksrwng senior revolving credit facility are a saudf liquidity. As of December 31, 2010, we
had long-term borrowings of $496.0 million ($39&lion at December 31, 2009) of which $119.9 moifli($4.7 million at December 31, 2009) was
issued at variable rates. As a result of the amolvariable-rate financings compared to our fixate financings, we entered into floating interest
rate swaps in order to manage interest expenséaaiihg interest rate exposure to optimal levalge have entered into $132.7 million of such
swaps, whereby we agree to pay variable ratectwaterparty who, in turn, pays us fixed ratesApmil 2010, Citibank, N.A. terminated $18.9
million of interest rate swaps on our industrialeeue bonds due in 2016. The result was a gad df million, which would have been recognized
through 2016. In September 2010, the industriz¢mee bonds were redeemed by us, and as a résuterhaining $0.3 million gain was recognized
in interest expense during 2010. In March 2010entered into $125.0 million of interest rate swapshe 2016 Notes. The counterparty to the
$132.7 million agreements is Citibank, N.A., a mdjoancial institution. In all cases the undemlyiindex for the variable rates is six-month
LIBOR. Accordingly, payments are settled everyrsignths and the terms of the swaps are the sathe asderlying debt instruments.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgoswea $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate deliigations, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, payfixed rates. The counterparty to these agratnie Citibank, N.A. In January 2009, we entered
into a $75 million fixed interest rate swap wittuafjand opposite terms as the $75 million variaitierest rate swaps on the 2011 Notes. We have
agreed to pay a fixed rate to a counterparty wityrin, pays us variable rates. The counterpartiiis agreement is Bank of America, a major
financial institution. The result was a gain of%hillion on the $75 million variable interesteawaps, which will be recognized through 2011. As
of December 31, 2010, $2.8 million of this gain waduded in current installments of long-term debt

Assuming no changes in the $119.9 million of vdeatate debt levels from December 31, 2010, wereg# that a hypothetical change of 100-
basis points in the LIBOR interest rates from 2@4Wld impact annual interest expense by $1.2 millio
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The following table reflects the swap activity teld to certain debt obligations:

Swap
Underlying Debt Instrumen Amount Date of Swag December 31, 201
Olin Pays
($ in millions) Floating Rate
9.125%, due 201 $ 50.C December 200 3.92%
9.125%, due 201 $ 25.C March 200z 3.25-4.25% @)
6.75%, due 201 $ 65.C March 201C 3.25-4.25% @)
6.75%, due 201 $ 60.C March 201C 3.25-4.25% @)
Industrial development obligation at a fixed inttreate of 6.625% du
2017 $ 7.7 March 200z 0.72%
Olin Receives
Floating Rate
9.125%, due 201 $ 75.C January 200! 7.35%

(@) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the waliefall within the range showr
These interest rate swaps reduced interest expgr®e.0 million, $3.0 million and $2.4 million iM020, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

If the actual change in interest or commoditiesipg is substantially different than expected,ieeéimpact of interest rate risk or commodity
risk on our cash flow may be materially differeman that disclosed above.

We do not enter into any derivative financial instents for speculative purposes.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS:

This report includes forward-looking statementfie3e statements relate to analyses and other iafiomthat are based on management’s
beliefs, certain assumptions made by managemeaetdsts of future results and current expectatiestinates and projections about the markets
economy in which we and our various segments operBlhe statements contained in this report theahat statements of historical fact may include
forward-looking statements that involve a numberigks and uncertainties.

We have used the words “anticipate,” “intend,” “nidexpect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “estimatg “project,” “forecast,”and variations ¢
such words and similar expressions in this remoidéntify such forward-looking statements. Thssdements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertasndied assumptions, which are difficult to predicd anany of which are beyond our
control. Therefore, actual outcomes and resultg differ materially from those matters expressednplied in such forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to updaitdigly any forward-looking statements, whetheaagsult of future events, new information or
otherwise.

The risks, uncertainties, and assumptions invoimexzlir forwardlooking statements include those discussed under ItA. Risk Factors. Yc

should consider all of our forward-looking stateitsen light of these factors. In addition, othisks and uncertainties not presently known to us or
that we consider immaterial could affect the aceyia our forward-looking statements.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING

The management of Olin Corporation is responsitee§tablishing and maintaining adequate interoatrol over financial reporting. Olin’s
internal control system was designed to providegeable assurance to the company’s managemenband &f directors regarding the preparation
and fair presentation of published financial statats.

All internal control systems, no matter how welsidged, have inherent limitations. Therefore, efhase systems determined to be effective
can provide only reasonable assurance with respéiciancial statement preparation and presentaiind may not prevent or detect all
misstatements.

The management of Olin Corporation has assesseafftaiveness of the company’s internal contra@financial reporting as of December
31, 2010. In making this assessment, we usediteei@ set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring&nizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) inInternal Control—Integrated Framewotk guide our analysis and assessment. Based assessment as of December 31, 2010, the
company’s internal control over financial reportings effective based on those criteria.

Our independent registered public accountants, KRMB, have audited and issued a report on ournaterontrols over financial reporting,
which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John E. Fischer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

55




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlingOcation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Olin Corporation and subsidiaries &eoember 31, 2010 and 2009, and
the related consolidated statements of operatghregeholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofydag's in the three-year period ended December
31, 2010. We also have audited Olin Corporatiamtarnal control over financial reporting as of [@etber 31, 2010, based ocriteria established in
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSO). Olin
Corporation’s management is responsible for thessdaidated financial statements, for maintainifigaive internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecégsrof internal control over financial reportinggluded in the accompanying Management Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Ourpessibility is to express an opinion on these codated financial statements and an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reportbagsed on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBiqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thestabbtain reasonable assurance about whethén#reial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all evé&l respects. Our audits of the consolidated
financial statements included examining, on altasts, evidence supporting the amounts and digeesn the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the overathdial statement presentation. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting includebtaining an understanding of internal control dimgincial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaty#tiendesign and operating effectiveness of intexoistrol based on the assessed risk. Our audits
also included performing such other procedureseasamsidered necessary in the circumstances. Wséé¢hat our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed to provide reasonableaamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetméor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaatepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includié®se policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheariaintenance of records that, in reasonableldetai
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideoreasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iadstatements in accordance with generally gece@ccounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management ardtdrs of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opakstion of the company's assets that could hi
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dét@isstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedumnay deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matengspects, the financial position of Olin
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 310 20 2009, and the results of its operations &nchish flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2010, in conformiily U.S. generally accepted accounting principlao in our opinion, Olin Corporatic
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2010, based on criteria established in
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworissued by the COSO.

/sl KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 23, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(% in millions, except share data)

Assets

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Receivables, ne
Trade
Other
Income taxes receivab
Inventories
Current deferred income tax
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment, |
Prepaid pension cos
Restricted cas
Other asset
Goodwill

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current installments of lol-term debi
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Accrued pension liabilit
Deferred income taxe
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Shareholde’ equity:
Common stock, par value $1 per shi
Authorized, 120,000,000 shart
Issued and outstanding, 79,579,363 shares (78,7/2in2009)
Additional pait-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

2010 2009
$ 458.6 $ 458.
167.¢ 155.:

19.C 28.1

6.1 19.4

155.¢ 123.€

46.C 50.

29.€ 24.£

882.¢ 860.

675.( 695.2

16.2 5.C

102.C —

72.2 71.C

300.: 300.:

$ 2048 $ 1,932.(
$ 778 $ —
115.F 117.€

197.7 193.1

391.( 310.¢

418.: 398.

58.€ 56.€

23 25.¢

327.1 318.(

1,218.¢ 1,109.;

79.€ 78.7

842. 823.1

(261.9) (248.2)

170. 168.7

830.: 822.C

$ 2048, $ 1,932.(

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of the consolidatesh€ial statements.
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Sales
Operating expense
Cost of goods sol
Selling and administratio
Restructuring charg
Other operating incom
Operating incom:
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate
Interest expens
Interest incom:
Other income (expens
Income before taxe
Income tax provision
Net income

Net income per common sha
Basic

Diluted

Average common shares outstandi
Basic

Diluted

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December 31
(In millions, except per share data)

2009 2008
$ 1,585.¢ $ 1,531 $ 1,764.F
1,349.¢ 1,222 1,377

134.¢ 135. 137.:

34.2 — =

2.5 9.1 1.2

69. 182.¢ 251

29.¢ 37.7 39.4

25.4 11.€ 13.2

1.C 1.1 6.2

1.5 0.1 (26.0)

76.¢ 209.¢ 257.E

12.1 74.2 99.£

$ 64.6 $ 1357 $ 157.7
$ 0.8: $ 174 $ 2.0¢
$ 081 $ 175 $ 2.07
79.2 78.1 75.€

79. 78.7 76.1

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of the consolidatesh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at January 1, 200!
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Translation adjustmel
Net unrealized losse
Pension and postretirement liabil
adjustment, ne
Amortization of prior service costs at
actuarial losses, net
Comprehensive incorr
Dividends paid
Common stock ($0.80 per sha
Common stock issued fc
Stock options exercise
Employee benefit plar
Other transaction
Stock-based compensation
Balance at December 31, 20C
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Translation adjustmel
Net unrealized gair
Pension and postretirement liabil
adjustment, ne
Amortization of prior service costs at
actuarial losses, net
Comprehensive incorr
Dividends paid
Common stock ($0.80 per sha
Common stock issued fc
Stock options exercise
Employee benefit plar
Other transaction
Stock-based compensation
Balance at December 31, 20C
Comprehensive incom
Net income
Translation adjustmel
Pension and postretirement liability
adjustment, ne
Amortization of prior service costs a
actuarial losses, net
Comprehensive incorr
Dividends paid
Common stock ($0.80 per sha
Common stock issued fc
Stock options exercise
Employee benefit plar
Other transaction
Stock-based compensatic

Balance at December 31, 201

($ in millions, except per share data)

Common Stocl Accumulated Retained

Additional Other Earnings Total
Shares Par Paid-In Comprehensive (Accumulated Shareholder’

Issued Value Capital Loss Deficit) Equity
74,504,05 $ 745 $ 742.C $ (1512 $ (1.6) $ 663.7
— — — — 157.% 157.5
— — — (3.9 — 3.9
— — — (26.0 — (26.0)
_ _ — (99.9) — (99.9
— — — 11.1 — 11.1
39.t
— — — — (60.€) (60.€)
1,757,271 1.8 35.€ — — 37.4
947,64 0.9 17.2 — — 18.1
95,37: 0.1 21 — — 2.2
— — 4.7 — — 4.7
77,304,34 77.5 801.¢ (269.9) 95.5 705.(
— — — — 135.% 135.5
— — — 4.€ — 4.€
— — — 36.€ — 36.€
— — — (27.9) — (27.3)
— — — 7.3 — 7.2
156.¢
— — — — (62.5) (62.5)
27,68t — 0.2 — — 0.2
1,260,69: 1.3 15.€ — — 16.€
129,25° 0.1 24 — — 2.t
— — 3.2 — — 3.2
78,721,97 78.7 823.1 (248.9) 168.7 822.:
_ — — — 64.¢ 64.¢
— — — 0.9 — 0.¢
— — — (26.0 — (26.0)
— — — 11.5 — 11.5
51.Z
— — — — (63.9) (63.9)
172,96¢ 0.2 2.¢ — — 3.1
548,55! 0.€ 9.€ — — 10.2
135,86: 0.1 2.2 — — 2.3
— — 4.5 — — 4.5
79,579,36 $ 79.6 $ 842.: $ (261.9) $ 1702 $ 830.:

The accompanying notes to consolidated financiéstents are an integral part of the consolidateshfial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashcasth equivalents provided by (used -

operating activities
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate

Years ended December 31
($ in millions)

Other operating incon—(gains) losses on disposition of property, plant aguipmen

Stoclk-based compensatic
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred taxe

Write-off of equipment and facility included in restrudhg charge

Qualified pension plan contributiol
Qualified pension plan incon
Impairment of investment in corporate debt se@s
Common stock issued under employee benefit |
Change in assets and liabilitit
Receivable:
Income taxes receivah
Inventories
Other current asse
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Other asset
Other noncurrent liabilitie
Other operating activities
Net operating activitie
Investing Activities
Capital expenditure
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant andigment
Distributions from affiliated companies, r
Increase in restricted cash, |
Other investing activitie
Net investing activities
Financing Activities
Long-term debt
Borrowings
Repayment:
Issuance of common sto
Stock options exercise
Excess tax benefits from stock options exerc
Dividends paic
Deferred debt issuance costs
Net financing activitie!
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash paid (received) for interest and income te
Interest

Income taxes, net of refun

2010 2009 2008

$ 64.6 $ 135.7 157.7
(29.¢ (37.7) (39.4)

(1.1) (6.5) 0.7

6.7 5.8 6.3

86. 71.7 69.€

11.2 72.2 11.C

17. — —

(9.8) (4.5 —

(21.6) (21.§) (11.€)

— — 26.€

1.C 2.1 2.7

(3.6 29.7 (9.5)

13.2 (20.0) (1.0

(31.9) 7.6 (25.0)

(1.7) 3.6 3.8

14.1 (43.5) (66.1)

2. 2.2) 3.8

2.0) 10.2 (14.5)

(0.5 (2.4) 0.5

115.F 200.: 115.¢

(85.9) (137.9) (180.9)

3.1 8.5 0.6

23.€ 37.1 27.€

(102.0) — —

0.9 4.6 (3.9

(159.7) (87.7) (156.0)

117.C 150. —

(20.7) — (11.9)

9.2 14.¢ 15.4

2.9 0.2 31.¢

0.2 — 5.5
(63.9) (62.5) (60.6)

(1.0) (3.3 —
44, 99.E (19.7)
0.1 212.( (59.5)

458.E 246.F 306.(

$ 458.6 $ 458.E 246.F
$ 24€ $ 13. 15.
$ (59 $ 21.1 79.C

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of the consolidatesh€ial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorated in 1892. We are a manufacturer concentiatedo business segments: Chlor Alkali
Products and Winchester. Chlor Alkali Productdhwiine U.S. manufacturing facilities and one Caaadnanufacturing facility, produces chlorine
and caustic soda, sodium hydrosulfite, hydrochlacic, hydrogen, bleach products and potassiumoydie. Winchester, with its principal
manufacturing facility in East Alton, IL, producasd distributes sporting ammunition, reloading cormmgnts, small caliber military ammunition and
components, and industrial cartridges.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires estimates and assumptions that affemunts reported and disclosed in the
financial statements and related notes. Actuailt®sould differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include temants of Olin Corporation and all majority-owrgdsidiaries. Investment in our 50%
owned affiliate and other affiliates are accourftadbn the equity method. Accordingly, we inclumidly our share of earnings or losses of these
affiliates in consolidated net income. Certainassifications were made to prior year amountotdarm to the 2010 presentation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized on sales of product éleethe goods are shipped and the risks of owietsve passed to the customer. Ship
and handling fees billed to customers are includeshles. Allowances for estimated returns, dist®and rebates are recognized when sales are
recorded and are based on various market datarib@ttrends and information from customers. Atteturns, discounts and rebates have not been
materially different from estimates.

Cost of Goods Sold and Selling and Administratispefses
Cost of goods sold includes the costs of invensoig, related purchasing, distribution and warelmmusosts, costs incurred for shipping and
handling, depreciation and amortization expensgedlto these activities, and environmental rentiedizzosts and recoveries. Selling and
administration expenses include personnel costcided with sales, marketing and administratiesgarch and development, legal and legkited
costs, consulting and professional services fabgrésing expenses, depreciation expense relatétese activities and other similar costs and
foreign currency translation.
Other Operating Income

Other operating income consists of miscellaneo@saijmg income items, which are related to ourtess activities, and gains (losses) on
disposition of property, plant and equipment.
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Included in other operating income were the follogvi
Years Ended December 3

2010 2009 2008
(% in millions)
Gains (losses) on disposition of property, plart equipmen $ 11 % 1€ $ (0.9
Amortization of 2007 gain on intangible asset ¢edeognized through 201 1.2 1.1 1.C
Sale of lanc — 3.7 0.2
Gain on disposition of former manufacturing fagi — 1.2 —
Sale of other asse — 0.8 —
Other 0.2 0.7 0.9
Other operating incom $ 25 $ 91 $ 1.2

The gains on disposition of property, plant andigaent in 2010 and 2009 were primarily associatétl the St. Gabriel, LA facility
conversion and expansion project, which was coraglet the fourth quarter of 2009.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists of non-operatiognte items which are not related to our primanyirmss activities. Other income
(expense) in 2010 included a $1.4 million recovfeoyn a $26.6 million investment in corporate dedtigities, whose full value was written off in
2008.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for our Canadian subsidmis the U.S. dollar; accordingly, gains and Issesulting from balance sheet translations
are included in selling and administration. Otfeeeign affiliates’ balance sheet amounts are teded at the exchange rates in effect at yeat-ant
operations statement amounts are translated awv#rage rates of exchange prevailing during the yEeanslation adjustments are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments, with a maturity dfitee months or less at the date of purchase, asedeoed to be cash equivalents.
Short-Term Investments

We classify our marketable securities as availétnesale, which are reported at fair market valudhwnrealized gains and losses included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of sgigdaxes. The fair value of marketable secsrisedetermined by quoted market
prices. Realized gains and losses on sales o$timemts, as determined on the specific identificathethod, and declines in value of securities
judged to be oth-than-temporary are included in other income (egpgin the consolidated statements of operatitmerest and dividends on all
securities are included in interest income andrdtieome (expense), respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We evaluate the collectibility of accounts receiediiased on a combination of factors. We estiraatallowance for doubtful accounts as a
percentage of net sales based on historical badeapbrience. This estimate is periodically adjdsvhen we become aware of a specific customer's
inability to meet its financial obligations (e.gankruptcy filing) or as a result of changes indkerall aging of accounts receivable. While weeha
large number of customers that operate in diveusébsses and are geographically dispersed, aggem@nomic downturn in any of the industry
segments in which we operate could result in higha&n expected defaults, and, therefore, the reeeglise estimates for the provision for doubtful
accounts could occur.
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Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or ragnwith cost being determined principally by thwdlar value last-in, first-out (LIFO) method
of inventory accounting. Cost for other inventsrieas been determined principally by the averagé{poimarily operating supplies, spare parts and
maintenance parts) method. Elements of costsvgmitories include raw materials, direct labor arahofacturing overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at ddspreciation is computed on a straight-line baser the estimated useful lives of the
related assets. Interest costs incurred to finarpenditures for major long-term construction ectg are capitalized as part of the historical aost
included in property, plant and equipment and agreciated over the useful lives of the relate@tassLeasehold improvements are amortized over
the term of the lease or the estimated usefublifine improvement, whichever is shorter. Startagts are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged to expenseintwgned while the costs of significant improverngmhich extend the useful life of the
underlying asset, are capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impant when conditions indicate that the carryidues of the assets may not be
recoverable. Such impairment conditions includextended period of idleness or a plan of dispoEaduch impairment indicators are present or
other factors exist that indicate that the carnangpunt of an asset may not be recoverable, wendiete whether impairment has occurred through
the use of an undiscounted cash flow analysisealothest level for which identifiable cash flowsstx The amount of impairment loss, if any, is
measured by the difference between the net boalevaf the assets and the estimated fair valueeofdalated assets.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash, which is restricted as to with@dlaar usage, is classified separately from cashcastl equivalents on our consolidated
balance sheet. A portion of the proceeds of thelbdssued by Alabama, Mississippi and Tennes$a®g avith their accrued interest income, remr
with a trustee and are classified on our consa@dldilance sheet as a noncurrent asset until snelas we request reimbursement of qualifying
amounts used to fund capital projects in Alabamigsidsippi and Tennessee.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of an asset retiremerigabibn associated with the retirement of a targgibhg-lived asset as a liability in the period
incurred. The liability is measured at discourfEdvalue and is adjusted to its present valusuinsequent periods as accretion expense is
recorded. The corresponding asset retirement aostsapitalized as part of the carrying amourhefrelated long-lived asset and depreciated over
the asset’s useful life. Asset retirement obligagi are reviewed annually in the fourth quarted@nahen circumstances or other events indicate tha
changes underlying retirement assumptions may beserred.
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The activity of our asset retirement obligation aadollows:
December 31

2010 2009
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 702 $ 72.1
Accretion 5.C 5.C
Spending 9.9 (20.9
Currency translation adjustmel 0.€ 1.3
Adjustments 4.€ 2.7
Ending balance $ 705 3 70.2

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, our consolidateanoal sheets included an asset retirement obligafi$66.8 million and $53.1 million,
respectively, which were classified as other norentrliabilities.

In 2010, we had net adjustments that increasedgbet retirement obligation by $4.6 million, whiobluded a restructuring charge of $6.7
million related to the acceleration of costs for @arleston, TN facility and our Augusta, GA figil This charge was offset by decreases in
estimated costs for certain assets and lower spgitidan expected on projects completed in 2010.

In 2009, we had net adjustments that increasedgbet retirement obligation by $2.7 million, whiglre primarily comprised of increases in
estimated costs for certain assets.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistsrefdn currency translation adjustments, pensionpastretirement liability adjustments,
amortization of prior service costs and actuanakes, net unrealized gains (losses) on derivatimgracts, and net unrealized gains (losses) on
marketable securities. We do not provide for ih8ome taxes on foreign currency translation adjesits since we do not provide for such taxes on
undistributed earnings for foreign subsidiaries tieve been permanently reinvested.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed annuatiythe fourth quarter and/or when circumstancestioer events indicate that impairment
may have occurred. Circumstances that could triggémpairment test include but are not limited #osignificant adverse change in the business
climate; a significant adverse legal judgment; ageeash flow trends; an adverse action or assessiy@ government agency; unanticipated
competition; decline in our stock price; and a Bigant restructuring charge within a reportingtunrhe annual impairment test involves the
comparison of the estimated fair value of a repgrtinit to its carrying amount. We define repagtimits at the business segment level or one level
below the business segment, which for our ChloahlRroducts segment are the U.S. operations anddian operations. For purposes of testing
goodwill for impairment, goodwill has been allochte these reporting units to the extent it reladesach reporting unit. The fair value is
determined based on a variety of assumptions iimgjuelstimated future cash flows of the reporting,udiscount rates and comparable company
trading multiples. An impairment would be recordtetthe carrying amount exceeded the estimatedviire. No impairment charges were recorded
for 2010, 2009 or 2008.

We use a discounted cash flow approach “incomecagpi’ to develop the estimated fair value of a régpg unit. Management judgment is
required in developing the assumptions for thealisted cash flow model. We also corroborate osealinted cash flow analysis by evaluating a
market-based approach that considers earningsebieterest, taxes, depreciation and amortizati@ TBA) multiples from a representative sample
of comparable public companies in the chemical $tigu An impairment would be recorded if the cargyamount exceeded the estimated fair ve
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The discount rate, profitability assumptions, teratigrowth rate and cyclical nature of our chidwadilbusiness are the material assumptions
utilized in the discounted cash flow model useddtimate the fair value of each reporting unite Tiscount rate reflects a weighted-average cost of
capital, which is calculated based on observabliketaata. Some of these data (such as the gskdir treasury rate and the pretax cost of debét) ar
based on the market data at a point in time. Qth&x (such as the equity risk premium) are baped market data over time for a peer group of
companies in the chemical manufacturing industh\@imarket capitalization premium added, as apblé&

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estisnatgsumptions and judgments about future evéhts.analysis uses our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmlysis uses the assumptions in our long-rategegbout terminal growth rates, forecasted
capital expenditures, and changes in future workaqgtal requirements to determine the implied ¥alue of each reporting unit. The long-range
plan reflects management judgment, supplementedd@pendent chemical industry analyses which peowditiyear chlor alkali industry operatil
and pricing forecasts.

All of our recorded goodwill, which is associatedhwacquisitions, is included in the Chlor Alkalidelucts segment. Given the economic
environment and the uncertainties regarding theaochpn our business, there can be no assuranceuhestimates and assumptions, made for
purposes of our goodwill impairment testing durihg fourth quarter of 2010, will prove to be anwate prediction of the future. If our assumpti
regarding forecasted sales or gross margins araahidved, we may be required to record goodwilairment charges in future periods. It is not
possible at this time to determine if any such@impairment charge would result or, if it doesether such charge would be material.

Other Assets

Included in other assets were the following:
December 31

2010 2009
(% in millions)
Investments in nc-consolidated affiliate $ 25¢ % 19.€
Intangible assets (less accumulated amortizatid®dbdf million and $3.5 million, respectivel 15.2 16.7
Deferred debt issuance co 16.4 17.4
Interest rate swaf 5.3 7.4
Other 95 9.9
Other asset $ 722 3 71.C

The August 31, 2007 valuation of identifiable irgérie assets that were obtained from the Pioneguisition included $19.0 million
associated with customers, customer contractsedatianships, and $1.2 million associated withrinédly developed and purchased software. These
assets are being amortized over fifteen yearsigad/éars, respectively, on a straight-line bagimortization expense was $1.5 million in 2010,
2009 and 2008. Intangible assets are reviewedadigrio the fourth quarter and/or when circumstanceother events indicate that impairment may
have occurred.

Environmental Liabilities and Expenditures

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a ligidilas been incurred and the amount of the
liability can be reasonably estimated, based uporent law and existing technologies. These anmuvitich are not discounted and are exclusiv
claims against third parties, are adjusted perallji@s assessment and remediation efforts progresdditional technical or legal information
becomes available. Environmental costs are cagathif the costs increase the value of the prgpamt/or mitigate or prevent contamination from
future operations.

Income Taxes
Deferred taxes are provided for differences betwherinancial statement and tax bases of assdtiadilities using enacted tax rates in

effect for the year in which the differences arpepted to reverse. A valuation allowance is preditb offset deferred tax assets if, based on the
available evidence, it is more likely than not thatne or all of the value of the deferred tax asadt not be realized.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafgeir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities, and our openadi that use foreign currencies. The risk of t@ssbe assessed from the perspective of adverse
changes in fair values, cash flows and future egsi We have established policies and procedunesrging our management of market risks and
the use of financial instruments to manage expasusech risks. We use hedge accounting treatfoestibstantially all of our business transacti
whose risks are covered using derivative instrumemhe hedge accounting treatment provides fod#ferral of gains or losses (included in other
comprehensive loss) on derivative instruments sotth time as the related transactions occur.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial mstent which subjects us to a concentration ofitresk. Credit is extended based upon the
evaluation of a customer’s financial condition agenerally, collateral is not required. Conceitra of credit risk with respect to receivables are
somewhat limited due to our large number of custsirtbe diversity of these customers’ businessdsfamgeographic dispersion of such
customers. The majority of our accounts receivabdederived from sales denominated in U.S. dollsve maintain an allowance for doubtful
accounts based upon the expected collectibiligliafade receivables.

Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price at which antasséd be exchanged in a current transaction kEtvkeowledgeable, willing parties or the
amount that would be paid to transfer a liabildyatnew obligor, not the amount that would be paisettle the liability with the creditor. Where
available, fair value is based on observable markees or parameters or derived from such pricggmameters. Where observable prices or inputs
are not available, valuation models are appliedesg valuation techniques involve some level ofagament estimation and judgment, the degre
which is dependent on the price transparency ®irtbtruments or market and the instruments’ corifyle

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tionsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsedhe level of judgment associated with
the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hadriaal levels, defined by ASC 820, formerly SFA8.M57, and directly related to the amount of
subjectivity associated with the inputs to fairuation of these assets and liabilities, are asvig!

Level 1— Inputs were unadjusted, quoted prices in activeketarfor identical assets or liabilities at the sweament date

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices ideldiin Level 1) were either directly or indirectligservable for the asset or liability
through correlation with market data at the measerd date and for the duration of the instrur's anticipated life

Level 3 — Inputs reflected management’s bestnesé of what market participants would use inipgahe asset or liability at the
measurement date. Consideration was given tdskeénherent in the valuation technigue and thk irierent in the inputs to the
model.

Retirement-Related Benefits

We account for our defined benefit pension plardsr@om-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgaaial models required by ASC 715,
formerly SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 106, respectivalifese models use an attribution approach thegrgly spreads the financial impact of
changes to the plan and actuarial assumptionstbgeaverage remaining service lives of the empleye¢he plan. Changes in liability due to
changes in actuarial assumptions such as discatejtrate of compensation increases and mortabtyell as annual deviations between what was
assumed and what was experienced by the planeatedras gains or losses. The principle underlyiagequired attribution approach is that
employees render service over their average rengagervice lives on a relatively smooth basis @mekefore, the accounting for benefits earned
under the pension or non-pension postretiremergfiismplans should follow the same relatively snhgoattern. Substantially all defined benefit
pension plan participants are inactive; therefactyarial gains and losses are amortized basedtbpaemaining life expectancy of the inactive plan
participants. For the years ended December 31) aad 2009, the average remaining life expectahtlyeoinactive participants in the defined
benefit pension plan was 19 years.

66




One of the key assumptions for the net periodicsipencalculation is the expected lotegm rate of return on plan assets, used to deterthi
“market-related value of assets.” The “markettatavalue of assets” recognizes differences betweeplans actual return and expected return «
a five year period. The required use of an exmelctieg-term rate of return on the market-relatelde®f plan assets may result in a recognized
pension income that is greater or less than theahmtturns of those plan assets in any given y@aer time, however, the expected Iadegn return
are designed to approximate the actual long-tetorns and, therefore, result in a pattern of incame expense recognition that more closely
matches the pattern of the services provided bgihgloyees. As differences between actual andotegeeturns are recognized over five years,
they subsequently generate gains and losses thatibject to amortization over the average remgilifi@ expectancy of the inactive plan
participants, as described in the preceding papagra

We use long-term historical actual return inforroatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-term
investment returns and inflation by reference tiemal sources to develop the expected returnam ggsets as of December 31.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepension postretirement benefit plan accountifigct the rates available on high-
quality fixed-income debt instruments on DecemlfeoBeach year. The rate of compensation incrisdsased upon our long-term plans for such
increases. For retiree medical plan accounting,ewvew external data and our own historical trefaddealthcare costs to determine the healthcare
cost trend rates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receiverchange for an award of equity instruments, siscstock options, performance shares,
and restricted stock, based on the grant-datedhile of the award. This cost is recognized olemteriod during which an employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award, theisitguservice period (usually the vesting periodh initial measurement is made of the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an aefdrability instruments based on its current feédue and the value of that award is subsequently
remeasured at each reporting date through themsettit date. Changes in fair value of liability adgaduring the requisite service period are
recognized as compensation cost over that period.

The fair value of each option granted, which tyfljcaeests ratably over three years, but not lessitbne year, was estimated on the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mosligh the following weighted-average assumptionsdus

2010 2009 2008
Dividend yield 4.32% 4.2€% 4.3%%
Risk-free interest rat 3.0% 2.32% 3.21%
Expected volatility 42% 40% 32%
Expected life (years 7.C 7.C 7.C
Grant fair value (per optior $ 461 $ 3.8 $ 4.52
Exercise price $ 156¢ $ 142t $ 20.2¢
Shares grante 803,75( 866,25( 523,35(

Dividend yield was based on a historical averagisk-free interest rate was based on zero coupBnTieasury securities rates for the
expected life of the options. Expected volatilitgs based on our historical stock price movemestsye believe that historical experience is thé bes
available indicator of the expected volatility. gected life of the option grant was based on hitbexercise and cancellation patterns, as wee
that historical experience is the best estimatduture exercise patterns.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, whilends ASC 820. This update adds new fair vahaeodure requirements about
transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 and sepatigtlosures about purchases, sales, issuancesetilements related to Level 3
measurements. This update expands disclosureslaation techniques and inputs used to measuredhie. This update is effective for fiscal ye
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for éggirement to provide the Level 3 activity of puashs, sales, issuances, and settlements, which
will be effective for fiscal years beginning afleecember 15, 2010. We adopted the provisions & 2810-06 on January 1, 2010, except for the
requirement to provide the additional Level 3 atgiwhich will be adopted in 2011. As of DecemBdr, 2010, we had no assets or liabilities
recorded at fair value using Level 3 measuremefite adoption of this update did not have a mdteffact on our consolidated financial stateme
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In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, whiak incorporated into ASC 860, and SFAS No. 167¢khias incorporated into ASC
810. These statements changed the way entitiesiactor securitizations and special-purpose @itiThe new standards eliminate existing
exceptions, strengthen the standards relatingdurisigations and special-purpose entities, andaaoé disclosure requirements. These statements
became effective for us on January 1, 2010. Tloptiah of these statements did not have a mateffiatt on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, whicls waorporated into ASC 855. ASC 855 provides gn@: on management’s
assessment of subsequent events. The statenmeritagpected to significantly change practice beeats guidance is similar to that in American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ProfessibStandards U.S. Auditing Standards Section S&lhsequent Events,” with some
modifications. This statement became effectiveuon June 15, 2009. The adoption of this statenid not have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements. In February02@ie FASB issued ASU 2010-09 “Subsequent Evestiendments to Certain Recognition and
Disclosure Requirements,” which removed the requéets in ASC 855 for an SEC filer to disclose theedhrough which subsequent events have
been evaluated for both issued and revised finhsi@tements. This update became effective upnraigce for us and the adoption of this update did
not have a material effect on our consolidatednfonea statements.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGE

On December 9, 2010 our board of directors@apg a plan to convert the 260,000 tons of mercetlycapacity at our Charleston, TN
facility to 200,000 tons of membrane capacity cépalb producing both potassium hydroxide and causida. The project has an estimated capital
cost of approximately $160 million. The board @&dtors also approved plans to reconfigure ourusta, GA facility to manufacture bleach and
distribute caustic soda, while discontinuing cldtkali manufacturing at this site. This actionlwélduce our chlor alkali manufacturing capacity by
100,000 tons. We based our decision on sever@rfacFirst, over the past eighteen months we keaperienced a steady increase in the number of
customers unwilling to accept our products manufact using mercury cell technology. Second, tiefederal legislation that was passed in 2008
governing the treatment of mercury that signifitatimits our recycling options after December 2012. We concluded that exiting mercury cell
technology production after 2012 represented acaepable future cost risk. Further, the conversibthe Charleston, TN plant to membrane
technology will reduce the electricity usage petUg@toduced by approximately 25% and the configoratf the new plant will result in an increase
in our capacity to produce potassium hydroxidee @acision to reconfigure the Augusta, GA facildiymanufacture bleach and distribute caustic
soda removes the highest cost production capaoity bur system. We currently expect to completsahlmnversions by the end of 2012. We
recorded a pretax restructuring charge of $28.0aniln the fourth quarter of 2010. The restruttgrcharge included write-off of equipment and
facility costs of $17.5 million, acceleration ofsas retirement obligations of $6.7 million, empleyseverance and related benefit costs of $2.8
million, and lease and other contract terminatiosts of $1.0 million. We expect to incur additibolarges related to the implementation of plans to
exit the use of mercury cell technology in the claltikali manufacturing process over the next sdwarars; however, at this time, we are not able to
estimate the extent of any additional expensestiagtbe incurred in connection with the implemeaotabf the exit plans.

On November 3, 2010 we announced that we madaeitision to relocate Winchester centerfire ammaonitiperations from East Alton,
to Oxford, MS. This relocation, when completedipi®cast to reduce Winchester's annual operatisgsdy approximately $30 million. Consistent
with this decision we have initiated an estimaté@i®million five-year project, which includes apgirately $80 million of capital spending. The
State of Mississippi and local governments haveigeal incentives which should offset approxima#lypercent of the capital spending. We
recorded a pretax restructuring charge of $6.2anilin the fourth quarter of 2010. The restrustgrcharge included employee severance and relates
benefit costs of $3.2 million and a non-cash pemaied other postretirement benefits curtailmentgdaf $3.0 million. We expect to incur
additional charges related to the transfer of tlogmgations over the next several years; howevéhjsatime, we are not able to estimate the extént
any additional expenses that may be incurred imection with the relocation.
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The following table summarizes the major comgais of the 2010 restructuring charge and theiréngabalances as of December 31,

2010:
2010 Accrued
Restructuring Amounts Restructuring
Charge Utilized Costs
($ in millions)

Write-off of equipment and facilit $ 178 $ aze $ =
Facility exit costs (asset retirement obligatic 6.7 (6.7) —
Employee severance and job related ben 6.C — 6.C
Pension and other postretirement benefits curtaiti 3.C (3.0 —
Lease and other contract termination ci 1.C — 1.C

$ 34z $ (272 $ 7.C

As of December 31, 2010, we have not incurred asi @xpenditures related to the 2010 restructutidgge. The majority of the remaining
balance of $7.0 million of the 2010 restructuritguge is expected to be paid out in 2012 throudt520

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income per share are computetiviging net income by the weighted average nunab@ommon shares
outstanding. Diluted net income per share reflg@dilutive effect of stock-based compensation.

Years ended December =

Computation of Income per Shar 2010 2009 2008
($ and shares in millions, except per share d
Net income $ 64.6 $ 1357 $ 157.7
Basic share 79.2 78.1 75.€
Basic net income per share $ 08z $ 174 $ 2.0¢
Diluted shares
Basic share 79.2 78.1 75.¢
Stock-based compensation 0.7 0.2 0.3
Diluted share: 79.€ 78.3 76.1
Diluted net income per share $ 0.81 $ 1.7 $ 2.07

The computation of dilutive shares from stock-basemipensation does not include 0.6 million, 0.Jiariland zero shares in 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively, as their effect would have tadidilutive.
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ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable consisiéthe following:

December 31

2010 2009
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 33 % 5.C
Provisions (credited) charg 0.3 6.4
Recoveries (write-offs), net 1.8 (8.2)
Ending balance $ 48 $ 3.3
INVENTORIES
December 31
2010 2009
($ in millions)
Supplies $ 306 $ 29.C
Raw material 56.5 52.2
Work in proces:! 24.7 23.C
Finished goods 104.£ 77.€
216.¢ 182.(
LIFO reserve: (60.€) (58.2)
Inventories $ 155.¢ $ 123.¢

Inventories valued using the LIFO method comprig2% and 68% of the total inventories at Decembef810 and 2009, respectively. If
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of inventory aaaating had been used, inventories would have bé8r83$nillion and $58.2 million higher than that
reported at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respegtivel

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
December 31

Useful Lives 2010 2009
($ in millions)
Land and improvements to la/ 1C-20 Years $ 1418 $ 140.(
Buildings and building equipme 1C-25 Years 163.t 162.:
Machinery and equipme 3-12 Years 1,379.( 1,339.¢
Leasehold improvemen 2.1 1.9
Construction in progres 57.C 52.7
Property, plant and equipme 1,743.. 1,696.°
Accumulated depreciation (1,068.7) (1,001.9)
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 675.C $ 695.4

Depreciation expense was $85.4 million, $70.2 onilliand $68.1 million for 2010, 2009 and 2008, eesipely. Leased assets capitalized and
included above are not significant. Interest @jzied was $0.9 million, $9.7 million, and $5.0 koih for 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Maintenance and repairs chargegéoations amounted to $128.8 million, $135.0 milliand $124.1 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

The consolidated statements of cash flowshferyears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2898déed a $2.3 million, $2.6 million and

$(16.2) million, respectively, increase (decredseapital expenditures, with the correspondinghgesto accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
related to purchases of property, plant and equipmneluded in accounts payable at December 310,22009 and 2008.
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INVESTMENTS—AFFILIATED COMPANIES

We have a 50% ownership interest in SunBelt, whidrccounted for using the equity method of acdagntThe condensed financial
positions and results of operations of SunBeltsrentirety were as follows:

December 31

100% Basis 2010 2009
Condensed balance sheet d (% in millions)
Current assel $ 21z $ 16.1
Noncurrent asse 78.€ 94.1
Current liabilities 21.2 21.4
Noncurrent liabilities 73.1 85.c

Years Ended December 3

2010 2009 2008
Condensed income statement d (% in millions)
Net sales $ 1572 $ 167.¢ $ 173.C
Gross profit 62.7 79.¢ 87.4
Net income 46.2 59.4 65.1

The amount of cumulative unremitted earnings ofB&inwas $5.4 million and $3.5 million at DecemB&r 2010 and 2009, respectively. We
received distributions from SunBelt totaling $2hillion, $34.4 million, and $29.4 million in 201@P09 and 2008, respectively. We have not made
any contributions in 2010, 2009 or 2008.

In accounting for our ownership interest in SunBegk adjust the reported operating results for egption expense in order to conform
SunBelt’s plant and equipment useful lives to oBgginning January 1, 2007, the original machirsrg equipment of SunBelt had been fully
depreciated in accordance with our useful assesJithus resulting in lower depreciation experdee lower depreciation expense increased our
share of SunBelt’s operating results by $3.5 milli$3.5 million and $4.8 million in 2010, 2009 a2@08, respectively. The operating results from
Sunbelt included interest expense of $3.5 millh0 million, and $4.4 million in 2010, 2009 and0respectively, on the SunBelt Notes. Finally,
we provide various administrative, management agitical services to SunBelt for which we receifegs totaling $9.0 million, $8.4 million, and
$8.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2&)997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guaradt&enior Secured Notes Due 2017,
Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteed Senicu&s Notes Due 2017, Series G. We refer to thetss as the SunBelt Notes. The SunBelt
Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23% per annagglpe semiannually in arrears on each June 2Dandmber 22

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Poly@neartner in this venture, has guaranteed thiesS& Notes, in both cases pursuant to
customary guarantee agreements. Our guaranteeay@ne’s guarantee are several, rather than jdiherefore, we are not required to make any
payments to satisfy the Series G Notes guarantg&blyOne. An insolvency or bankruptcy of PolyQvi# not automatically trigger acceleration
the SunBelt Notes or cause us to be required terpakments under our guarantee, even if PolyOregjisired to make payments under its
guarantee. However, if SunBelt does not make tirpeyments on the SunBelt Notes, whether as atresfailure to pay on a guarantee or
otherwise, the holders of the SunBelt Notes magged against the assets of SunBelt for repayménte were to make debt service payments u
our guarantee, we would have a right to recoveh gayments from SunBelt.
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Beginning on December 22, 2002 and each year thr@0g7, SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 miliérthe SunBelt Notes, of which $6.1
million is attributable to the Series O Notes. gkfthe payment of $6.1 million on the Series O NateDecember 2010, our guarantee of these notes
was $42.7 million. In the event SunBelt cannot enaky of these payments, we would be requiredrtd fbe payment on the Series O Notes. In
certain other circumstances, we may also be redjtireepay the SunBelt Notes prior to their mayuritVe and PolyOne have agreed that, if we or
PolyOne intend to transfer our respective interes&unBelt and the transferring party is unablelitain consent from holders of 80% of the
aggregate principal amount of the indebtednesgeeta the guarantee being transferred after gaitid iegotiations, then we and PolyOne will be
required to repay our respective portions of theBflt Notes. In such event, any make whole orlaingienalties or costs will be paid by the
transferring party.

In addition to SunBelt, we have two other investtagwhich are accounted for under the equity method

On November 16, 2007, we purchased for cash a6 $iillion equity interest in a limited liability eopany that owns a bleach and related
chemical manufacturing facility (bleach joint vergy As part of the investment we also enteredl $etveral commercial agreements, including
agreements by which we will supply raw materiald aervices, and we will have marketing responsybitr bleach and caustic soda.

We hold a 9.1% limited partnership interest in Bzgs Storage Company, Ltd. (Bay Gas), an Alabamitelihpartnership, in which
EnergySouth, Inc. (EnergySouth), which was acquime2D08 by Sempra Energy, is the general partitbrinterest of 90.9%. Bay Gas owns, lea
and operates underground gas storage and relgtelhpi facilities, which are used to provide steragthe McIntosh, AL area and delivery of nat
gas to EnergySouth customers.

The following table summarizes our investmentsunmon-consolidated equity affiliates:
December 31

2010 2009
($ in millions)
SunBelt $ 01 $ 4.1
Bay Gas 14.¢ 12.€
Bleach joint venture 11.C 11.1
Investments in equity affiliate $ 25¢ $ 19.€

The following table summarizes our equity earniafjeon-consolidated affiliates:
Years Ended December 3

2010 2009 2008
($ in millions)
SunBelt $ 266 $ 332 % 37.5
Bay Gas 2.2 1.8 1.t
Bleach joint ventur 1.1 2.6 0.€
Equity earnings of nc-consolidated affiliate $ 29§ 377 $ 39.4

We received net distributions from our non-consatkd affiliates of $23.6 million, $37.1 million, @$27.6 million for 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
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DEBT
Credit Facility

At December 31, 2010 we had $231.4 million avadaihider our $240 million senior revolving creditifiy, because we had issued $8.6
million of letters of credit under a $110 millionltfacility. The senior revolving credit facilityilvexpire in October 2012. We have the option to
expand the $240 million senior revolving creditiliac by an additional $60 million through addingr@aximum of two additional lending institutions
each year. Under the senior revolving credit figcilve may select various floating rate borrowoions. The actual interest rate paid on
borrowings under the senior revolving credit fagils based on a pricing grid which is dependeminuiie leverage ratio as calculated under the 1
of the facility at the end of the prior fiscal qtear The facility includes various customary riesive covenants, including restrictions relatedhe
ratio of debt to earnings before interest expet@s@&s, depreciation and amortization (leverage)aind the ratio of earnings before interest expens
taxes, depreciation and amortization to interepeaze (coverage ratio). Compliance with theseravis is determined quarterly based on the
operating cash flows for the last four quarterse Wére in compliance with all covenants and retsris under all our outstanding credit agreements
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and no everdfatili had occurred that would permit the lenderden our outstanding credit agreements to
accelerate the debt if not cured. In the futute,ability to generate sufficient operating cagiwi, among other factors, will determine the amsunt
available to be borrowed under these facilities. oADecember 31, 2010, there were no covenargther restrictions that limited our ability to
borrow.

At December 31, 2010, we had total letters of ¢refi$34.8 million outstanding, of which $8.6 milii were issued under our $240 million
senior revolving credit facility. In addition taiosenior revolving credit facility, we have a $2lion letter of credit facility, which we reducdtom
$35 million during 2010. The letters of credit aied to support certain long-term debt and cewairkers compensation insurance policies.

Long-Term Debt
December 31

2010 2009
Notes payable (% in millions)
Variable-rate Go Zone bonds, due 2024 (1.76% at Decembe03D) $ 14C $ —
Variable-rate Recovery Zone bonds, due 2-2035 (1.76% at December 31, 20 103.( —
9.125%, due 2011 (includes interest rate swap2 @& #illion in 2010 and $5.5 million in 200 77.€ 80.5
6.5%, due 201 11.4 11.4
6.75%, due 2016 (includes interest rate swaps & $dlion in 2010) 129.¢ 125.C
8.875%, due 2019 (includes unamortized discouftlaf million in 2010 and $1.2 million in 200 148.¢ 148.¢
Industrial development and environmental improvenodtigations at a fixed interest rate of 6.625%e @017-
2025 (includes interest rate swaps of $0.7 millim2010 and $1.4 million in 2009) 11.2 32.7
Total debt 496.( 398.4
Amounts due within one year 77.€ —
Total lon¢-term debr $ 418.2 $ 398.4
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In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $41.0 milliore @35. The bonds were issued by
the TN Authority pursuant to a trust indenture bestw the TN Authority and U. S. Bank National Asation, as trustee. The bonds were sold to
PNC Bank, as administrative agent for itself arsyradicate of participating banks, in a private plaent under a Credit and Funding Agreement
dated December 27, 2010, between us and PNC Bamceeds of the bonds will be loaned by the TN Arith to us under a loan agreement,
whereby we are obligated to make loan paymentsed N Authority sufficient to pay all debt serviaed expenses related to the bonds. Our
obligations under the loan agreement and relatésl mear interest at a fluctuating rate based orORB The financial covenants in the credit
agreement mirror those in our senior revolving trietility. The bonds may be tendered to us (aithpremium) periodically beginning November
1, 2015. During December 2010, we drew $41.0 omlbf the bonds. The proceeds from the bondseapgined to be used to fund capital project
spending for our Charleston, TN facility mercuryl cenversion. The proceeds remain with the treisted are classified as a noncurrent asset on ou
consolidated balance sheet as restricted cashsuoh time as we request reimbursement of quatifimounts used for the Charleston, TN facility
mercury cell conversion.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $42.0 milliore @33. The bonds were issued by
MS Finance pursuant to a trust indenture betweerFvM&nce and U. S. Bank National Association, astée. The bonds were sold to PNC Bank, as
administrative agent for itself and a syndicatpaticipating banks, in a private placement und€redit and Funding Agreement dated December 1,
2010, between us and PNC Bank. Proceeds of thashamiti be loaned by MS Finance to us under a lgreement, whereby we are obligated to
make loan payments to MS Finance sufficient togdagiebt service and expenses related to the bo@ds.obligations under the loan agreement and
related note bear interest at a fluctuating ratetdan LIBOR. The financial covenants in the dragreement mirror those in our senior revolving
credit facility. The bonds may be tendered towishout premium) periodically beginning November2D15. During December 2010, we drew
$42.0 million of the bonds. The proceeds fromtibads are required to be used to fund capital prejgending on our relocation of the Winchester
centerfire ammunition manufacturing operations fieast Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. The proceeds remaith the trustee and are classified as a
noncurrent asset on our consolidated balance seestricted cash, until such time as we reqegsbursement of qualifying amounts used for the
Oxford, MS Winchester relocation.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of tagragt bonds totaling $70.0 million due 2024. Thadminclude $50.0 million of Go Zone
and $20.0 million of Recovery Zone. The bonds wssaed by the AL Authority pursuant to a trustentlre between the AL Authority and U. S.
Bank National Association, as trustee. The boneiewold to PNC Bank, as administrative agenttéedfiand a syndicate of participating banks,
private placement under a Credit and Funding Ageegrdated October 14, 2010, between us and PNC. Bardceeds of the bonds will be loaned
by the AL Authority to us under a loan agreemeritereby we are obligated to make loan paymentsaté\thAuthority sufficient to pay all debt
service and expenses related to the bonds. Oigratibhs under the loan agreement and relatedbrezteinterest at a fluctuating rate based on
LIBOR. The financial covenants in the credit agneat mirror those in our senior revolving creditifitdy. The bonds may be tendered to us (witt
premium) periodically beginning November 1, 20M8e have the option to borrow up to the entire $Toilllon in a series of draw downs through
December 31, 2011. During 2010, we drew $34.0onilbf the bonds. The proceeds from the bondseayeired to be used to fund capital project
spending at our Mcintosh, AL facility. As of Decbker 31, 2010, $19.0 million of the proceeds remuth the trustee and are classified as a
noncurrent asset on our consolidated balance skeestricted cash, until such time as we reqegsbursement of qualifying amounts used for
capital project spending at our McIntosh, AL fagili

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revenndtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March 2016. We
paid a premium of $0.4 million to the bond holdevkjch was included in interest expense. We asognized a $0.3 million deferred gain in
interest expense related to the interest rate swapsh were terminated in April, 2010, on thesdustrial revenue bonds. In October 2010, we
redeemed additional industrial revenue bonds tajehil.8 million, with a maturity date of October120
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In August 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 2019 Noweith a maturity date of August 15, 2019. The20ibtes were issued at 99.19% of par
value, providing a yield to maturity to investofs9d0%. Interest is paid semi-annually in arreavrach February 15 and August 15. Proceeds of
$145.5 million, after expenses of $3.3 million,rfrethe 2019 Notes were used to further strengthefoog-term liquidity.

We had a $75 million Accounts Receivable Facilignewable annually for five years, which would haxgired in July 2012. During the
second quarter of 2010, we terminated the AccoRetsivable Facility. Based on the liquidity froash and cash equivalents, cash flow from
operations, and borrowings under our senior remglaredit facility, the Accounts Receivable Fagilitas no longer necessary. There had been no
borrowings under the Accounts Receivable Facilitges 2007. The Accounts Receivable Facility predidor the sale of our eligible trade
receivables to a third party conduit through a Wwhoilvned, bankruptcy-remote, special purpose ethidy was consolidated for financial statement
purposes. The Accounts Receivable Facility coetagpecific covenants relating to the ability &f tender to obtain or maintain a first priorityrlie
on the receivables. In addition, the Accounts Reatge Facility incorporated the leverage and cagercovenants that are contained in the senior
revolving credit facility.

Annual maturities of long-term debt are $77.8 miilin 2011, zero in 2012, $11.4 million in 2013;@m 2014 and 2015 and a total of $406.8
million thereafter.

As a result of the amount of variable-rate finagsicompared to our fixed-rate financings, we eut@rto floating interest rate swaps in order
to manage interest expense and floating interéstsgosure to optimal levels. We have entererlsntaps, as disclosed below, whereby we agree tc
pay variable and fixed rates to a counterparty viltyrn, pays us fixed and variable rates. Ircalies the underlying index for variable ratehes t
six-month LIBOR. Accordingly, payments are sett®ery six months and the terms of the swaps a&sdme as the underlying debt instruments.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Swap
Underlying Debt Instrument Amount Date of Swap December 31, 201
(% in millions) Olin Pays

Floating Rate
9.125%, due 201 $ 50.C December 200 3.92%
9.125%, due 201 $ 25.C March 200z 3.25-4.25% @)
6.75%, due 201 $ 65.C March 201C 3.25-4.250% (3)
6.75%, due 201 $ 60.C March 201C 3.25-4.25% (3)
Industrial development obligation at a fixed instreate of 6.625% due 20.  $ 7.7 March 200z 0.72%

Olin Receives

Floating Rate
9.125%, due 201 $ 75.C January 200! 7.35%

(@) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the waliefall within the range showr
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In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgoswea $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate deliigations, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, pay/fixed rates. The counterparty to these agratme Citibank, N.A., a major financial
institution. In January 2009, we entered into & Billion fixed interest rate swap with equal amEposite terms as the $75 million variable interest
rate swaps on the 2011 Notes. We have agreed/ta figed rate to a counterparty who, in turn, pagvariable rates. The counterparty to this
agreement is Bank of America, a major financiatiinon. The result was a gain of $7.9 million ive $75 million variable interest rate swaps,
which will be recognized through 2011. As of Deb&m31, 2010, $2.8 million of this gain was incldde current installments of long-term debt as
an increase to the carrying amount of the 2011 $\ote

The remaining $132.7 million of interest rate swhpse been designated as fair value hedges ofsthefrchanges in the value of our fixed-
rate debt due to changes in interest rates, fortiop of our fixed-rate borrowings. Accordingte interest rate swaps have been recorded at their
fair market value of $5.3 million at December 3@1Q and are included in other assets on the acanymgpconsolidated balance sheet, with a
corresponding increase in the carrying amount efétated debt. No gain or loss has been recasl¢ide swaps meet the criteria to qualify for hi
accounting treatment with no ineffectiveness. benterparty to these interest rate swap contra@stibank, N.A., a major financial institution.

Our loss in the event of nonperformance by thes@teoparties could be significant to our finangasition and results of operations. These
interest rate swaps reduced interest expense Byndillion, $3.0 million, and $2.4 million for 201@009 and 2008, respectively. The difference
between interest paid and interest received isided as an adjustment to interest expense.

PENSION PLANS

Most of our employees participate in defined cdmittion pension plans. We provide a contributioandndividual retirement contribution
account maintained with the CEOP primarily equad®b of the employee’s eligible compensation if saotployee is less than age 45, and 7.5% of
the employee’s eligible compensation if such emgéois age 45 or older. Expenses of the definetfibation pension plans were $13.3 million,
$12.7 million and $11.3 million for 2010, 2009 a2@D8, respectively.

A portion of our bargaining hourly employees counéro participate in our domestic defined beneditgion plans under a flat-benefit
formula. Our funding policy for the defined bengfension plans is consistent with the requiremehfederal laws and regulations. Our foreign
subsidiaries maintain pension and other benefiilavhich are consistent with statutory practic®sir defined benefit pension plan provides that if,
within three years following a change of controlQiin, any corporate action is taken or filing made&ontemplation of, among other things, a plan
termination or merger or other transfer of assetmbilities of the plan, and such termination,rger or transfer thereafter takes place, plan lisnef
would automatically be increased for affected paptints (and retired participants) to absorb aay gurplus (subject to applicable collective
bargaining requirements).

During the third quarter of 2006, the “Pension Betibn Act of 2006,” amended by “The Worker, Retirand Employer Recovery Act,”
during the fourth quarter of 2008, became law. Amthe stated objectives of the laws were the ptiote of both pension beneficiaries and the
financial health of the PBGC. To accomplish thelsgectives, the new laws require sponsors to fugfthdd benefit pension plans earlier than
previous requirements and to pay increased PBGRipnes. The laws require defined benefit pensiamglto be fully funded in 2011.
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Pension Obligations and Funded Stat

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets was follows:

December 31, 201

December 31, 200

(% in millions)

($ in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligatior U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye 1,727 $ 50z $ 1,777. 1,660.: $ 40.2 % 1,700.t
Service cos 2.8 0.7 3.8 2.8 0.€ 3.8
Interest cos 95.k 3.1 98.€ 99.¢ 3.1 103.C
Actuarial loss 86.¢ 5.2 92.1 89.C 4.C 93.C
Benefits paic (125.9) (6.€) (131.9 (124.%) (4.9 (229.0)
Curtailment 2.8 — 2.8 — — —
Currency translation adjustmel — 3.C 3.C — 6.€ 6.€
Benefit obligation at end of year 1,790.( $ 55.6 $ 1,845.¢ 17270 $ 50.2 $ 1,777t
December 31, 201 December 31, 200
(% in millions) (% in millions)

Change in Plan Asset U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Fair value of plar’ assets at beginning

year 1,670t $ 514 $ 1,722.( 1,603 $ 38¢ $ 1,642.:
Actual return on plar assets 185.€ 7.4 193.( 185.% 5.8 191.t
Employer contribution 4.C 10.C 14.C 5.3 4.5 9.8
Benefits paic (125.9) (6.€) (131.9 (123.9 (4.9 (128.2
Currency translation adjustments — 3.3 3.3 — 6.€ 6.€
Fair value of plar’ assets at end of ye 1,734¢ $ 65.5 $ 1,800.¢ 1,670 $ 514 $ 1,722.(

December 31, 201 December 31, 200
(% in millions) ($ in millions)

Funded Status U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Quialified plans 4€ $ 117 $ 16.2 22 % 28 % 5.C
Non-qualified plans (59.7) (1.8) (61.5) (58.9) (1.6) (60.5)
Total funded status (55.0) $ 9 $ (45.2) (56.7) $ 12 $ (55.5
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Under ASC 715, formerly SFAS No. 158, we record&2a.7 million after-tax charge ($38.7 million pe} to shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2010 for our pension plans. Thisgsheaflected a 45-basis point decrease in the pliseount rate, partially offset by the favorable
performance on plan assets during 2010. In 20@%eeorded a $23.0 million after-tax charge ($3billon pretax) to shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2009 for our pension plans. Thisgeheeflected a 50-basis point decrease in the plistount rate, partially offset by the favorable
performance on plan assets during 2009.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsisted of:

December 31, 201 December 31, 200

(% in millions) (% in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Prepaid benefit co: $ 4€ $ 117 $ 6.2 $ 22 % 28 % 5.C
Accrued benefit in current liabilitie (4.7 (0.7) (4.2 (4.0) (0.7 (4.2)
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabiliti¢ (55.6) 2.7) (57.9) (54.9 (1.5 (56.9
Accumulated other comprehensive los 401.¢ 8.2 410.] 381.¢ 6.3 387.¢
Net balance sheet impe $ 346.6 $ 181 $ 364.¢ 3 324.¢ 3 75 3 332.¢

The $92.1 million actuarial loss for 2010 was priityadue to a 45-basis point decrease in the pldis€ount rate. The $93.0 million actuarial
loss for 2009 was primarily due to a 50-basis pdetrease in the plans’ discount rate.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the benefit obligatif non-qualified pension plans was $61.5 millkord $60.5 million, respectively, and
was included in the above pension benefit obligatibhere were no plan assets for these non-ce@iifension plans. Benefit payments for the non-
qualified pension plans are expected to be asvigtio2011—3$4.3 million; 2012—%$12.2 million; 2013—$4million; 2014—3$3.5 million; and
2015—%2.8 million. Benefit payments for the quielif plans are projected to be as follows: 2011-8 inillion; 2012—$112.5 million; 2013—
$107.7 million; 2014—$103.4 million; and 2015—$99n8lion.

December 31

2010 2009
($ in millions)
Projected benefit obligatic $ 1,845¢ $ 1,777t
Accumulated benefit obligatic 1,831.¢ 1,760.%
Fair value of plan asse 1,800.¢ 1,722.(
Years Ended December 3
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Incon 2010 2009 2008
(% in millions)
Service cos $ 6.C $ 58 $ 7.9
Interest cos 98.€ 103.( 103.7%
Expected return on pla’ asset: (138.9 (135.5) (234.%)
Amortization of prior service co: 0.7 0.7 1.€
Recognized actuarial lo: 12.€ 9.3 9.8
Curtailments 3.2 — 4.1
Net periodic benefit incom $ 17.7) $ (16.7) $ (7.6)
Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Prete
Liability adjustmeni $ 387 $ 35.C $ 168.¢
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarisides (16.5) (20.0 (15.5)
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The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatdteterhployees of the operating segments
are allocated to the operating segments basedemréispective estimated census data.

In December 2010, we recorded a curtailment chaf§8.2 million associated with the relocation of &Vinchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @ud, MS. This charge was included in the restmircgucharge for 2010. In 2008, we recorded
curtailment charges of $4.1 million associated wlith transition of a portion of our East Alton,\inchester hourly workforce and our Mclintosh,
AL Chlor Alkali hourly workforce from a defined befit pension plan to a defined contribution pengitan.

In March 2010, we recorded a charge of $1.3 milissociated with an agreement to withdraw our Hesaahe NV chlor alkali hourly
workforce from a multi-employer defined benefit pem plan.

Pension Plan Assumption

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouatarad longerm rate of return on plan assets, have a sigmifieffect on the amounts repor
for net periodic benefit cost and accrued bendfigation amounts. We use a measurement date adrdieer 31 for our pension plans.

U.S. Pension Benefit Foreign Pension Benefit:
Weighted Average Assumption 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Discount rat—periodic benefit cos 5.7%% 6.25% 6.25% 6.5(% 7.5(% 5.5(%
Expected return on asst 8.5% 8.5% 8.5% 7.5(% 7.5(% 7.7%
Rate of compensation incree 3.C% 3.C% 3.C% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
Discount rat—benefit obligatior 5.3(% 5.7%% 6.25% 5.5(% 6.5(% 7.5(%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yietde represented by a series of annualized ina@idero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yeahe bonds used in the yield curve must have agatirRA or better per Standard & Poor’s, be non-
callable, and have at least $150 million par outditeag. The yield curve is then applied to the pctgd benefit payments from the plan. Based on
these bonds and the projected benefit paymentnssigie single rate that produces the same yidldeamatching bond portfolio, rounded to the
nearest quarter point, is used as the discount rate

The long-term expected rate of return on plan agsgtresents an estimate of the long-term ratetofns on the investment portfolio
consisting of equities, fixed income, and alten@athvestments. We use long-term historical aatetairn information, the allocation mix of
investments that comprise plan assets, and forestistates of long-term investment returns by exfee to external sources. The historic rate of
return on plan assets has been 11.0% for the hesais, 8.3% for the last 10 years, and 9.4% fetdkt 15 years. The following rates of return by
asset class were considered in setting the lomytate of return assumption:

U.S. equities 9% to 13%
Non-U.S. equities 10% to 14%
Fixed income/cas 5% to 9%
Alternative investment 5% to 15%
Absolute return strategit 8% to 12%
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Plan Asset:
Our pension plan asset allocation at December @) and 2009, by asset class was as follows:

Percentage of Plan Asse

Asset Clas! 2010 2009

U.S. equities 5% 4%
Non-U.S. equities 10% 10%
Fixed income/cas 49% 52%
Alternative investment 16% 15%
Absolute return strategit 20% 19%
Total 10(% 10C%

The Alternative Investments asset class includdgé&éunds, real estate, and private equity investsneThe Alternative Investment class is
intended to help diversify risk and increase reglbm utilizing a broader group of assets.

Absolute Return Strategies further diversify thamd assets through the use of asset allocatiaséek to provide a targeted rate of return
over inflation. The investment managers allocatel§ within asset classes that they consider tmbervalued in an effort to preserve gains in
overvalued asset classes and to find opporturitieadervalued asset classes.

A master trust was established by our pension fgl@aecumulate funds required to meet benefit paysnefnour plan and is administered so
in the interest of our plan’s participants and theineficiaries. The master trust’s investmenizwor is long term. Its assets are managed by
professional investment managers or invested ifepsinally managed investment vehicles.

Our pension plan maintains a portfolio of assetsgieed to achieve an appropriate risk adjustedmet@ihe portfolio of assets is also
structured to protect the funding level from thgaié/e impacts of interest rate changes on the asskliability values. This is accomplished by
investing in a portfolio of assets with a matudiyration that approximately matches the duratiothefplan liabilities. Risk is managed by
diversifying assets across asset classes whosa ptierns are not highly correlated, investingassively and actively managed strategies and in
value and growth styles, and by periodic rebalanoihasset classes, strategies and investmens stytebjectively set targets.

The following target allocation and ranges haventsst for each asset class:

Asset Clas: Target Allocation Target Range
U.S. equities 8% 0-16%
Non-U.S. equities 8% 0-16%
Fixed income/cas 56% 24-72%
Alternative investment 8% 0-28%
Absolute return strategit 20% 10-30%

For our domestic qualified pension plans, basedusrent funding requirements, we will not be regdito make any cash contributions at |
through 2011. We do have a small Canadian qudlfeEnsion plan to which we made $9.8 million andb$dillion of cash contributions in 2010 and
2009, respectively, and we anticipate less thamiiion of cash contributions in 2011.
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Determining which hierarchical level an asset ability falls within requires significant judgment.he following table summarizes our
domestic and foreign defined benefit pension pksets measured at fair value as of December 30; 201

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset: Inputs Inputs
Asset clas: (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(% in millions)

Equity securities

U.S. equities $ 534 $ 46.7 $ — 100.1

Non-U.S. equities — 172.( — 172.C
Fixed income / cast

Cash 43.2 — — 43.2

Government treasuri — 296.2 515 301.%

Corporate debt instrumer 1.7 407.7 411.€

Asse-backed securitie — 119.2 119.2
Alternative investments

Hedge fund of fund — — 251.¢ 251.¢

Real estate func — — 23.¢ 23.¢

Private equity fund — — 15.7 15.7
Absolute return strategies — 307.t 53.¢ 361.Z
Total asset $ 984 $ 1,349.0 $ 352.7 1,800.

The following table summarizes our domestic aneifpr defined benefit pension plan assets meastifait &alue as of December 31, 2009:

Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset: Inputs Inputs
Asset clas: (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(% in millions)

Equity securities

U.S. equities $ 39.C $ 306 $ — 69.€

Non-U.S. equities — 173.2 — 173.:
Fixed income / cast

Cash 18.t — — 18.t

Government treasuri — 236.2 2.C 238.2

Corporate debt instrumer 0.¢ 514.( 2.2 517.1

Asse-backed securitie — 112.¢ 0.2 112.¢
Alternative investments

Hedge fund of fund — — 225t 225k

Real estate func — — 22.¢ 22.¢

Private equity fund — — 12.€ 12.€
Absolute return strategies — 280.¢ 51.C 331.¢
Total asset $ 58.4 $ 1,347 $ 316.1 1,722.(
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U.S. equities—This class included actively and passively managgdty investments in common stock and comminglieds comprised
primarily of large-capitalization stocks with vajumre and growth strategies.

Non-U.S. equities—This class included actively managed equity inwestts in commingled funds comprised primarily démational large-
capitalization stocks from both developed and eingrgarkets.

Fixed income and cash+his class included commingled funds comprisededft dnstruments issued by the US and Canadian Umgdd.S.
Agencies, corporate debt instruments, asset- amtege-backed securities and cash.

Hedge fund of funds This class included a hedge fund which investhénfollowing types of hedge funds:

« Event driven hedge fur— This class included hedge funds that invest in Is&esi to capture excess returns that are drivemhbyket o
specific company events including activist investirghilosophies and the arbitrage of equity andate and public debt securitie

« Market neutral hedge fund—This class included investments in U.S. and intéwnal equities and fixed income securities w
maintaining a market neutral position in those ratsl

« Other hedge fund—This class primarily included lo-short equity strategies and a global macro fundchvtimvested in fixed incom
equity, currency, commodity and related derivativerkets.

At December 31, 2010, the asset allocation includeestment in approximately 30% event driven hefdgels, 30% market neutral hedge
funds, and 40% other hedge funds. At Decembe@19, the asset allocation included investmenppraeximately 40% event driven hedge funds,
40% market neutral hedge funds, and 20% other hieohgis.

Real estate funds-This class included several funds that invest gritpin U.S. commercial real estate.

Private equity funds—This class included several private equity furidd tnvest primarily in infrastructure and U.S. powgeneration and
transmission assets.

Absolute return strategies-This class included multiple strategies which usseaallocations that seek to provide a targetiedafareturn ove
inflation. The investment managers allocate funidkin asset classes that they consider to be watiexd in an effort to preserve gains in overva
asset classes and to find opportunities in undeedahsset classes. At December 31, 2010 and g@)8sset allocation included investment in
approximately 30% equities, 60% cash and fixedrmgoand 10% alternative investments.

U.S. equities and non-U.S. equities are primardiued at the net asset value provided by the inttp® administrator or custodian of the
commingled fund. The net asset value is baseti@ndlue of the underlying equities, which aredxhdn an active market. U.S. equities are also
valued at the closing price reported in an actiagk®t on which the individual securities are tradEted income investments are primarily value
the net asset value provided by the independeniréstmator or custodian of the fund. The net asadéie is based on the underlying assets, whic
valued using inputs such as the closing price tepoif traded on an active market, values derivech comparable securities of issuers with similar
credit ratings, or under a discounted cash flowaggh that utilizes observable inputs, such asotields of similar instruments, but includes
adjustments for risks that may not be observalida ss certain credit and liquidity risks. Alterimatinvestments are primarily valued at the neetiss
value as determined by the independent administeatoustodian of the fund. The net asset vallmged on the underlying investments, which are
valued using inputs such as quoted market pricédeotical instruments, discounted future cash fpiwdependent appraisals, and market-based
comparable data. Absolute return strategies araringled funds which reflect the fair value of @wnership interest in these funds. The
investments in these commingled funds include sonal of the above asset classes and are primaailyed at net asset values based on the
underlying investments, which are valued consistéttit the methodologies described above for eashtadass.
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The following table summarizes the activity for aafined benefit pension plans level 3 assetdi®year ended December 31, 2010:

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to Purchases
December 31 Realized Assets Held a Sales, and Transfers December 31
2009 Gain/(Loss) Period End Settlements In/(Out) 2010

($ in millions)
Fixed income / cast

Government treasurie $ 2C $ — 3 02 % 32 $ — 3 5.5
Corporate debt instrumer 2.2 — 0.2 0.1 (0.3 2.2
Asse-backed securitie 0.2 — — — (0.2)
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of fund 225k — 24.1 2.C — 251.¢
Real estate func 22.5 — (6.0) 7.5 — 23.E
Private equity fund 12.¢ 0.1 0.7 2.C — 15.7
Absolute return strategies 51.C — 1.7 1.2 — 53.¢
Total level 3 assel $ 316.1 $ 01 $ 21.C $ 16.C $ (05 $ 352.7

The following table summarizes the activity for a@afined benefit pension plans level 3 assetdieyear ended December 31, 2009:

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to Purchases
December 31 Realized Assets Held a Sales, and Transfers December 31
2008 Gain/(Loss) Period End Settlements In/(Out) 2009
(% in millions)
Fixed income / cast
Government treasurie $ 2t % 0.4 $ 1C $ 1.1 $ — $ 2.C
Corporate debt instrumer 3.3 (2.0) 1.€ (1.5) (0.2) 2.2
Asse-backed securitie — — — 0.2 — 0.2
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of fund 228.2 9.C 35.€ (47.6) — 225t
Real estate func 28.2 (5.3 (2.5) 1.9 — 22.¢
Private equity fund 12.t — (0.8) 1.2 — 12.€
Absolute return strategies 38.7 — 3.€ 8.7 — 51.C
Total level 3 assel $ 3132 $ 22 $ 38.6 $ (38.2 $ 02 $ 316.1

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
We provide certain postretirement health care (gejland life insurance benefits for eligible aetand retired domestic employees. The

health care plans are contributory with particiganbntributions adjusted annually based on medatak of inflation and plan experience. We use a
measurement date of December 31 for our postretineplans.
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Other Postretirement Benefits Obligations and FurdiStatus

Changes in the benefit obligation were as follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 200
(% in millions) ($ in millions)
Change in Benefit Obligatior U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye ~ $ 66.4 $ 7€ $ 74C $ 64.4 $ 53 $ 69.7
Service cos 1.2 0.1 1.3 1.1 0.1 1.2
Interest cos = 0.t 3.8 3.8 0.4 4.2
Actuarial loss 3.C 0.c 3.9 5.7 1.C 6.7
Benefits paic (9.7 (0.3 (9.4) (8.€) (0.2 (8.9
Curtailment 0.9 — (0.3 — — —
Currency translation adjustmel — 0.t 0.5 — 1.C 1.C
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 645 $ 9.2 $ 738 $ 66.4 $ 7€ $ 74.C
December 31, 201 December 31, 200
(% in millions) (% in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Funded status $ (645 $ 93 $ (73.9 $ (66.9 $ (76) $ (74.0

Under ASC 715, formerly SFAS No. 158, we record&2 & million after-tax charge ($3.6 million pre}da shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2010 for our other postretirementgldn 2009, we recorded a $4.3 million after-tharge ($6.7 million pretax) to shareholders’
equity as of December 31, 2009 for our other ptstraent plans.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoeasisted of:

December 31, 201 December 31, 200
(% in millions) (% in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Accrued benefit in current liabilitie $ 6.7 % 0.4 $ 7)) $ (75 $ 0.4 % (7.9
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabilitie (57.9) (8.9) (66.7) (58.9) (7.2 (66.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive los 35.2 (0.5) 34.7 34.7 (1.9 33.3
Net balance sheet impe $ (29.59 $ 9.9 $ (39.) $ (3L7) $ 9.00 $ (40.7)
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Years Ended December 3

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cc 2010 2009 2008
(% in millions)

Service cos $ 13 % 12 % 1t
Interest cos 3.8 4.2 4.4
Amortization of prior service co: (0.2) (0.2 (0.2
Recognized actuarial lo: 2.€ 2.1 2.8
Curtailment (0.2) — —
Net periodic benefit cos $ 73 3 73 3 8.5
Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Prete

Liability adjustmeni $ 3€ $ 6.7 $ 6.2
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarisides (2.2) (1.9 (2.6)

The service cost and amortization of prior sergiast components of postretirement benefit expegisgéed to the employees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesesl loen their respective estimated census data.

In December 2010, we recorded a curtailmesdicof $0.2 million associated with the relocatimfrour Winchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @ud, MS. This credit was included in the restrucig charge for 2010.

Other Postretirement Benefits Plan Assumptions

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discoust nalve a significant effect on the amounts regdde net periodic benefit cost and accrued
benefit obligation amounts.

December 31

Weighted Average Assumption 2010 2009 2008
Discount rat—periodic benefit cos 5.25% 6.25% 6.25%
Discount rat—benefit obligatior 4.9(% 5.25% 6.25%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yiel@le represented by a series of annualized ingéWidero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yearhe bonds used in the yield curve must have agatirRA or better per Standard & Poor’s, be non-
callable, and have at least $150 million par outditeag. The yield curve is then applied to the pctgd benefit payments from the plan. Based on
these bonds and the projected benefit paymentnssighe single rate that produces the same yidldeasmatching bond portfolio, rounded to the
nearest quarter point, is used as the discount rate

We review external data and our own internal trépdéiealthcare costs to determine the healthaasefor the post retirement benefit
obligation. The assumed healthcare cost trend fatepre-65 retirees were as follows:

December 31

2010 2009
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next 9.5% 9.5%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually decline 5.C% 5.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 201¢ 201¢
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For post-65 retirees, we provide a fixed dollaréfénwhich is not subject to escalation.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effiette amounts reported for the healthcare plangne-percentagpeint change in assum
healthcare cost trend rates would have the follgveffects:

One-Percentage One-Percentage

Point Increase Point Decrease
($ in millions)
Effect on total of service and interest cc $ 03 $ 0.2
Effect on postretirement benefit obligati 3.3 (2.9

We expect to make payments of approximately $7onilin 2011 and $6 million for each of the nextifgears under the provisions of our
other postretirement benefit plans.

INCOME TAXES
Years ended December &
Components of Income Before Tax 2010 2009 2008
($ in millions)
Domestic $ 744 $ 193¢ $ 185.€
Foreign 2.5 16.C 71.¢
Income before taxes $ 76 $ 209.¢ $ 257.F
Components of Income Tax Provisic
Current expense
Federal $ 6.7 $ 53 $ 52.Z
State 6.4 (3.5 9.€
Foreign (2.7) — 23.1
10.4 1.8 84.¢
Deferred 1.7 72.4 14.€
Income tax provisiol $ 121 $ 74z 3 99.€
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The following table accounts for the differenceviben the actual tax provision and the amounts oétaby applying the statutory U.S. fedt

income tax rate of 35% to the income before taxes.

Years ended December :

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation (Percer 2010 2009

Statutory federal tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign rate differentic (0.€) (0.7) —
Domestic manufacturing/export tax incent (0.9) (0.3) 1.3
Dividends paid to CEO (1.5) (0.€) 0.3
State income taxes, r 1.€ 2.€ 3.1
Change in tax contingenci (11.9) (0.9) (0.7
Change in valuation allowan: (5.€) 0.1 4.C
Return to provisiot (0.8) (0.7) 0.7)
Other, ne 0.4 0.3 (0.9
Effective tax rate 15.7% 35.4% 38.£%

December 31

Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilit 2010 2009

(% in millions)
Deferred tax asset
Pension and postretirement bene $ 434 3 50.€
Environmental reserve 68.7 68.2
Asset retirement obligatior 29.¢ 29.¢
Accrued liabilities 46.¢ 33.1
Tax credits 15.7 16.1
Federal and state net operating los 5.7 3.3
Capital loss carryforwar 14.7 16.€
Other miscellaneous iten 2.8 6.3
Total deferred tax asse 227.¢ 224.:
Valuation allowanct (23.0) (28.9)
Net deferred tax asse 204.¢ 196.(
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme 157.1 151.t
Intangible amortizatiol 10.4 8.9
Inventory and prepaic 7.4 2.9
Partnership: 7.2 8.C
Total deferred tax liabilitie 182.1 171.c
Net deferred tax ass $ 22t % 24.7
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Realization of the net deferred tax assets is digr@ron future reversals of existing temporaryatéhces and adequate future taxable income,
exclusive of reversing temporary differences amdyfarwards. Although realization is not assured, believe that it is more likely than not that the
net deferred tax assets will be realized.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had federal emefits of $2.1 million and $3.8 million, respeety, relating to actual foreign tax credit
carryforwards. At December 31, 2009, we had aatan allowance of $3.8 million, due to uncertastregarding the realization of the tax benefits
of our actual foreign tax credit carryforwards. ribg 2010, our Pioneer Canada subsidiary realizeet @perating loss, which will be carried back
under Canadian tax law to obtain a refund for Camathxes paid in 2007 and 2008. With this carcidxa the net operating losses, the foreign tax
credits generated by those taxes paid were eligthalius removing the foreign tax credit carryfamvand the associated valuation allowance. We
believe that it is more likely than not that thdedeed tax benefits of our actual foreign tax ctedirryforwards at December 31, 2010 will be realiz
and no valuation allowance is necessary. Our ¢aefits for the foreign tax credit carryforwardslahe associated valuation allowance were as
follows:

Foreign Valuation
Tax Benefit Allowance
(% in millions)

Balance at January 1, 200! $ 8t $ (3.5
Decreases for prior year utilizati (0.6) —
Decreases for current year utilizat (4.2 —
Increases for future year limitatio — (0.3

Balance at December 31, 20C 3.8 (3.9
Increases for prior year limitatic 0.8 (0.9
Increases for current year limitati 2.4 —
Decreases for carryback of current year foréigees (4.9 4.€

Balance at December 31, 201 $ 21 % —

Our foreign tax credit carryforwards of $2.1 mitligvill expire in 2020.

In 2007, we acquired federal tax benefits of $4ilian as part of the Pioneer acquisition associatéth the expected future foreign tax cre
that will be generated by the deferred tax liale#itof Pioneer’s Canadian subsidiary. At Decen3de2010, we had federal tax benefits of $5.1
million recorded associated with the expected fiforeign tax credits. Realization of the tax b#s@ssociated with such foreign tax credits is
dependent upon reversal of Canadian temporaryreiftes, future U.S. taxable income and future §oreburce taxable income. We believe thal
more likely than not that the deferred tax benefiltbe realized and no valuation allowance isessary.

We acquired a U.S. net operating loss carryforwbikdL) of approximately $6.6 million (representing.$ million of deferred tax assets) as
part of the Pioneer acquisition. At December 3@ we had approximately $4.6 million (represemti.6 million of deferred tax assets)
remaining, that will expire in years 2017 throud?®a, if not utilized. The utilization of this NOk limited under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code to $0.5 million in each year throug®02 We believe that it is more likely than naittthe NOL will be realized and no valuation
allowance is necessary.

At December 31, 2010, we had deferred state tagflisrof $1.8 million relating to state NOLs, whiahe available to offset future state

taxable income through 2029. Due to uncertaimtigarding realization of the tax benefits, a vabraallowance of $0.7 million has been applied
against the deferred state tax benefits at DeceB1he2010.
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At December 31, 2010, we had deferred state tagfiterof $8.5 million relating to state tax creditghich are available to offset future state
tax liabilities through 2028. Due to uncertaintiegarding the realization of these state tax tsedivaluation allowance of $7.6 million has been
applied against the deferred state tax creditseaeBber 31, 2010.

At December 31, 2010, we had a capital loss canmded of $38.2 million (representing $14.7 milliohdeferred tax assets) that is availab
offset future consolidated capital gains that expire in 2013 if not utilized. Due to uncertag#tiregarding the realization of the capital loss
carryforward, a valuation allowance of $14.7 miilibas been applied against the deferred tax bextefiecember 31, 2010.

The total amount of undistributed earnings of fgnesubsidiaries was approximately $10.2 millioatember 31, 2010. Deferred taxes are
provided for earnings of non-U.S. affiliates whea plan to remit those earnings. A portion of thdistributed earnings have been permanently
reinvested and for those earnings no deferred taxes been provided. Deferred taxes have not persided on the excess book basis in the shares
of certain foreign subsidiaries because these blifisences are not expected to reverse in thestgable future. The undistributed earnings and
excess book basis differences could reverse thraiggthe, receipt of dividends from the subsidiadsswell as various other events. It is not cat
to calculate the residual income tax that wouldiltésthese basis differences reversed due tatimeplexities of the tax law and the hypothetical
nature of the calculations.

We acquired $29.8 million of gross unrecognizediterefits in conjunction with the Pioneer acquisitiall of which would have been a
reduction to goodwill, if recognized prior to 200Buring third quarter 2008, we favorably resol#3d6 million of Pioneer unrecognized tax benefits
associated with certain audits, which was recoeted reduction to goodwill. After adopting ASC 8Brisiness Combinations” (ASC 805),
formerly SFAS No. 141R “Business Combinations” (8-Mo. 141R), in 2009, any remaining balance of cogaized tax benefits will affect our
effective tax rate instead of goodwill, if recogeilz If these tax benefits are not realized, tsalteas of December 31, 2010, would be cash tax
payments of $12.1 million.

As of December 31, 2010, we had $41.5 million afsgrunrecognized tax benefits, all of which wowdgdra net $39.4 million impact on the
effective tax rate, if recognized. If these tardfits are not recognized, the result would be tastpayments of $29.6 million. As of December 31,
2009, we had $50.8 million of gross unrecognizeddenefits, all of which would have a net $48.3limil impact on the effective tax rate, if
recognized. The change for 2010 primarily relébesdditional gross unrecognized benefits for auryear tax positions, as well as the expiration of
the statute of limitations in domestic jurisdictioand settlements of ongoing audits. In 2009d#dwrease for prior year tax positions included $0.4
million of foreign currency translation. The amdsiof unrecognized tax benefits were as follows:

December 31

2010 2009
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 50.€ $ 50.2
Increase for prior year tax positio 0.2 4.7
Decrease for prior year tax positic (0.9 (1.9
Increase for current year tax positic 1.7 0.8
Decrease due to tax settleme 2.3 (0.9
Reductions due to statute of limitatic (8.0 (2.7)
Ending balance $ 415 3 50.€
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We recognize interest and penalty expense relatadrecognized tax positions as a component ahttme tax provision. As of December
31, 2010 and 2009, interest and penalties accreed $8.5 million and $3.8 million, respectivelyor2010, 2009 and 2008, we expensed interes
penalties of $0.8 million, $1.1 million, and $1.9lan, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, we believe it is reasgnpbtsible that our total amount of unrecognizedbenefits will decrease by
approximately $8.4 million over the next twelve rtttn The anticipated reduction primarily relasettlements with tax authorities and the
expiration of federal, state, and foreign statatelimitation.

We operate primarily in North America and file imge tax returns in numerous jurisdictions. Ourrearns are subject to examination by
various federal, state and local authorities. dtorprimary tax jurisdictions, the tax years trehain subject to examination are as follows:

Tax Years
U.S. federal income tz 2007-2009
U.S. state income te 2004-2009
Canadian federal income t 200¢-2009
Canadian provincial income t: 200¢-2009

During third quarter 2010, the IRS completed anitaafdour U.S. income tax return for 2006. Durisgrond quarter 2010, the Canada
Revenue Agency completed an audit of a portionuof@anadian tax returns for the 2005 to 2007 taxs/eNo issues arose under either the U.S.
audit or the Canadian audit that required an amfthfitax liability to be recognized. We believe nase adequately provided for all tax positions;
however, amounts asserted by taxing authoritiekldmeigreater than our accrued position.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Included in accrued liabilities were the following:
December 31

2010 2009
(% in millions)
Accrued compensation and payroll ta: $ 321 % 27.5
Accrued employee benefi 45.€ 42.€
Environmental (current portion onl 28.C 35.C
Legal and professional cos 25.C 27.2
Asset retirement obligation (current portion or 13.7 17.1
Other 53.3 43.7
Accrued liabilities $ 1977 $ 193.1

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN

The CEOP is a defined contribution plan availablegsentially all domestic employees. Company higgccontributions are invested in the
same investment allocation as the employeentribution. Our matching contributions fogdlle employees amounted to $2.0 million, $5.0ioil|
and $4.6 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respebtiv&ffective January 1, 2010, we suspended thieelman all salaried and certain non-bargained
hourly employees’ contributions. Effective Februar 2011, we reinstated the match on all salai®icertain non-bargained hourly employees’
contributions.
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Employees become vested in the value of the casioibs we make to the CEOP according to a schdzhded on service. After two years of
service, participants are 25% vested. They veistcirements of 25% for each additional year anerdive years of service, they are 100% vested in
the value of the contributions that we have madéed accounts.

Employees may transfer any or all of the valuenefihvestments, including Olin common stock, to ang or combination of investments
available in the CEOP. Employees may transfemeais daily and may elect to transfer any percertétiee balance in the fund from which the
transfer is made. However, when transferring éat fmnd, employees are prohibited from tradinga@futhe fund to which the transfer was made for
seven calendar days. This limitation does notyafaptrades into the money market fund or the @ommon Stock Fund.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation expense was allocatbe tuperating segments for the portion related tpleyees whose compensation would be
included in cost of goods sold with the remain@&ognized in corporate/other. There were no siganit capitalized stock-based compensation
costs. Stock-based compensation granted includek gptions, performance stock awards, restristedk awards, and deferred directors’
compensation. Stock-based compensation expensasifaows:

Years ended December :

2010 2009 2008
($ in millions)
Stock-based compensatic $ 101 $ 8€ $ 10.4
Mark-to-market adjustmen 1.2 0.8 (1.0
Total expense $ 112 $ 94 $ 9.4

Stock Plans

Under the stock option and long-term incentive plaptions may be granted to purchase shares aomamon stock at an exercise price not
less than fair market value at the date of gramd,axe exercisable for a period not exceeding ¢ams/from that date. Stock options, restrictedksto
and performance shares typically vest over threesyeWe issue shares to settle stock optionsijatest stock, and share-based performance
awards. On April 23, 2009, the shareholders amatdlie 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan which autleatian additional 3.0 million shares available
for grant. In 2010, 2009, and 2008 long-term inisenawards included stock options, performanceeshaards, and restricted stock. The stock
option exercise price was set at the fair markktevaf common stock on the date of the grant, Aedptions have a ten-year term.

Stock option transactions were as follows:

Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Shares Option Price  Option Price Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 201( 3,936,71. $ 6.6623.7¢ $ 18.1( 2,604,04 $ 19.14
Grantec 803,75( 15.6¢ 15.6¢
Exercisec (172,96%) 6.6€-18.6° 16.1%
Canceled (718,08Y) 6.6€-23.7¢ 18.91
Outstanding at December 31, 201 3,849,41. $ 6.9€-23.7¢ $ 17.5% 2,336,19' $ 18.7:
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At December 31, 2010, the average exercise peoiodlif outstanding and exercisable options was @6ths and 59 months, respectively. At
December 31, 2010, the aggregate intrinsic vahe dtfference between the exercise price and magtee) for outstanding options was $12.9
million and exercisable options was $5.4 milliohhe total intrinsic value of options exercised dgrthe years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
was $0.9 million and zero, respectively.

The total unrecognized compensation cost relatemhtested stock options at December 31, 2010 wasrlion and was expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1aPsye

The following table provides certain informationtlvrespect to stock options exercisable at Dece®be2010:

Range of Options Weighted Averag Options Weighted Averag
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price Outstanding Exercise Price
Under $16.0 359,20 $ 14.5: 1,708,07 $ 14.9¢
$16.00- $20.0C 882,97! $ 17.13 882,97! $ 17.13
Over $20.0 1,094,01 $ 21.4C 1,258,36! $ 21.2¢
2,336,19! 3,849,41

At December 31, 2010, common shares reserveddoaige and available for grant or purchase unéeiottowing plans consisted of:

Number of Share:

Available for

Stock Option Plans Reserved for Issuanc  Grant or Purchase?)
2000 long term incentive ple 856,74 9,48(
2003 long term incentive ple 1,091,25: 76,80¢
2006 long term incentive ple 2,773,63. 188,38«
2009 long term incentive plan 3,000,001 3,000,00!
7,721,621 3,274,67.
1996 stock option plan (plan expire 180,75: —
Chase benefit plans (assumed in acquisition) 4,26( —
185,01: —
Total under stock option plans 7,906,63! 3,274,67.

Number of Shares

Available for
Stock Purchase Plan Reserved for Issuanc Grant or Purchase
1997 stock plan for n-employee director 610,27¢ 321,23:
Employee deferral plan 46,774 45,704
Total under stock purchase plans 657,05 366,93!

(1) Allavailable to be issued as stock options, balides a st-limit for all types of stock awards of 1,774,67asds.
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Under the stock purchase plans, our non-employeetdirs may defer certain elements of their comatms into shares of our common stock
based on fair market value of the shares at the tifrdeferral. Non-employee directors annuallyeiee stock grants as a portion of their director
compensation. Of the shares reserved under thk gtochase plans at December 31, 2010, 290,11 2sheere committed.

Performance share awards are denominated in sbianess stock and are paid half in cash and hadtatk. Payouts are based on Olin’s
average annual return on capital over a threeqyedormance cycle in relation to the average anretaln on capital over the same period among a
portfolio of public companies which are selected¢amcert with outside compensation consultantse &tpense associated with performance she
recorded based on our estimate of our performaglaéve to the respective target. If an emplogswés the company before the end of the
performance cycle, the performance shares maydratpd based on the number of months of the pediace cycle worked and are settled in cash
instead of half in cash and half in stock whenttiree-year performance cycle is completed. Pedioga share transactions were as follows:

To Settle in Cast To Settle in Share

Weighted Weighted

Average Fair Average

Value per Fair Value

Shares Share Shares per Share
Outstanding at January 1, 201( 363,790 $ 17.77 325,89 $ 17.0<
Grantec 101,13 16.2(C 95,30: 15.9¢
Paid/lssuet (152,30¢1) 17.7% (117,319 17.0¢
Cancelec — — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 201 312,62 $ 20.6¢ 303,87 $ 16.71
Total vested at December 31, 201 221,08 $ 20.6t 212,330 $ 17.42

The summary of the status of our unvested perfoceaghares to be settled in cash were as follows:

Weighted

Average

Fair Value

Shares per Share
Unvested at January 1, 201! 117,08 $ 17.7i
Grantec 101,13¢ 16.2C
Vested (126,67¢) 16.92
Cancelec — —
Unvested at December 31, 201 9154: $ 20.6¢F

At December 31, 2010, the liability recorded forfpamance shares to be settled in cash totaledrilién. The total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested performames at December 31, 2010 was $3.3 million andexpscted to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.2 years.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, we issued 172,968857 &nd 1,757,276 shares with a total value of $8lllon, $0.2 million and $37.4
million, respectively, representing stock optiorsreised. In addition, during 2010, 2009 and 20@8jssued 548,553; 1,260,693; and 947,643
shares of common stock, respectively, with a tegéle of $10.2 million, $16.9 million and $18.1 haih, respectively, to the CEOP. These shares
were issued to satisfy the investment in our comstook resulting from employee contributions, owtching contributions, retirement contributic
and re-invested dividends.

There were no share repurchases in 2010, 2009G081 2Jnder programs previously approved by ourdhoédirectors, 154,076 shares
remained to be repurchased as of December 31, 2010.

We have registered an undetermined amount of sesuwith the SEC, so that, from timetigie, we may issue debt securities, preferred !
and/or common stock and associated warrants ipubkc market under that registration statement.

The following table represents the activity incldde accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized
Foreign Gains (Losses) Pension anc Accumulated
Currency on Derivative Postretirement Other
Translation Contracts Benefits Comprehensive
Adjustment (net of taxes) (net of taxes) Loss
(% in millions)

Balance at January 1, 200! $ 1.2 $ 1C $ (151.0 $ (151.9)
Unrealized losse 3.9 (31.0 (99.9) (134.9)
Reclassification adjustments into income — 5.C 11.1 16.1

Balance at December 31, 20C (5.7 (25.0 (239.9) (269.9)
Unrealized gains (losse 4.€ 24.2 (27.9) 1kt
Reclassification adjustments into income — 12.4 7.3 19.7

Balance at December 31, 20C (0.5) 11.€ (259.9) (248.2)
Unrealized gains (losse 0.¢ 5.4 (26.0) (19.9)
Reclassification adjustments into inco — (5.4) 11.5 6.1

Balance at December 31, 201 $ 04 $ 11€ $ (273.6) $ (261.9)

Pension and postretirement benefits (net of taxet®yity in other comprehensive loss included thmogization of prior service costs and
actuarial losses and pension and postretiremasilityeadjustments.

Unrealized gains and losses on derivative cont(aetisof taxes) activity in other comprehensivesloveluded a deferred tax provision (ben

for 2010, 2009 and 2008 of zero, $23.2 million &{6.6) million, respectively. Pension and pogteetent benefits (net of taxes) activity in other
comprehensive loss included a deferred tax befogf010, 2009 and 2008 of $9.1 million, $9.7 moifliand $56.3 million, respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

We define segment results as income (loss) befbeeeist expense, interest income, other operatcanie, other income (expense), and
income taxes, and include the results of non-cauhei@d affiliates. Consistent with the guidanc&BC 280, formerly SFAS No. 131, we have
determined it is appropriate to include the oparatesults of non-consolidated affiliates in thievant segment financial results. Our management
considers SunBelt to be an integral component@efhlor Alkali Products segment. It is engageth@nsame business activity as the segment,
including joint or overlapping marketing, managemand manufacturing functions.

Years ended December :

2010 2009 2008

Sales: (% in millions)

Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,036 $ 963.f $ 1,275.

Winchestel 549.: 567.7 489.1
Total sales $ 1585¢ $ 1531 $ 1,764..
Income before taxes

Chlor Alkali Products $ 1172 $ 125«  $ 328.:

Winchestel 63.C 68.€ 32.€

Corporate/Othe (48.7) 17.2 (71.5)

Restructuring charg (34.2) — —

Other operating incom 2.5 9.1 1.2

Interest expens (25.4) (11.6) (13.9)

Interest incomt 1.C 1.1 6.2

Other income (expense) 1.5 0.1 (26.0)

Income before taxe $ 76 $ 209.¢ $ 257.F
Earnings of nor-consolidated affiliates:

Chlor Alkali Products $ 29.¢ $ 377 $ 39.4
Depreciation and amortization expense

Chlor Alkali Products $ 746 $ 59.¢ $ 57.€

Winchestel 10.1 9.8 9.8

Corporate/Other 2.C 2.1 2.C
Total depreciation and amortization expe $ 86.C $ 717 3% 69.€
Capital spending:

Chlor Alkali Products $ 67.€ $ 123.¢  $ 166.2

Winchestel 15.2 12 .4 12.2

Corporate/Other 2.5 1.7 1.9
Total capital spendin $ 85.2 $ 137.¢ $ 180.2

December 31
2010 2009

Assets: (% in millions)

Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,130.¢ $ 1,133.7

Winchestel 268.t 228.(

Corporate/Other 649.4 570.:
Total asset $ 2,048. $ 1,932.(
Investment<——affiliated companies (at equity):

Chlor Alkali Products $ 25¢ $ 19.€
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Segment assets include only those assets ahectlirectly identifiable to an operating segmefll. goodwill, which is associated with its
acquisition, is included in the assets of the CAlisali Products segment. Assets of the corpooditel segment include primarily such items as cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, iefeéaxes, restricted cash and other assets.

Years ended December =

Geographic Data: 2010 2009 2008
Sales: (% in millions)
United State: $ 1,425 $ 1,375¢ $ 1,555.:
Foreign 160.2 155.¢ 209.4
Transfers between are:
United State: 39.4 29.€ 41.7
Foreign 66.1 73.5 129.7
Eliminations (105.5) (102.9) (171.9
Total sales $ 1585.¢ $ 1531 $ 1,764.t

December 31

2010 2009
Assets: (% in millions)
United State: $ 1,774 % 1,672.:
Foreign 274.2 259.¢
Total asset $ 2,048.. $ 1,932.(

Transfers between geographic areas are pricedabnat prevailing market prices. Export salesrirthe United States to unaffiliated
customers were $22.1 million, $20.9 million, an®$2million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢atien of federal, state and local standards dalege air, water and land quality affect
substantially all of our manufacturing locatiorfsederal legislation providing for regulation of tanufacture, transportation, use and disposal of
hazardous and toxic substances, and remediatioondéminated sites, has imposed additional regylagmuirements on industry, particularly the
chemicals industry. In addition, implementatioreakironmental laws, such as the Resource Congemend Recovery Act and the Clean Air Act,
has required and will continue to require new @@kpenditures and will increase plant operatiogf€ Our Canadian facility is governed by fec
environmental laws administered by Environment @arend by provincial environmental laws enforcedbgninistrative agencies. Many of these
laws are comparable to the U.S. laws describedeab@e employ waste minimization and pollution gnetvon programs at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufaguacilities and former waste dispo.
sites. Associated costs of investigatory and reahegtivities are provided for in accordance wggmerally accepted accounting principles gover
probability and the ability to reasonably estimfaieire costs. Our ability to estimate future calpends on whether our investigatory and remedial
activities are in preliminary or advanced stagééth respect to unasserted claims, we accrue figsilfor costs that, in our experience, we mawinc
to protect our interests against those unasseldégds Our accrued liabilities for unassertedroamounted to $3.4 million at December 31,

2010. With respect to asserted claims, we acéabdities based on remedial investigation, fedsibstudy, remedial action and OM&M expenses
that, in our experience, we may incur in connectigth the asserted claims. Required site OM&M exgss are estimated and accrued in their
entirety for required periods not exceeding 30 geahich reasonably approximates the typical domadf long-term site OM&M.
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Our liabilities for future environmental expendigrwere as follows:
December 31

2010 2009
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 166.1 $ 158.¢
Charges to incom 16.2 24.1
Remedial and investigatory spend (15.7) (29.0
Currency translation adjustmel 0.9 2.1
Ending balance $ 167.¢ $ 166.1

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, our consolidatednoal sheets included environmental liabilities I8%6 million and $131.1 million,
respectively, which were classified as other norendrliabilities. Our environmental liability amots did not take into account any discounting of
future expenditures or any consideration of inscearecoveries or advances in technology. Thebdities are reassessed periodically to deternfi
environmental circumstances have changed and/ediation efforts and our estimate of related cbatge changed. As a result of these
reassessments, future charges to income may beforaaidditional liabilities. Of the $167.6 milliancluded on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2010 for future environmental expemelit, we currently expect to utilize $99.5 millioiithe reserve for future environmental
expenditures over the next 5 years, $20.8 millmmekpenditures 6 to 10 years in the future, arld3#illion for expenditures beyond 10 years in
future.

Our total estimated environmental liability at Dexeer 31, 2010, was attributable to 68 sites, IwWtath were USEPA NPL sites. Ten sites
accounted for 78% of our environmental liabilitydaof the remaining 58 sites, no one site accoufttethore than 3% of our environmental
liability. At one of these ten sites, a remedii@n plan is being implemented. At five of the tgtes, part of the site is subject to a remedial
investigation and another part is in the long-t&M&M stage. At one of these ten sites, a remediadstigation is being performed. At one site,
part of the site is subject to a remedial actian@nd part of the site to long-term OM&M. The tvemnaining sites are in lortigrm OM&M. All ten
sites are either associated with past manufactuegations or former waste disposal sites. Ndleeoten largest sites represents more than 20% o
the liabilities reserved on our consolidated batestteet at December 31, 2010 for future environahexpenditures.

Charges or credits to income for investigatory esmdedial efforts were material to operating result3010, 2009 and 2008 and may be
material to operating results in future years.

Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, veeréollows:

Years ended December :

2010 2009 2008
($ in millions)
Charges to incom $ 16.2 $ 241 3 27.1
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exygensed in prior periods (7.2) (82.7) —
Total environmental expense (incon $ 9.1 $ (58.00 $ 27.1

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufacguoperations and former waste disposal
sites.
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Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation are expected to révedgween approximately $20 million to
$40 million over the next several years, whicherpected to be charged against reserves recordedrdralance sheet. While we do not anticipe
material increase in the projected annual leveluwwfenvironmental-related cash outlays, therevimgsd the possibility that such an increase may
occur in the future in view of the uncertainties@sgated with environmental exposures. Environaleskposures are difficult to assess for nume
reasons, including the identification of new sisyelopments at sites resulting from investigattngies, advances in technology, changes in
environmental laws and regulations and their apfibo, changes in regulatory authorities, the sgaot reliable data pertaining to identified sites
the difficulty in assessing the involvement andafinial capability of other PRPs and our abilitphdain contributions from other parties and the
lengthy time periods over which site remediationuws. It is possible that some of these mattéies gutcomes of which are subject to various
uncertainties) may be resolved unfavorably to uscwvcould materially adversely affect our finargasition or results of operations. At December
31, 2010, we estimate that it is reasonably possizt we may have additional contingent envirortaddiabilities of $50 million in addition to the
amounts for which we have already recorded aseaves

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following table summarizes our contractual catmrents under norancelable operating leases and purchase conamofsDecember 3
2010:

Operating Purchase
Leases Commitments
(% in millions)

2011 $ 40.C $ 73.2
2012 35.F 5.1
2013 31.4 4.3
2014 26.C 4.C
2015 21.¢ 12.5
Thereaftel 66.5 —
Total commitments $ 221 $ 99.2

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &iread cars but also include distribution, wareding and office space and data processing
and office equipment. Virtually none of our leaggeements contain escalation clauses or stepmevisions. Total rent expense charged to
operations amounted to $51.2 million, $45.4 milliand $46.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, redpelt (sublease income is not significant). The
above purchase commitments include raw materiauiéifity purchasing commitments utilized in our naal course of business for our projected
needs.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dlethh quarter of 2009, we entered into a
twenty-year brine and pipeline supply agreemerntt WigtroLogistics. PetroLogistics installed, ownd aperates, at its own expense, a pipeline
supplying brine to the St. Gabriel, LA facility.eBinning November 2009, we are obligated to malkeea annual payment over the life of the
contract of $2.0 million for use of the pipelinegardless of the amount of brine purchased. Wehage a minimum usage requirement for brine of
$8.4 million over the first five-year period of thentract. After the first-five year period, thentract contains a buy out provision exercisable®y
for $12.0 million.

On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teutfur dioxide supply agreement with Alliance, fary known as RFC SO2,
Inc. Alliance has the obligation to deliver andy&6,000 tons of sulfur dioxide. Alliance owntbulfur dioxide plant, which is located at our
Charleston, TN facility and is operated by us. Phiee for the sulfur dioxide is fixed over theelibf the contract, and under the terms of the aohtr
we are obligated to make a monthly payment of $dilon regardless of the sulfur dioxide purchas€@bmmitments related to this agreement are
$2.4 million in 2011 and $0.6 million in 2012. ThEapply agreement expires in 2012.
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We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vatemad actions (including proceedings based omatleexposures to asbestos) incidental to
our past and current business activities. At Ddmam31, 2010 and 2009, our consolidated balancetsivecluded liabilities for these legal actions of
$18.1 million and $15.8 million, respectively. Headiabilities do not include costs associated Vgtal representation. Based on our analysis, and
considering the inherent uncertainties associafddlitigation, we do not believe that it is reasbiy possible that these legal actions will matigria
adversely affect our financial statements or resefitoperations in the near term.

During the ordinary course of our business, comitoges arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances involving
an uncertainty as to the realization of a posgibie contingency. In certain instances such ag@mwental projects, we are responsible for
managing the cleanup and remediation of an enviemah site. There exists the possibility of recovwg a portion of these costs from other
parties. We account for gain contingencies in etaace with the provisions of ASC 450, formerly SKo. 5, and therefore do not record gain
contingencies and recognize income until it is edrand realizable.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafgeir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoing
investing and financing activities, and our openagi that use foreign currencies. The risk of t@ssbe assessed from the perspective of adverse
changes in fair values, cash flows and future egsi We have established policies and proceduresrging our management of market risks and
the use of financial instruments to manage expasusech risks. ASC 815, formerly SFAS No. 138uieed an entity to recognize all derivatives as
either assets or liabilities in the statement wéficial position and measure those instrumen@ratdlue. We use hedge accounting treatment for
substantially all of our business transactions whisks are covered using derivative instrumefrisaccordance with ASC 815, we designate
commodity forward contracts as cash flow hedgdermfcasted purchases of commodities and certaénest rate swaps as fair value hedges of fixed-
rate borrowings. We do not enter into any denxainstruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Energy costs, including electricity used in our @hAlkali Products segment, and certain raw maleaad energy costs, namely copper, lead,
zinc, electricity, and natural gas used primanilyur Winchester segment, are subject to pricetilibfa Depending on market conditions, we may
enter into futures contracts and put and call optiontracts in order to reduce the impact of comitygatice fluctuations. The majority of our
commodity derivatives expire within one year. Tdaeemmodity contracts that extend beyond one y@aespond with raw material purchases for
long-term fixed-price sales contracts.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttactsenage currency risk resulting from purchasesatel commitments denominated in
foreign currencies (principally Canadian dollar &do). All of the currency derivatives expire kit one year and are for United States dollar
equivalents. Our foreign currency forward contsai not meet the criteria to qualify for hedgeoacting. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we
forward contracts to sell foreign currencies withadional value of zero and $0.3 million, respeeiyv At December 31, 2010 and 2009, we had
forward contracts to buy foreign currencies withagional value of $0.3 million and $1.7 million speectively.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest rateosvea $75 million of our underlying fixed-rate deliigations, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, pay/fixed rates. The counterparty to these agrate Citibank, N.A., a major financial
institution. In January 2009, we entered into & &llion fixed interest rate swap with equal arpposite terms as the $75 million variable interest
rate swaps on the 2011 Notes. We have agreed/ta figed rate to a counterparty who, in turn, pagvariable rates. The counterparty to this
agreement is Bank of America, a major financiatiinon. The result was a gain of $7.9 million ive $75 million variable interest rate swaps,
which will be recognized through 2011. As of Det®m31, 2010, $2.8 million of this gain was incldde current installments of lorgrm debt. Ir
January 2009, we de-designated our $75 milliorrésterate swaps that had previously been desigaatéair value hedges. The $75 million variable
interest rate swaps and the $75 million fixed ieserate swap do not meet the criteria for hedgeiatting. All changes in the fair value of these
interest rate swaps are recorded currently in egsni
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Cash Flow Hedges

ASC 815 requires that all derivative instrumentsdmorded on the balance sheet at their fair vakhar.derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, thegghin fair value of the derivative is recogniasda component of other comprehensive loss until
the hedged item is recognized into earnings. Gaislosses on the derivatives representing heddfectiveness are recognized currently in
earnings.

We had the following notional amount of outstandiegnmodity forward contracts that were entered fatbedge forecasted purchases:

December 31

2010 2009
($ in millions)
Copper $ 251 $ 34.1
Zinc 3.2 3.2
Lead 19.€ 17.C
Natural gas 5.k 7.1

As of December 31, 2010, the counterparty to $28lion of these commodity forward contracts waslM/€argo, a major financial
institution.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, el#girémd natural gas to provide a measul
stability in managing our exposure to price flutimas associated with forecasted purchases of ratenmals and energy used in our manufacturing
process. At December 31, 2010, we had open positiofutures contracts through 2013. If all oftres contracts had been settled on December
31, 2010, we would have recognized a pretax ga$i8f8 million.

If commodity prices were to remain at December2R1L0 levels, approximately $13.8 million of deferigains would be reclassified into
earnings during the next twelve months. The aatfatt on earnings will be dependent on actualroodity prices when the forecasted transactions
occur.

Fair Value Hedges

For derivative instruments that are designatedquadify as a fair value hedge, the gain or losshenderivative as well as the offsetting |
or gain on the hedged item attributable to the kddisk are recognized in current earnings. Whkidethe gain or loss on the hedged items (fixed-
rate borrowings) in the same line item, interegtemse, as the offsetting loss or gain on the rblaterest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2010 and
2009, the total notional amount of our interest aps designated as fair value hedges were $a8lioh and $26.6 million, respectively. In Ap
2010, Citibank, N.A. terminated $18.9 million ofénest rate swaps on our industrial revenue boodsrd2016. The result was a gain of $0.4
million, which would have been recognized througli® In September 2010, the industrial revenuelbovere redeemed by us, and as a result, the
remaining $0.3 million gain was recognized in ie&rexpense during 2010. In March 2010, we enteteds125.0 million of interest rate swaps on
the 2016 Notes.

We use interest rate swaps as a means of mana@mgst expense and floating interest rate expdeuwptimal levels. These interest rate
swaps are treated as fair value hedges. The aiiogdor gains and losses associated with changésrivalue of the derivative and the effect oa th
consolidated financial statements will depend @nttédge designation and whether the hedge is igdantoffsetting changes in fair value of cash
flows of the asset or liability being hedged. W& entered into $132.7 million of such swaps, whgmwe agreed to pay variable rates to a
counterparty who, in turn, pays us fixed ratese Tounterparty to these agreements is Citibank,,M.fajor financial institution. In all casesgth
underlying index for the variable rates is six-nfohtBOR. Accordingly, payments are settled evexynsonths and the terms of the swaps are the
same as the underlying debt instruments.
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Financial Statement Impacts

We present our derivative assets and liabilitiestinconsolidated balance sheets on a net bastssnéiMderivative assets and liabilities
whenever we have a legally enforceable mastemgediijreement with the counterparty to our derieationtracts. We use these agreements to
manage and substantially reduce our potential eopatty credit risk.

The following table summarizes the location and ¥aiue of the derivative instruments on our coitstéd balance sheets. The table
disaggregates our net derivative assets and tiabiinto gross components on a contract-by-conbasis before giving effect to master netting
arrangements:

Asset Derivative Liability Derivatives
Fair Value Fair Value
December 31 December 31
Derivatives Designate Balance Shee Balance Shee
as Hedging Instruments Location 2010 2009 Location 2010 2009
(% in millions) (% in millions)
Current installments o

Interest rate contrac Other current asse  $ =5 = long-term debr $ 28 $ —
Interest rate contrac Other asset 5.2 14 Long-term deb 5.3 6.8
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current asse 16.€ 17.7 Accrued liabilities — —
Commodity contract-
losses Other current assets — (0.2)  Accrued liabilities — —

$ 22z $ 18.¢ $ 81 $ 6.9
Derivatives Noi
Designated as Hedgin
Instruments
Interest rate contrac Other current asse  $ 38 $ 6.C Accrued liabilites  $ 12 % 0.9
Commodity contract-
gains Other current asse — — Accrued liabilities (0.7 —
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current asse — — Accrued liabilities 0.3 —
Foreign currency contrac  Other current asse — — Accrued liabilities — 0.1

$ 3.8 $ 6.C $ 14 $ iL(e
Total derivatives? $ 26.C $ 24.C $ 95 $ 7.9

(1) Does not include the impact of cash celi@treceived from or provided to counterparties.
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The following table summarizes the effects of datiiee instruments on our consolidated statementgpefations:

Amount of Gain (Loss
Years Ended December 3

Location of Gain (Loss' 2010 2009 2008
Derivatives— Cash Flow Hedges (% in millions)
Recognized in other comprehensive loss (effec
portion) _ $ 8.8 $ 39.5 $ (50.¢)
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensiss
into income (effective portior Cost of goods sol $ 8.8 $ (209 3 (8.2
Recognized in income (ineffective portion) Cost of goods sold — 0.1 —
$ 8¢ $ (20.9) % (8.1)
Derivatives — Fair Value Hedges
Interest rate contrac Interest expens $ 6.7 $ 34 $ 2.4
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instrument
Interest rate contrac Interest expens $ 03 $ 0.4 $ =
Commaodity contracts Cost of goods sold (1.7) (2.3 —
$ 0.8 $ 27 $ =

Credit Risk and Collateral

By using derivative instruments, we are exposedtedit and market risk. If a counterparty faildudill its performance obligations under a
derivative contract, our credit risk will equal tfar-value gain in a derivative. Generally, wtthe fair value of a derivative contract is posifithgs
indicates that the counterparty owes us, thusiagatrepayment risk for us. When the fair valfia derivative contract is negative, we owe the
counterparty and, therefore, assume no repaynsat We minimize the credit (or repayment) riskdarivative instruments by entering into
transactions with high-quality counterparties. Wv@nitor our positions and the credit ratings of counterparties and we do not anticipate non-
performance by the counterparties.

Based on the agreements with our various counti#pacash collateral is required to be provideémvthe net fair value of the derivatives,
with the counterparty, exceed a specific threshdfidhe threshold is exceeded, cash is eitherideml/by the counterparty to us if the value of the
derivatives is our asset, or cash is provided by uke counterparty if the value of the derivasii® our liability. As of December 31, 2010 and2(
the amounts recognized in other current assetsafshr collateral provided by counterparties to usev8.2 million and $2.2 million, respectively. In
all instances where we are party to a master igegigmeement, we offset the receivable or payalslegrdzed upon payment of cash collateral against
the fair value amounts recognized for derivativ@rmments that have also been offset under suctemaetting agreements.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpeadhe level of judgment associated with
the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hadriaal levels are directly related to the amourgubjectivity associated with the inputs to fair
valuation of these assets and liabilities. Weraggiired to separately disclose assets and ligsiliheasured at fair value on a recurring basis; fr
those measured at fair value on a nonrecurringbasonfinancial assets measured at fair value monaecurring basis are intangible assets and
goodwill, which are reviewed annually in the foudarter and/or when circumstances or other evedisate that impairment may have
occurred. Determining which hierarchical levelaaset or liability falls within requires significgiludgment. The following table summarizes the
financial instruments measured at fair value indbesolidated balance sheets:

Quoted Prices ir Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Balance at December 31, 201 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets (% in millions)
Interest rate sway $ — $ 91 % — $ 9.1
Commodity forward contrac 7.C 9.¢ — 16.€
Liabilities
Interest rate swaf — 9.3 — 9.3
Commodity forward contrac — 0.2 — 0.2
Balance at December 31, 20C
Assets
Interest rate sway $ — $ 74 % — $ 7.4
Commodity forward contrac 5.7 11.¢ — 17.5
Liabilities
Interest rate swag — 7.8 — 7.8
Foreign currency contrac 0.1 — — 0.1

For the year ended December 31, 2010, there wenansfers into or out of Level 1 and Level 2.
Short-Term Investments

We classified our marketable securities as avaitétrl-sale which were reported at fair market value. ddtized gains and losses, to the e»
such losses are considered temporary in naturéneteled in accumulated other comprehensive losispf applicable taxes. At such time as the
decline in fair market value and the related urizedlloss is determined to be a result of impaimeéthe underlying instrument, the loss is recdrde
as a charge to earnings. Fair values for marketsddurities are based upon prices and other relevfarmation observable in market transactions
involving identical or comparable assets or lidigiti or prices obtained from independent thirdyppricing services. The thirgarty pricing service
employ various models that take into considerasioch market-based factors as recent sales, riskyfedd curves, prices of similarly rated bonds,
and direct discussions with dealers familiar withste types of securities.

103




As of June 30, 2008, we held corporate detirses totaling $26.6 million of par value witHair value of $20.5 million. In the second
quarter of 2008, a temporary unrealized after-tas lof $3.7 million ($6.1 million pretax) was reded in accumulated other comprehensive loss. As
of June 30, 2008, we concluded no other-than-teamgompairment losses had occurred. The AA-rassder of these debt securities had funded all
redemptions at par and maintained short-term Atfeait ratings. We entered into this structuragesiment vehicle in March 2006 as part of an
approved cash management portfolio. Given ouidigguand capital structure, we had the abilityhtuld these debt securities until maturity on April
1, 2009.

Through September 30, 2008, the issuer of thesesgehrities had continued to fund all redemptiatngar but was downgraded to short-term
A3/P2 credit ratings. On October 1, 2008, thegs®i these debt securities announced it wouldectragiing and appoint a receiver as a result of
financial market turmoil. The decline in the markalue of the assets supporting these debt sexuriegatively impacted the liquidity of the
issuer. On October 1, subsequent to the issuensumcement, the Moody'’s rating for these debt gesiwas downgraded from A3 to Ca.

During the third quarter of 2008, we determined thase debt securities had no fair market valietduhe actions taken by the issuer, turi
in the financial markets, the lack of liquidity thfe issuer, and the lack of trading in these detuisties. These factors led management to betleve
recovery of the asset value, if any, was highlykehy.

Because of the unlikelihood that these debt seéesntould recover in value, we recorded an afteiiftgpairment loss of $26.6 million in other
income (expense) in the third quarter of 2008. akéecurrently unable to utilize the capital lossuténg from the impairment of these corporate debt
securities; therefore, no tax benefit has beengrized for the impairment loss.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we recordechi gn other income (expense) of $1.4 million foe recovery from the investment in these
corporate debt securities that was written off00&

Interest Rate Swaj

The fair value of the interest rate swaps was otlin other current assets, other assets, cungatiments of long-term debt, accrued
liabilities, long-term debt and other liabilities af December 31, 2010 and 2009. These finantsaiiments were valued using the “income
approach” valuation technique. This method usédadimn techniques to convert future amounts tmgle present amount. The measurement was
based on the value indicated by current market@afiens about those future amounts. We use iiteage swaps as a means of managing interest
expense and floating interest rate exposure tonapiievels.
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Commodity Forward Contracts

The fair value of the commodity forward contracsvelassified in other current assets and acciakiities as of December 31, 2010 and
classified in other current assets as of Decembge2@09, with unrealized gains and losses includetcumulated other comprehensive loss, net of
applicable taxes. These financial instruments waheed primarily based on prices and other releirdormation observable in market transactions
involving identical or comparable assets or lidigiti including both forward and spot prices for coodities. We use commodity forward contracts
for certain raw materials and energy costs suaopper, zinc, lead, and natural gas to provide asowe of stability in managing our exposure to
price fluctuations.

Foreign Currency Contract

The fair value of the foreign currency contractswkssified in accrued liabilities as of Decem®kr2010 and 2009, with gains and losses
included in selling and administration expensehase financial instruments do not meet the criterigualify for hedge accounting. These financial
instruments were valued primarily based on pricesather relevant information observable in matkatsactions involving identical or comparable
assets or liabilities including both forward anatsprices for foreign currencies. We enter intswfard sales and purchase contracts to manage
currency risk resulting from purchase and sale ciiments denominated in foreign currencies (prinéyp@anadian dollar and Euro).

Financial Instrument:
The carrying values of cash and cash equivaleggicted cash, accounts receivable and accoupsbl@aapproximated fair values due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments. Tlrevidue of our longerm debt was determined based on current martext far debt of the same ri

and maturities. At December 31, 2010 and 2009es¢tienated fair value of debt was $530.3 milliod &414.3 million, respectively, which compa
to debt recorded on the consolidated balance sti&t96.0 million and $398.4 million, respectively.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

(% in millions, except per share data)

First Second Third Fourth

2010 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Sales $ 362.C $ 405.7 $ 432.¢  $ 385.2 $ 1,585.¢
Cost of goods sol® 312.¢ 347.% 366.5 323.2 1,349.¢
Net income 14.1 16.¢ 31.€ 2.C 64.€
Net income per common sha

Basic 0.1¢ 0.21 0.4C 0.0z 0.82

Diluted 0.1¢ 0.21 0.4C 0.0z 0.81
Common dividends per she 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stod?

High 19.9¢ 22.3¢ 20.9¢ 21.57 22.3¢

Low 15.3( 14.3¢ 17.2% 17.9( 14.3¢
2009
Sales $ 400.¢ $ 383.C $ 397.C $ 350.¢ $ 1,531
Cost of goods sol® 306.2 312.C 316.2 288.1 1,222."
Net income 46.7 27.¢ 39.4 21.¢ 135.7
Net income per common sha

Basic 0.6C 0.3¢ 0.5C 0.2¢ 1.74

Diluted 0.6C 0.3¢€ 0.5C 0.2¢ 1.7:
Common dividends per she 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stod?

High 19.7¢ 16.7( 18.4( 18.0¢ 19.7¢

Low 8.97 10.64 10.97 15.0¢ 8.97

(1) Cost of goods sold included recoveries from thiadips for environmental costs incurred and exp&is@rior periods of $2.6 million, $2
million, $0.2 million, $1.6 million and $7.2 milliwin the first quarter of 2010, second quarter@E®, third quarter of 2010, fourth quarter of
2010 and full year 2010, respectively. Cost ofdpsold included recoveries from third partiesdovironmental costs incurred and expensed
in prior periods of $0.8 million, $44.3 million, $3 million and $82.1 million in the second qua&009, third quarter of 2009, fourth
quarter of 2009 and full year 2009, respectiv

(2) NYSE composite transactior
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our chief executive officer and our chief finanaiéficer evaluated the effectiveness of our disetescontrols and procedures as of December
31, 2010. Based on that evaluation, our chief atkee officer and chief financial officer have cdided that, as of such date, our disclosure cantrol
and procedures were effective to ensure that irdtion Olin is required to disclose in the repohiattit files or submits with the SEC under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, psegssummarized and reported within the time perggcified in the Commission’s rules and
forms, and to ensure that information requirededalisclosed in such reports is accumulated and aoriwated to our management, including our
chief executive officer and chief financial officexs appropriate to allow timely decisions regagdiquired disclosure.

There have been no changes in our internal coowel financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2010 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totemially affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART 11l
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We incorporate the biographical information relgtio our Directors under the heading “ltem 1- Pegddor the Election of Directors” in our
Proxy Statement relating to our 2011 Annual Meetih@hareholders (the “Proxy Statement”) by refeeeim this Report. See also the list of
executive officers following Item 4 in Part | ofishReport. We incorporate the information regagdiompliance with Section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, contained ipah&graph entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwhgrRkeporting Compliance” under the
heading “Security Ownership of Directors and Off§én our Proxy Statement by reference in this &tep

The information with respect to our audit committeeluding the audit committee financial expestjricorporated by reference in this Report
to the information contained in the paragraph kedtitWhat are the committees of the Board?” unflertteading “Corporate Governance Matters” in
our Proxy Statement. We incorporate by referendhis Report information regarding proceduressfuareholders to nominate a director for
election, in the Proxy Statement under the headiigscellaneous-How can | directly nominate a dicedor election to the Board at the 2012
Annual Meeting?” and “Corporate Governance Matiftsat is Olin’s director nomination process?”

We have adopted a code of business conduct aras éthidirectors, officers and employees, knowthasCode of Conduct. The Code is
available in the About Olin, Ethics section of evebsite at www.olin.com.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thaedimg “Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsiRticipation,” on page 17 and the
information on pages 23 through 53, (beginning whil information under the heading “CompensatioscD$sion and Analysis” through the
information under the heading “Compensation ConeaiReport,”) are incorporated by reference in R@port.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

We incorporate the information concerning holdingsur common stock by certain beneficial ownenstaimed under the heading “Certain
Beneficial Owners” in our Proxy Statement, anditifermation concerning beneficial ownership of cammon stock by our directors and officers
under the heading “Security Ownership of Directmd Officers” in our Proxy Statement by referencéhis Report.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

We incorporate the information under the headii®aview, Approval, or Ratification of TransactiongwRelated Persons” and “Which
board members are independent?” in our Proxy Stateby reference in this Report.

ltem 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
We incorporate the information concerning the aatiog fees and services of our independent regdtpublic accounting firm, KPMG LLP

under the heading “ltem 4—Proposal to Ratify Appmient of Independent Registered Public AccountiimmnFin our Proxy Statement by reference
in this Report.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS; CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN T SCHEDULES
(@ 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated financial statements of the registaa@tincluded in Item 8 above.
2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedules containing separate financial statenoér@anBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership are set fortiginning on page S-1
immediately following the signature page in theyopthis annual report filed with the SEC. Sepeau@onsolidated financial statements of
other 50% or less owned subsidiaries accountebyféhe equity method are not summarized hereinhawe been omitted because, in the

aggregate, they would not constitute a significarisidiary.

Schedules not included herein are omitted becdugseare inapplicable or not required or becausedteired information is given in
the consolidated financial statements and notastine

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately priothe exhibits which is hereby incorporated by meffiee. The following exhibits, listed
on the Exhibit Index, are filed with this Annual et on Form 10-K:

Exhibit No.  Description

10.1 Form of amendment dated October 25, 2010 to exexatgreements with Messrs. Curley, Fischer, Gi¢@mmett, Mclntc
Pain and Rup

10.2 Performance Share Program codified to reflect ammemds through December 31, 2(

11 Computation of Per Share Earnings (includetiénNote—"Earnings Per Shang’ Notes to Consolidated Financial State
Item 8.)

12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chardésgudited)

21 List of Subsidiarie!

231 Consent of KPMG LLF

23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

311 Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Exa@iOfficer

31.2 Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Firiah©fficer

32 Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief Exa@Officer and Chief Financial Office

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer(1)

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum®)

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documtr(®)

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docur(d)

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum(®)

101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenit(l)
(@) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Irtive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deenwdiled or part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectiomms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendezldaemed not filed for purposes of

Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act 8418s amended, and otherwise are not subjecttiity under those sections.

Any exhibit is available from the Company by wrgito: Mr. George H. Pain, Senior Vice President&al Counsel and Secretary, Olin
Corporation, 190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1530, 6lgyMO 63105-3443.

Shareholders may obtain information from Wells BaBfpareowner Services, our registrar and trangfmtawho also manages our Dividend
Reinvestment Plan by writing to: Wells Fargo Shanmeer Services, PO Box 64874, St. Paul, MN 5-0874, by telephone at (800) +9716 or vis



the Internet at www.shareowneronline.cpolick on “contact us”.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: February 23, 2011
OLIN CORPORATION

By /s/ JOSEPH D. RUPP

Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on the iddicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/  JOSEPH D. RUPP Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officed Birector (Principal February 23, 2011
Executive Officer)
Joseph D. Rup

/sl  GRAY G. BENOIST Director February 23, 2011

Gray G. Benois

/s/  DONALD W. BOGUS Director February 23, 201

Donald W. Bogu

/s/ C.ROBERT BUNCH Director February 23, 2011

C. Robert Buncl

/s/ RANDALL W. LARRIMORE Director February 23, 201

Randall W. Larrimore¢

/s/  JOHN M. B. O'CONNOR Director February 23, 2011

John M. B. C Connor

/s/  RICHARD M. ROMPALA Director February 23, 201

Richard M. Rompal;

/s/ PHILIP J. SCHULZ Director February 23, 2011
Philip J. Schul:
/s/  VINCENT J. SMITH Director February 23, 201

Vincent J. Smitt

/sl JOHN E. FISCHER Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi@ferincipal Financial Officer) February 23, 2011

John E. Fische

/s/ TODD A. SLATER Vice President, Finance and Controller (Principatdunting Officer February 23, 201

Todd A. Slatel
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing

The Partners
SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

We have audited the accompanying balance she&sniBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership as of December@110 and 2009, and the related staten
of income, partnerstapital and cash flows for each of the three y@#athe period ended December 31, 2010. These fiabstatements are t
responsibility of the Partnership’s management. @sponsibility is to express an opinion on thésaricial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf8lo(United States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material misstatemen
were not engaged to perform an audit of the Pastmgs internal control over financial reporting. Accorgly, we express no such opinion. An a
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgche amounts and disclosures in the finarstialements. An audit also includes assessir
accounting principles used and significant estismiatede by management, as well as evaluating thealb¥imancial statement presentation.
believe that our audits provide a reasonable Wasisur opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respeckt® financial position of SunBelt Chlor Alk
Partnership at December 31, 2010 and 2009, andethdts of its operations and its cash flows focheaf the three years in the period er
December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. gengralicepted accounting principles.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
February 18, 2011




Assets

Current assett
Cash
Receivable from OxyVinyls, LI
Receivables from partne
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipment, |
Deferred financing costs, net
Total assets

Liabilities and partners' capital
Current liabilities:
Amounts payable to partne
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Partners' capital
Total liabilities and partners' capi

See accompanying notes

SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

Balance Sheets

S-2

December 3:
2010 2009
1,00C $ 1,77z
4,902,241 5,867,95
12,427,47. 6,852,16!
2,741,21. 2,195,22
1,109,38. 1,214,62
21,181,31 16,131,74
78,103,229 93,476,24
561,03! 641,18:
99,845,64 $ 110,249,17
9,12462. $ 9,226,13
12,187,50 12,187,50
21,312,12 21,413,63
73,125,00 85,312,50
5,408,52: 3,523,04!
99,845,64 $ 110,249,17




Revenue!

Operating costs and expens
Cost of sale:
Depreciatior
Loss on disposal of assk
Administrative and general expen:

Operating incom:

Other income

Interest expense, n
Income before taxe
State income tax expen
Net income

See accompanying notes

SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

Income Statements

Year Ended December &

2010 2009

2008

$ 157,281,09 $ 167,442,32 $ 173,019,09

78,349,65 71,292,94 70,475,46
16,118,32 16,186,74 15,083,08
115,81¢ 397,16t 2,125,11
11,544,67 11,906,08 11,663,99
106,128,46 99,782,94 99,347,66
51,152,62 67,659,37 73,671,43
2,500,001 — 372,63
(7,112,90) (7,966,21) (8,517,09)
46,539,72 59,693,15 65,526,97
(387,47) (315,00() (435,00()

$ 46,15225 $ 59,378,15 $ 65,091,97.
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Balance at December 31, 2C
Cash distributions to partne
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C
Cash distributions to partne
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C
Cash distributions to partne
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2C

See accompanying notes

SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

Statements of Changes in Partners’ Capital

Partners
Olin SunBelt 1997 Venture

Inc. Inc. Total
$ 3,341,54; $ 3,341,54; $ 6,683,08!
(29,404,79) (29,404,79) (58,809,58)
32,545,98 32,545,98 65,091,97.
6,482,73! 6,482,73! 12,965,47
(34,410,29) (34,410,29) (68,820,58)
29,689,07 29,689,07 59,378,15
1,761,52 1,761,52 3,523,04!
(22,133,38) (22,133,38) (44,266,77)
23,076,12 23,076,12 46,152,25
$ 2,704,26. $ 2,70426. $ 5,408,52:
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Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢
provided by operating activitie
Depreciatior
Amortization
Loss on disposal of asst
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Receivables from Oxy Vinyl
Receivables from partne
Inventories
Amounts payable to partne
Prepaid expenses and other

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipn
Purchases of marketable securi

Proceeds from maturity of marketable securi

Net cash used by investing activit

Financing activities
Cash distributions to partne
Principal payments on long-term debt

Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in ci

Cash at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

See accompanying notes

SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership

Statements of Cash Flows

S-5

Year Ended December &

2010 2009 2008
$ 46,152,25 $ 59,378,15 $ 65,091,97
16,118,32 16,186,74 15,083,08
80,14¢ 80,14¢ 80,14¢
113,59( 397,16t 2,125,11
965,71° (3,725,72) 3,884,54.
(5,575,30)) 10,499,45 1,455,51"
(545,98 (390,62) 9,047
(101,50¢) 1,759,30. (1,370,17)
90,37: (84,01 2,691
57,297,60. 84,100,59 86,361,95
(858,96 (3,103,97)  (15,352,63)
(15,715,13) _ _
15,730,00 — —
(844,09 (3,103,97) ~ (15,352,63)
(44,266,77)  (68,820,58)  (58,809,58)
(12,187,50)  (12,187,50)  (12,187,50)
(56,454,27) _ (81,008,08) _ (70,997,08)
(772) (11,45¢) 12,23(
1,772 13,23( 1,00(
$ 1,000 $ 1.77: $ 13,23(




SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2010 and 2009
1. Organization
SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership (the Partnershiggs formed on August 23, 1996, under a Partner8gigement, between 1997 Chlor All
Venture, Inc. and Olin SunBelt Inc. (the Partnet®97 Chlor Alkali Venture, Inc. is a wholly ownedbsidiary of PolyOne Corporation (forme
The Geon Company) and Olin SunBelt Inc. is a whollyned subsidiary of the Olin Corporation. Eachthed Partners has a 50% interest in
Partnership. The Partnership Agreement providesthigacapital investment of the Partners will beintened and the Partnershépincome or los

will be allocated to the Partners based on themarghip interest percentages.

The Partnership was formed for the purpose of coason and operation of a Chlddkali facility. The facility, which is located ifMcIntosh
Alabama produces chlorine, caustic soda and hydroge

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalent:

The Partnership considers all highly liquid investits purchased with an original maturity of threenths or less to be cash equivalents. There
no cash equivalents held by the Partnership asoéiber 31, 2010 and 2009.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities are composed of availableséde securities and are reported at fair valueingu010, the Partnership purchased e
Treasury bond for $15,715,135. Proceeds in the atrafub15,730,000 were received upon maturity, Itewpin a realized gain of $14,865.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or reairkost is determined by the first-in, first-oBtKO) method.
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued
Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are carried at d&dajor renewals and betterments are capitalizednMaance and repair expenditures which dt

improve or extend the life of the respective asaetsexpensed as incurred. Depreciation for alitphad equipment is computed using the straight:
line method over their estimated useful lives. Tdreges of estimated useful lives are as follows:

Land improvement 20 years
Buildings 20 years
Machinery and equipme 5-20 years

Long-ived assets are assessed for impairment whentomgemofits for the related business or a sigaifitchange in the use of an asset indicatt
their carrying value may not be recoverable.

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs incurred by the Partnership in obtainindpitg-term debt are deferred and amortized oveteire of the debt.

Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash, accounts receivableageounts payable approximate fair values duddcshortterm maturities of these instrume
The fair value of our longerm debt was estimated based on current markes fat debt of similar risk and maturities. At Detdzer 31, 2010 ar
2009, the estimated fair value of debt was appratéiy $88,000,000 and $97,300,000, which comparedebt recorded on the balance she
$85,312,500 and $97,500,000 at December 31, 201 Q@00, respectively.

Revenue Recognitior

The Partnership recognizes revenues upon passaitje @fich is based on shipping terms.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs are reflected in cokssles.




SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

Notes to Financial Statements (continu

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued
Income Taxes

No provision is made for income taxes other thanThxas state gross margin tax as the Partn’s results of operations are includable in the
returns of the Partners. The Partnership paid tak§824,472 in 2010, $317,193 in 2009 and $435{0GD08.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhi@ United States requires management to
estimates and assumptions that affect the amoaptgted in the financial statements and the accayipg notes. Actual results could differ fr
those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

Since the Partnershipmajor products are commodities, significant cleang the prices of chemical products could hasggaificant impact on tt
results of operations for any particular periode Partnership had one major chlorine customer, ¥ LP, during the periods presented, wl
accounted for 47%, 38%, and 31% of total revenaethk years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and &&}gctively.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiebhform with current year presentations.

3. Inventories

Inventories are comprised as follows:

December 3:
2010 2009
Finished good $ 1,74494. $ 1,230,16:
Production parts 996,27( 965,06¢

$ 274121 $ 2,19522
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

Notes to Financial Statements (continu

4. Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment, net are comprisddliasvs:

December 3:
2010 2009

Land and land improvemer $ 4,862,820 $ 4,862,82
Building 4,084,25. 4,084,25.
Machinery and equipme 239,638,51 239,096,06
Constructio-in-process 755,20¢ 843,47
249,340,80 248,886,622

Less allowance for depreciation 171,237,50 155,410,37
$ 78,10329 $ 93,476,24

5. Transactions With Affiliates

The Partnership has various management serviceragrés, dated August 23, 1996, with the Olin Capon. These agreements, which incl
compensation for managing the facility, an assération fee, a fleet fee and a distribution feaye terms from five to ten years with five yedceg
adjustment renewals. Charges for these services $&060,571, $8,412,847, and $8,150,580 for 2PA09 and 2008, respectively, and are incli

in administrative and general expenses in the ircstatements.

The Partnershig cash policy prohibits distributions to the Parsnentil the cash balance is sufficient to covethitbe debt principal payments :
interest expense for the year. The Partnership rdistigbutions to the Partners totaling $44,266, %@8,820,582 and $58,809,586 in 2010, 200¢

2008, respectively.

In accordance with the Partnership Operating Agegthe majority of chlorine produced by the Parship is sold to OxyVinyls LP. The remain

chlorine and all of the caustic soda produced kyRhrtnership is marketed and distributed by ttie Cbrporation.




SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

Notes to Financial Statements (continu

6. Long-Term Debt

On December 23, 1997, the Partnership borrowed, 00900 in a private placement of debt. The deletured by the property, plant, equipr
and inventory of the Partnership. The term of tamnlis 20 years at an interest rate of 7.23%. ¥heprincipal payment of $12,187,500 was pai
December 22, 2002, with equal annual payments Humigh December 22, 2017. Interest is payable semitally in arrears on June 22
December 22. Interest payments totaled $7,049%6030,406, and $8,811,563 in 2010, 2009 and 2@3®ectively. The debt is guaranteed by
Partners.

7. Leases

The Partnership has operating leases for certaipepty, machinery and equipment. At December 3102€uture minimum lease payments ur
noncancelable operating leases are as follows:

2011 $ 2,107,820
2012 2,107,82I
2013 2,107,82I
2014 1,840,45.
2015 1,600,46:
Thereaftel 124 ,47¢
Total minimum future lease payments $ 9,888,87:

Rent expense was $2,060,414, $1,879,007 and $&88248)r the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@08), respectively.
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SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnershi

Notes to Financial Statements (continu

8. Commitments and Contingencie:

The Partnership is subject to legal proceedingsdaichs that arise in the ordinary course of itsibess. Management evaluates each clain
provides for any potential loss when the loss @bpble and reasonably estimable. In the opiniomarfiagement, the ultimate liability with respec
these actions will not materially affect the finad@ondition, results of operations, or cash flafshe Partnership.

Hurricane Ike caused a business interruption reltdethe Partnership’operations from September 17, 2008 to Octob@0Q@8. The Partnerst
maintains business interruption insurance to gdhrtiaitigate any losses incurred. The Partnerskigpgnizes insurance recoveries in the period
are realized. In June 2010, the Partnership redeb2:500,000 in business interruption proceeddingldo Hurricane Ike, which was recordec
other income on the income statement for the yede@ December 31, 2010.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Management contracts and compensatory plans aagaments are listed as Exhibits 10(a) throughc)@elow.

Olin’s Restated Articles of Incorporation as amendeetgffe May 8, 199—Exhibit 3(a) to Olirs Form 1+Q for the quarter ended Ju
30, 2003.*

By-laws of Olin as amended effective December 9, —Exhibit 3.1 to Olirs Form K dated December 10, 201(

Form of Senior Debt Indenture between Olin and GbahBanl—Exhibit 4(a) to Form -K dated June 15, 1992; Supplemental Inder
dated as of March 18, 1994 between Olin and ChérBimak—EXxhibit 4(c) to Registration Statement N8-532771 and Second
Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 111, B8veen Olin and JPMorgan Chase Bank, formenbknas Chemical Bank—
Exhibit 4 to Form -K dated December 20, 2001

9.125% Senior Note Due 2C—EXxhibit 4(f) to Olir's Form 1+-K for 2001.*

Indenture between Olin and JPMorgan Chase Bank, dafed as of June 26, 2(—Exhibit 4.1 to Olir's Form &K dated June 2¢
2006.*

Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility for Trugteinder Indenture between Olin and JPMorgan Chae&,B\.A. dated as of June 26, 2006—
Exhibit 25.1 to Olirs Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement No-138283 filed on January 9, 200°

6.75% Senior Note Due 20—Exhibit 4.1 to Olirs Form K dated July 28, 2006.

First Supplemental Indenture between Olid 8RMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. dated July 28, 2006-bdh 2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated
July 28, 2006.

Registration Rights Agreement among Olin, Banc wfetica Securities LLC, Citigroup Global Markets.laod Wachovia Capiti
Markets, LLC dated July 28, 20—Exhibit 4.3 to Olir's Form K dated July 28, 2006.

Indenture dated as of August 19, 2009, between @dirporation and The Bank of New York Mellon Tr@zimpan—Exhibit 4.1 to
Olin’s Form K dated August 19, 2009

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of ysid 9, 2009, between Olin Corporation and The B#ri¥ew York Mellon Trust
Compan—Exhibit 4.2 to Olir's Form {-K dated August 19, 2009

Form of 8.875% Senior Note due 2—Exhibit 4.3 to Olir's Form &K dated August 19, 2009

Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility for Trugteinder Indenture dated as of August 19, 2009 leetv@din and The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company—Exhibit 25.1 to Olin’s Postfiédtive Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3 Registratioat&nent filed on August 13,
2009.*

Trust Indenture effective October 1, 2010 betweka Mdustrial Development Authority of Washingtoaubty and U. S. Bank, Nation
Association, as trust—Exhibit 4.1 to Olirs Form &K dated October 20, 2010

(m) Loan Agreement effective October 1, 2010 betwees [hdustrial Development Authority of Washingtonudty and Olin Corporatic—

(n)
(0)
)
(@
(r

(s)

(t)
(u)
v)

10(a)

(b)

Exhibit 4.2 to Olirs Form K dated October 20, 2010

Bond Purchase Agreement dated October 14) Bétween The Industrial Development Authorityddshington County, Olin
Corporation and PNC Bank National Association, @miaistrative age—Exhibit 4.3 to Olir's Form {-K dated October 20, 2010
Trust Indenture effective December 1, 20&veen the Mississippi Business Finance CorporaiwhU. S. Bank, National Association,
as truste—Exhibit 4.1 to Olir's Form K dated December 10, 201(

Loan Agreement effective December 1, 2010 betwkemMississippi Business Finance Corporation and Obrporatio—Exhibit 4.2 to
Olin’s Form K dated December 10, 201(

Bond Purchase Agreement dated Decemberl®, Bétween the Mississippi Business Finance CotiporeOlin Corporation and PNC
Bank National Association, as administrative a—Exhibit 4.3 to Olirs Form K dated December 10, 201(

Amended and Restated Credit and Funding é&mgent dated December 9, 2010 between Olin Corporais borrower; PNC Bank
National Association, as administrative agent; Rb&pital Markets, LLC, as lead arranger; and thedees party there—Exhibit 4.4 to
Olin’s Form K dated December 10, 201(

First Amendment dated December 27, 2018ecAimended and Restated Credit and Funding Agreiedagéad December 9, 2010
between Olin Corporation, as borrower; PNC Bankidwall Association, as administrative agent; PNCiaaMarkets, LLC, as lead
arranger; and the Lenders party the—Exhibit 4.4 to Olirs Form K dated December 29, 201(

Trust Indenture effective December 27, 2B&@veen the Industrial Development Board of ther@pof Bradley and the City of
Cleveland, TN and U. S. Bank, National Associat@asmtruste—Exhibit 4.1 to Olir's Form &K dated December 29, 201(

Loan Agreement effective December 27, 2010 betweenndustrial Development Board of the County odidiey and the City ¢
Cleveland, Tennessee and Olin Corpore—Exhibit 4.2 to Olir's Form K dated December 29, 201(

Bond Purchase Agreement dated December®n Between the Industrial Development Board ofGbanty of Bradley and the City of
Cleveland, Tennessee, Olin Corporation and PNC B&tlonal Association, as administrative agent—Bithl.3 to Olin’s Form 8-K
dated December 29, 201(

We are party to a number of other instruments dejithe rights of holders of long-term debt. Nolsirtstrument authorizes an amount
of securities in excess of 10% of the total assE@lin and its subsidiaries on a consolidated$a3lin agrees to furnish a copy of each
instrument to the Commission upon request.

Employee Deferral Plan as amended and restffiective as of January 30, 2003 and as amendedtigt January 1, 2005—Exhibit 10
(b) to Olir's Form 1K for 2002 and Exhibit 10(b)(1) to OFs Form 1K for 2005, respectively.

Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan amendebrastated effective October 24, 2008—Exhibit 16.0lin’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 200:
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Olin Supplemental Contributing Employee OwnershgnRs amended and restated effective October@®8 @nd as amend:
effective February 19, 2009—Exhibit 10.3 to Oliffsrm 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2688 xhibit 10.1 to Olin’s
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, respegti/

Olin Corporation Key Executive Life Insurance Prag—Exhibit 10(e) to Oli’'s Form 1-K for 2002.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin and ceeaécutive officel-Exhibit 99.1 to Olirs Form K dated January 26, 200%
Form of executive change-in-control agreenteitveen Olin and certain executive officers-Exh@§it2 to Olin’s Form 8-K dated
January 26, 2005.

Form of amendment to executive agreement betweerna@tl Messrs. Curley, Fischer and Hammett datedeMber 9, 20C—Exhibit
10(g) to Olir's Form 1-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive che-in-control agreement between Olin and Messrs. CuRsgher and Hammett dated Novem
9, 2000—Exhibit 10(h) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive agreement betw@lin and G. Bruce Greer, Jr. dated Novembef972-Exhibit 10(i) to Olin’s
Form 1(-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive che-in-control agreement between Olin and G. Bruce Gkedated November 9, 2(—Exhibit
10(j) to Olir's Form 1+K for 2007.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin and MeBargp, McIntosh and Pain dated November 1, -Exhibit 10.1 to Olirs Form
1C-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Form of executive change-in-control agreentgitveen Olin and Messrs. Rupp, Mcintosh and Paedddovember 1, 2007-Exhibit
10.2 to Olirs Form 1+-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Form of amendment dated October 25, 2010 to exexatreements with Messrs. Curley, Fischer, Giémmmett, Mcintosh, Pain ai
Rupp.

Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for-Employee Directors as amended and restated eféegfvil 22, 201—Appendix A to
Olin’s Proxy Statement dated March 10, 20:

Amended and Restated Olin Senior Managemeenhive Compensation Plan, as amended and restiigetive April 22, 2010—
Appendix B to Olir's Proxy Statement dated March 10, 20:

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awards granteder the 2000, 2003, 2006 or 2009 Long Term ltieefPlan—Exhibit 10(p) to
Olin’s Form 1-K for 2008.*

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olirr@wation and Subsidiaries as amended as of JaB0aB00—Exhibit 10(1) to
Olin’s Form 1K for 2002.*

Olin Supplementary and Deferral Benefit Pendtdan as amended and restated effective Octoh@0B8—Exhibit 10.2 to Olin’s
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan aeaded and restated effective October 22, —Exhibit 10.6 to Olirs Form 1~
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2003 Long Term Incentive PEsiamended and restated effective October 22 2838ibit 10.7 to Olin’s Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2006 Long Term Incentive Pe&mamended and restated effective October 22, 2888ibit 10.8 to Olin’s Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2009 Long Term Incentive F-Appendix A to Olir's Proxy Statement dated March 11, 20(

Performance Share Program codified to reflect ammemds through December 31, 20

Chase Industries Inc. 1997 Non-Employee Doe8tock Option Plan, as amended May 26, 1998 astl Amendment effective as of
November 19, 19¢—Exhibit 10.6 to Chase Industries Inc. Form 10-K1898 and Exhibit 10.9 to Chase Industries InenFd0K for
1999, respective—SEC file No. -13394.*

Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Award Certifice—Exhibit 10(bb) to Olir's Form 1-K for 2007.*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Certific—Exhibit 10(cc) to Form 1-K for 2007.*
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Form of Performance Award and Senior PerformancarvCertificate—Exhibit 10(dd) to Oli’'s Form 1-K for 2007.*
Summary of Stock Option Continuation Po—Exhibit 10.2 to Olir s Form 1+-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 200

Olin Corporation Contributing Employee OwrigépsPlan Amended and Restated effective as of Dbee®il, 2009—Exhibit 10
(dd) to Olir's Form 1K for 2009.*

Distribution Agreement between Olin Corporation @&rdh Chemicals, Inc., dated as of February 1, —Exhibit 2.1 to Olir's
Form &K filed February 23, 1999.

Partnership Agreement between Olin SunBwit,and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dated Aud@Bt1996—Exhibit 99.1 to
Olin’s Form &K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OliB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. daf@ecember 23, 19—
Exhibit 99.2 to Olir's Form &K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. da@ecember 23, 19—
Exhibit 99.3 to Olirs Form K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement betweém &inBelt, Inc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Idated April 30, 1998—EXxhibit
99.4 to Olir s Form &K dated December 3, 2001

Amendment to Partnership Agreement between OlirB8lininc. and 1997 Chloralkali Venture Inc. dafeshuary 1, 20(—
Exhibit 10(aa) to Oli’s Form 1K for 2002.*

Note Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 19@2&ethe SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership and thecRasers name
thereir—Exhibit 99.5 to Olirs Form {-K dated December 3, 2001

Guarantee Agreement dated December 22, 188velen Olin and the Purchasers named therein—Ex3916 to Olin’s Form 8-K
dated December 3, 2001

Subordination Agreement dated December 22, 199vdaet Olin and the Subordinated Parties named t—Exhibit 99.7 tc
Olin’s Form &K dated December 3, 2001

(mm)Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of May 20728mong Olin Corporation, Princeton Merger Caspd Pionee

(nn)

(00)

Companies, In-Exhibit 2.1 to Olir's Form K dated May 21, 2007.

Purchase Agreement dated as of October I&,, 20nong Global Brass and Copper Acquisition @d.@lin Corporation-Exhibit
2.1 to Olir's Form K dated October 15, 2007

Credit Agreement dated as of October 29, 2007 animgand the banks named the—Exhibit 10.1 to Olir's Form {-K dated
October 29, 2007.

Computation of Per Share Earnings (included inNbee—"Earnings Per She” to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemen
Item 8.)

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges(dited)

List of Subsidiaries

Consent of KPMG LLP

Consent of Ernst & Young LLF

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief ExeaiOfficer.

Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Finah©fficer.

Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief Exaa@iOfficer and Chief Financial Office

XBRL Instance Documer®

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum()

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr(1)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh®)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum(®)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent()

*Previously filed as indicated and incorporateddireby reference. Exhibits incorporated by refeeeare located in SEC file No. 1-1070
unless otherwise indicated.

(MPursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Intiva Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deenwdiled or part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectiors 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendezldaemed not filed for purposes of Section 1
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amemaiedotherwise are not subject to liability untferse sections.






Exhibit 10.1

AMENDMENT NUMBER [ONE] [TWOQ] (the “ Amendment), dated as of October 25, 2010, between OLIN
CORPORATION, a Virginia corporation (* Qlif), and [ ] (the " ExecutiVk to the Executive Agreement
(the “ Executive Agreemefi}, dated as of ], between Olin andERecutive.

WHEREAS on October 16, 2008, and on August 19, 20@9Compensation Committee of Olin determine&doordance with
Section 3 of the Executive Agreement, to extendéhm of the Executive Agreement for an additioyesr, from January 26, 2011 to January 26,
2012, and from January 26, 2012 to January 26,,2@%pectively, with changes to apply during theerded term to the method of calculating
severance thereunder in order to address guidamicetiie Internal Revenue Service (the “ IR$hat relates to Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Cpdad

WHEREAS the extension of the Executive Agreement@mplates amendment of the Executive Agreemeat fiJanuary 26,
2011, to address guidance from the IRS that retat&gction 162(m) of the Code.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agnents, provisions and covenants contained hexethintending to be
legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agreelbsifs:

SECTION 1. _Amendment to Section 1(c)(ii)(BBection 1(c)(ii)(B) shall be deemed to have bdelrted and the following
section shall be deemed to have been inserted pidte:

“(B) Executive’s then current ICP standard in retpe the year in which the date of Terminationwsc(the “ Current ICP
Standard), provided that if (x) Executive was reasonaliypected by Olin to be a “covered employee” (wittiie meaning of Section 162
(m) of the Code) for the taxable year of Olin inigththe date of Termination occurs, (y) the ICRdtad that Executive would have been
eligible to receive for such year was originallyeinded by Olin to satisfy the performance-basee@gti@n under Section 162(m) of the Code
(without regard to any entitlement to payment umination of employment) and (z) as of the ddt€eymination, Executive had been
employed by Olin for a period of time sufficienthiave an ICP standard for the fiscal year precetiiadiscal year in which the date of
Termination occurs (the conditions in the foregoiteyises (x), (y) and (z) are hereinafter refetoecbllectively as the “ 162(m) Conditions
"), the reference above to Executive’s Current E&ndard shall be replaced by a reference to thdupt of (1) Executive’s annual base
salary as of the date of Termination and (2) atiivacthe numerator of which is Executive’s ICPnstard for the fiscal year immediately
preceding the fiscal year in which the date of Tiaation occurs and the denominator of which is Exige’s annual base salary for such
year (such product, tt* Adjusted Prior Year ICP Standafj




SECTION 2.  _Amendment to Section 5(akection 5(a) is hereby amended by adding theviitig sentence immediately after
the penultimate sentence of such section:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that 162(m) Conditions exist, the formula for calcingtthe prorated ICP award {
the calendar year of Termination set forth in thenediately preceding sentence shall be replacedrbiference to Executive’'s Adjusted Prior Year
ICP Standard, which shall be subject to the sammestand conditions regarding proration and timihgayment as set forth in the immediately
preceding sentence.”

SECTION 3. Governing Law; Constructiorlhis Amendment shall be deemed to be made i€tmmonwealth of Virginia,
and the validity, interpretation, construction greafformance of this Amendment in all respects shaljoverned by the laws of the Commonwealth
of Virginia without regard to its principles of citints of law. No provision of this Amendment amarelated document shall be construed against or
interpreted to the disadvantage of any party hdygtany court or other governmental or judicialrewity by reason of such party’s having or being
deemed to have structured or drafted such provision

SECTION 4. Effect of AmendmentExcept as expressly set forth herein, this Amesrdrshall not by implication or
otherwise limit, impair, constitute a waiver of,@herwise affect the rights and remedies of théigmto the Executive Agreement, and shall not
alter, modify, amend or in any way affect any & tarms, conditions, obligations, covenants oregents contained in the Executive Agreemen
of which shall continue in full force and effecthis Amendment shall apply and be effective onfafidwing January 26, 2011 only with respect to
the provisions of the Executive Agreement spedifia&ferred to herein. On and after January 28,12 any reference to the Executive Agreement
shall mean the Executive Agreement as modifiedtyer&or the avoidance of doubt, the parties’ sgintd obligations under the Executive
Agreement will continue in effect until January 2611, without regard to any of the changes sé fiarthis Amendment.

SECTION 5. CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed in one or morateoparts (including via facsimile), each of
which shall be deemed to be an original, but alvbich together shall constitute one and the sarsiliment and shall become effective when one or
more counterparts have been signed by each ofatttiep and delivered to the other party.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been exechyethe parties as of the date first written above




OLIN CORPORATION,
by

Name:
Title:

EXECUTIVE,

[Name]



Exhibit 10.2
PERFORMANCE SHARE PROGRAM

Codified to reflect amendments

through December 31, 2010
Terms and Conditions
The terms and conditions of the Performance Sharards granted under this Program are containdtkifPerformance Share

Certificate evidencing such Award, this Program drelLTIP.

Definitions

“Common Stoc” means the common stock of Olin, par value $1.0Gpare
“Final Share Numb” has the meaning specified in Section 3 of this Rnog

“LTIP” means the Olin Corporation benefit plamder which the relevant Performance Share Awagdaated, including the 2003 Long
Term Incentive Plan, the 2006 Long Term IncentilanPthe 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan and any esger or similar plar

“Olin” means Olin Corporation.

“Performance Cyc” means, with respect to a Performance Share Awardriad of three calendar years, beginning withcdlendar yea
in which such Performance Share Award is grar

“Performance Share Aw¢” shall mean grants ¢Performance Shar’ and“ Senior Performance Shar”
“Performance Share” and “Senior Performance &haean a unit granted under the LTIP and this Rmog maintained on the books of the
Company during the Performance Cycle, denominatezha phantom share of Common Stock, and paidsim@aCommon Stock in
accordance with this Progra

“Program” means this Performance Share Program.
“S&P ROC” shall mean the average annual retaroapital (calculated in the same manner as ORe'sirn on Capital) of a group

composed of the materials companies included irfsthadard & Poor 1000 Materials, plus Occidentaidkeum Corporation, Alliant
Techsystems, PPG Industries, Inc., The Dow Cherfioatpany and Westlake Chemical Corpora, broken out by quintiles




Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in thisgPam shall have the meaning specified in the L’
3. Performance Share Awards
a. Awards of Senior Performance Shares (category Aguthis Program granted pursuant to the LTIP renied to b

“performance-based compensation” as that termdd us Section 162(m) of the Code. Each Perform&iaee Award shall
establish a target number of Performance Shar8emior Performance Shares awarded to the Partiaigemed in such Awart

b. The target number of Performance Shares for eaditiBant shall be adjusted based upon a compadé@iin’s average annu
Return on Capital during the Performance Cycle WithS&P ROC during the Performance Cycle, in ataoce with the followin
chart:
If Olin’s Return on Capital for éPerformance Cycle is in the The % of the target number (Performance Shares paid will bt
highest Quintile of the S&P RO 150%
2nd Quintile of the S&P RO 125%
3rd Quintile of the S&P RO 100%
4th Quintile of the S&P ROt 50%
lowest Quintile of the S&P RO 25%
C. The target number of Senior Performance Sharesachn Participant shall be adjusted based upon aarison of Oli’'s average

annual Return on Capital during the Performancdéwith the S&P ROC during the Performance Cyaieadcordance with the
following chart:

If Olin’s Return on Capital for a Performance Cycle is imet The % of the target number of Senior Performance Séares paid
will be:
A Shares B Shares
highest Quintile of the S&P RO 150% 150%
2nd Quintile of the S&P RO 125% 125%
3rd Quintile of the S&P RO! 100.0% 100%
4th Quintile of the S&P ROV 33.33% 100%
lowest Quintile of the S&P RO 0% 100%
d. As soon as practicable in the calendar f@mwing the end of the Performance Cycle, the @any shall calculate the appropriate

adjustment, if any, to the target number of Perforoe Shares and Senior Performance Shares (thed Stiare Number”) for all
Participants whose Performance Share Awards hated/euring or at the end of such Performance C

4, Vesting and Forfeiture

a. Except as otherwise provided by the CommitteeTi®, this Program or the Performance Share Awartificate, an interest in
Performance Share Award shall vest only if theiBigeint is an employee of the Company or a subsidia the last day of the
relevant Performance Cycl




b. If a Participar’'s employment with the Company or a subsidiary teates for cause or without the Compg’'s consent (other the
as the result of the Participant’s death, disabditretirement) before a Performance Share Awasested, his or her
Performance Share Award shall terminate and aiksignder such Award shall be forfeit:

C. If a Participant’s employment with the Compar a subsidiary terminates as the result obhiser disability, (as that term is
defined in Section 409A of the Code or any sucagssavision), or retirement under any of the Compametirement plans before
a Performance Share Award has vested, the Paritcipall be entitled to a pro rata Performance &Aavard, payable solely in
cash at the time that the Performance Share Awarddiotherwise be payable under Section 5. Thie pagment shall be equal to
the Final Share Number calculated in accordande 8&ictions 3 and 5 of this Program, multiplied iy Fair Market Value on the
last day of the relevant Performance Cycle, mudghby a fraction with a numerator equal to the hanof months during the
Performance Cycle the Participant was employedbyGompany or a subsidiary (rounded up to the seadgole month) and a
denominator of 3¢

d. If a Participar’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary teates as the result of his or her death beforefarffence
Share Award has vested, the Participant shall bideghto a pro rata Performance Share Award, pieysdlely in cash within nine
(90) days of the Participant’s death. The casy@at shall be equal to the Participant’s targetlmemof Performance Shares or
Senior Performance Shares, as the case may béplradlby the Fair Market Value on the date of Reticipant’s death (or the
next trading day, if the Common Stock was not tdadle such date), multiplied by a fraction with anarator equal to the number
of months during the Performance Cycle the Paditipvas employed by the Company or a subsidiagn@ted up to the nearest
whole month) and a denominator of .

e. If a Participar’s employment with the Company or a subsidiary teates for any other reason, the Company shall eterthe
portion, if any, of the Performance Share Award #hell not be forfeited, and the form of paymeatsh or shares or a
combination) that the Participant shall receivdafldetermination shall be made by the Committdébercase of any officer, and
the Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Exgeudfficer, or any Vice President, in the caserof aon-officer
employee. Notwithstanding this Section 4, paynséall be made pursuant to Sectiol

Payment Timing

a. As soon as is administratively practicable afterdietermination of the Final Share Number, butatet than the last day of tl
calendar year following the Performance Cycle,Gloenpany will (i) issue to each Participant a nunidfeshares of the Common
Stock equal to one-half of the Final Share Numimmded down to the nearest whole share if suchbeuis not a whole number,
and (ii) pay the Participant an amount equal taRhie Market Value of one-half of the Final Sharenhber of shares of Common
Stock on the last day of the Performance Cyclended up to the nearest whole share if such nunshestia whole numbe




b. No dividends or dividend equivalents shall be gaidany Performance Shares or Senior Performanae$s

Reserved

Miscellaneous

a. By acceptance of the Performance Share Award, lRaditipant agrees that such Award is special cosgdeon, and that ar
amount paid will not affec

i. the amount of any pension under any pension aemaént plan in which he or she participates amgpi@yee of Olin

i the amount of coverage under any priife insurance plan in which he or she particisads an employee of Olin, or

iil. the benefits under any other benefén of any kind heretofore or hereafter in effectder which the availability or
amount of benefits is related to compensation.

b. The Company will withhold from the distribution afiy cash pursuant to Performance Share Awardsribers necessary to sati:
the Participant’s federal, state and local withir@idax requirements. It is the Company’s intemtilbat all income tax liability on
Performance Share Awards be deferred in accordaiticghe applicable requirements of Code Sectiod@ntil the Participant
actually receives such shares or payment the

To the extent any provision of the Programany Performance Share Award) or action by thar8of Directors or Committee
would subject any Participant to liability for inést or additional taxes under Code Section 4094illibe deemed null and void,
to the extent permitted by law and deemed advidapthe Committee. It is intended that the Progfand any Performance
Share Award) will comply with Code Section 409Adahe Program (and any Performance Share Award)shanterpreted and
construed on a basis consistent with such int€he Program (and any Performance Share Award) reantended in any respect
deemed necessary (including retroactively) by tben@ittee in order to preserve compliance with C8detion 409A. The
preceding shall not be construed as a guarantaeyogbarticular tax effect for Program benefits erfermance Share

Awards. Except as specifically provided in the BTa Participant (or beneficiary) is solely resgolesand liable for the
satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that mairiosed on the Participant (or beneficiary) inreection with any distributions to
such Participant (or beneficiary) under the Prog¢eariuding any taxes and penalties under Codei®@ed09A), and neither Olin
nor any Affiliate shall have any obligation to imdeify or otherwise hold a Participant (or benefig)gharmless from any or all of
such taxes or penaltie






OLIN CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before ta

Add (deduct)
Equity in income of nc-consolidated affiliate
Dividends received from n-consolidated affiliate
Capitalized interes
Fixed charges as described below

Total

Fixed charges
Interest expensed and capitali:
Estimated interest factor in rent expefise

Total

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Exhibit 12

(In millions)
(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 3
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
76.¢ $ 209.¢ $ 257t % 150.7 $ 163.2
(29.9 (37.7) (39.9 (46.0 (45.9
2.C 3.5 0.2 — —
(0.9 (9.7 (5.0 (0.2 —
43 .4 36.4 33.7 33.4 28.7
91t $ 202.¢  $ 247.C $ 137¢ % 146.€
26.2 % 212 % 18z $ 225 % 20.c
17.1 15.1 15.4 11.1 8.4
434 % 364 $ 337 % 334 $ 28.7
2.1 5.6 7.3 4.1 5.1

1) Amounts represent those portions of eaqpense that are reasonable approximations ereisit costs.



Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF OLIN CORPORATION 1

(as of December 31, 2010)

Company % Ownership Jurisdiction
(Direct/Indirect)

Bridgeport Brass Corporatic? 100 IN

Hunt Trading Co 100 MO

Imperial West Chemical C8 100 NV

KNA California, Inc.4 100 DE

KWT, Inc.5 100 DE

LTC Reserve Corg 100 DE

Monarch Brass & Copper Cor 100 NY

Monarch Brass & Copper of New England Cé 100 RI

New Haven Copper Compa# 100 CT

Olin Benefits Management, In 100 CA

Olin Business Holding’ 100 DE

Olin Engineered Systems, Ir 100 DE

Olin Environmental Management, Ir8 100 DE

Olin Far East, Limitec 100 DE

Olin Financial Services Ini 100 DE

Olin Funding Company LL( 100 DE

Olin North American Holdings, In 100 DE

Olin Sunbelt, Inc 100 DE

Pioneer Americas LL® 100 DE

Pioneer Companies, LL 100 DE

Pioneer (East), In@ 100 DE

Pioneer Licensing, In@ 100 DE

Pioneer Transportation LL10 100 DE

Pioneer Water Technologies, 113 100 DE

Ravenna Arsenal, In 100 OH

Sunbelt Chlor Alkali Partnersh 50 DE

Waterbury Rolling Mills, Inc6 100 CT

Winchester Ammunition, Inc 100 DE

Nutmeg Insurance Limite 100 Bermuda

PCI Chemicals Canada Company/Société PCI Chimieda3 100 Nova Scotia, Canac

Olin Canada Inc 100 Canade

Olin Hunt Specialty Products S.t 100 Italy

Olin (UK) Limited 100 United Kingdom

Reductone Brasil Ltd: 100 Brazil

Winchester Australia Limite1! 100 Australia

1 Omitted from the following list are the namesceftain subsidiaries which, if considered in thgragate as a single subsidiary, would
constitute a significant subsidia

2 d/b/a "Olin Brass, Indianapolis" and "Olin Brakglianapolis Facility" in CA, IL, IN, NJ, NC, OHRA, Rl and TX
3 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir s wholly-owned subsidiary, Pioneer Companies, L

4 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Imperial West Chemical C

5 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Pioneer Water Technologies,

6 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Monarch Brass & Copper Cc

7 This entity was formerly named A. J. Oster CBedaware partnership of which Olin Corporation ev@2.05% and OI’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Olin Engineered Systems, Inc. own$536 and Pioneer Americas LLC owns 1.8

8 In 2010 the Class B shares held by MACTEC wedeemed. This entity is now 100% owned by C



9 Indirect subsidiary, PCI Chemicals Canada Comjsthe sole member of Pioneer Americas L
10 Indirect subsidiary, Olin Business Holdings Isatd membership intere

11 Olin Australia Limited was renamed Winchestestalia Limited effective 12/5/20C



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Olin Corporation:

We consent to incorporation by reference in thei®egion Statements No. 333-156082 on Form S-3Nasl 333-05097, 333-18619, 339305
333-39303, 333-31098, 333-35818, 333-97759, 33388333-110135, 333-110136, 333-124483, 333-13333B:148918, 333-153183, 333-
158799, and 333-166288 on Forn8®f Olin Corporation of our report dated Februasy 2011 with respect to the consolidated balaheets c
Olin Corporation and subsidiaries as of Decembe2810 and 2009, and the related consolidatednséatts of operations, shareholdezguity, an
cash flows for each of the years in the thyear period ended December 31, 2010, and the i#eeiss of internal control over financial repogtix

of December 31, 2010, which report appears in theeimber 31, 2010 annual report on Form 10-K of Olinporation.

/sl KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 23, 2011



Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRegistration Statement No. 333-156082 on Forthd@-Olin Corporation; Registration Statenr
No. 33:-138238 on Form S-4 of Olin Corporation; and Regigin Statement Nos. 333-05097, 333-18619, 33%839333-39303, 333-31098, 333-
35818, 333-97759, 333-88990, 333-110135, 333-110338-124483, 333-133731, 333-148918, 333-153183;158799 and 33366288 on Fori
S-8 of Olin Corporation of our report dated FebruaBy 2011, with respect to the financial statemehSunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership includec
the Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Olin Corporatiar the year ended December 31, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
February 18, 2011



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph D. Rupp, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKOlin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or aongtate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeter which such statements were made, not misigaudth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegaks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iltednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those entities
particularly during the period in which this rep@rtbeing prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglowing, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratiSslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thethaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvel financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 23, 201 /sl Joseph D. Rug
Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, John E. Fischer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKOlin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or aongtate a material fact necessary to n
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeter which such statements were made, not misigaudth respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegaks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iltednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those entities
particularly during the period in which this rep@rtbeing prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglowing, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratiSslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thethaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohweer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvel financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 23, 201 /s/ John E. Fische
John E. Fische
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350SADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Olin Coration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the periatdled December 31, 2010 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Repdrtdoseph D. Rupp, Chairman, President and Chiettive Officer and I, John E. Fischer,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officethe Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $ecfi350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to our knogée (1) the Report fully complies with the requiknts of Section 13(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information cored in the Report fairly presents, in all materedpects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyl be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidgts Staff upon request.

/s/ Joseph D. Rug
Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Dated: February 23, 20:

[s/ John E. Fische
John E. Fische
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Dated: February 23, 20:



